

## REQUEST FOR TENDER

Chemical Room Acid Storage Retrofit
National Hydrology Research Centre
#11 Innovation Boulevard
Saskatoon (Saskatchewan)
S7N 3H5

Solicitation Number: KW405-13-0330R

Closing Date: September 19, 2013
Closing Time: 2 PM (Eastern Daylight Time)

**Direct All Enquiries to:** 

Contracting Authority:

Marie-Christine Blais
Procurement and Contracting Officer
Workplace Services and Contracting
Assets, Contracting and Environmental Mangement
Directorate

2021 Union, Suite 1240

Montreal QC H3A 2S9 Phone: 514-496-1929 Fax: 514-283-4439

E-mail: Marie-christine.blais@ec.gc.ca

**Submit Tenders to:** 

Environnement Canada 1240 – 2021, Union Montreal (Quebec)

H3A 2S9

#### IMPORTANT NOTE TO BIDDERS:

This bid solicitation cancels and supersedes previous bid solicitation number KW405-13-0330 with a closing of August 20, 2013 at 2pm.

- Proposals must be submitted by the date, time and address indicated above
- Bids submitted by fax or email WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED.
- All enquiries must be submitted in writing to the Contracting Authority no later than five (5) business days before the bid closing date. Enquiries received after that time may not be answered before the bid closing date.

Failure to comply with the requirements contained herein may lead to tender disqualification.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	ON 1 INSTRUCTIONS TO TENDERS R0001T (2004-12-10) AND R0002T (2000-05-12)	
IT01	TENDER DOCUMENTS	5
1)	The tender documents	5
2)	Tenderer Declaration	5
3)	Mandatory Requirements	
4)	Site Visit Information (MANDATORY)	
IT02	COMPLETION OF TENDER (MANDATORY)	6
IT03	SUBMISSION OF TENDER	6
IT04	REVISION OF TENDER	
IT05	SIGNING PROCEDURES	7
IT06	TENDER INQUIRIES	7
IT07	TENDER RESULTS	
IT08	EVALUATION AND ACCEPTANCE OF TENDER (MANDATORY)	
IT09	NEGOTIATIONS	
IT10	TENDER VALIDITY PERIOD	
IT11	LISTING OF SUBCONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS	9
IT12	COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS	9
IT13	TAXES	
IT14	APPROVAL OF ALTERNATIVE MATERIALS	
IT15	PERFORMANCE EVALUATION	10
IT16	LANGUAGE OF THE TENDER AND CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	
IT17	INSURANCE: REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTY	
IT18	TENDER SECURITY REQUIREMENTS	10
IT19	CONTRACT SECURITY REQUIREMENTS	
IT20	CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT AND RE-DEVELOPMENT CHARGES	11
IT21	BID DEPOSITORY	
IT22	CONTRACTOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION REPORT (CPER)	
IT23	DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS	12
	ON 2 PROJECT BRIEF	
3 SECTIO	ON 3 TENDER ACCEPTANCE FORM (TA)	15
3 SECTION	ON 3 TENDER ACCEPTANCE FORM (TA)	15
3 SECTION TA01 TA02	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITYBUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER	15 15
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITYBUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER	15 15 15
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER OFFER	15 15 15 15
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY	15 15 15 16
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY	15 15 15 16 16
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY	15 15 15 16 16 16
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY	151515161617
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY	151515161617
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER  ADDENDA (MANDATORY)	15151516161717
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER  ADDENDA (MANDATORY).  APPENDICES.  ACCEPTANCE AND CONTRACT  CONSTRUCTION TIME  UNIT PRICE TABLE  TENDER SECURITY  CONTRACT SECURITY  EXECUTION OF PROPOSAL	15151616171717
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appe	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER  ADDENDA (MANDATORY).  APPENDICES  ACCEPTANCE AND CONTRACT  CONSTRUCTION TIME  UNIT PRICE TABLE  TENDER SECURITY  CONTRACT SECURITY  EXECUTION OF PROPOSAL  endix 1 Completed Projects	15151616171717
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix A	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER  ADDENDA (MANDATORY)  APPENDICES.  ACCEPTANCE AND CONTRACT  CONSTRUCTION TIME  UNIT PRICE TABLE  TENDER SECURITY  CONTRACT SECURITY  EXECUTION OF PROPOSAL  endix 1 Completed Projects.  endix 2 Listing of Subcontractors and Suppliers	1515161617171717
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix A	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER	151516161717171717
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix A	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER  ADDENDA (MANDATORY)  APPENDICES.  ACCEPTANCE AND CONTRACT  CONSTRUCTION TIME  UNIT PRICE TABLE  TENDER SECURITY  CONTRACT SECURITY  EXECUTION OF PROPOSAL  endix 1 Completed Projects.  endix 2 Listing of Subcontractors and Suppliers	151516161717171717
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix A	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER	1515161617171717171720
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix A	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER.  ADDENDA (MANDATORY)  APPENDICES  ACCEPTANCE AND CONTRACT  CONSTRUCTION TIME  UNIT PRICE TABLE  TENDER SECURITY  CONTRACT SECURITY  EXECUTION OF PROPOSAL  endix 1 Completed Projects  endix 2 Listing of Subcontractors and Suppliers  endix 3 Breakdown of Major Item Prices  endix 4 UNIT PRICE TABLE (Not Applicable)  DN 4 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT "A" R0200C (2004-12-10)	1515161617171717182021
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix Affine Affine Appendix Affine Affine Appendix Affine Affine Appendix Affine Affine Affine Affine Appendix Affine	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER  ADDENDA (MANDATORY).  APPENDICES.  ACCEPTANCE AND CONTRACT  CONSTRUCTION TIME  UNIT PRICE TABLE.  TENDER SECURITY.  CONTRACT SECURITY  EXECUTION OF PROPOSAL  endix 1 Completed Projects.  endix 2 Listing of Subcontractors and Suppliers  endix 3 Breakdown of Major Item Prices  endix 4 UNIT PRICE TABLE (Not Applicable).  ON 4 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT "A" R0200C (2004-12-10).	1515161617171717182021
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix A	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER	151516161717171719202122
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix A	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER  ADDENDA (MANDATORY).  APPENDICES.  ACCEPTANCE AND CONTRACT  CONSTRUCTION TIME  UNIT PRICE TABLE.  TENDER SECURITY.  CONTRACT SECURITY  EXECUTION OF PROPOSAL  endix 1 Completed Projects.  endix 2 Listing of Subcontractors and Suppliers  endix 3 Breakdown of Major Item Prices  endix 4 UNIT PRICE TABLE (Not Applicable)  ON 4 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT "A" R0200C (2004-12-10).  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  APPROPRIATE LAW  COMPLETION AND DESCRIPTION OF WORK.	151516161717171719202121
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix A	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER OFFER	15151616171717181920212223
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendate A	DN 3 TENDER ACCEPTANCE FORM (TA)  PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY  BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER  OFFER	15151616171717181920212122
3 SECTION TA01 TA02 TA03 TA04 TA05 TA06 TA07 TA08 TA09 TA10 TA11 Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix Appendix Additional	PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY BUSINESS NAME AND ADDRESS OF TENDERER OFFER	151516161717171718202121222323

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	APPENDIX "A	" STATEMENT OF WORK (SOW) ERREUR! SIGNET NON DE	EFINI.
		CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – TERMS OF PAYMENT	
	<b>APPENDIX "B</b>	" TERMS OF PAYMENTS (TP)	29
7	<b>SECTION 7</b> (	CONTRACT DOCUMENTS GENERAL CONDITIONS (GC) R0202D (2004-05-14)	30
		" GENERAL CONDITION (GC)	
	<b>GC1 GENER</b>	AL PROVISIONS	30
	GC1.1	INTERPRETATION	30
	GC1.2	CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	32
	GC1.3	STATUS OF THE CONTRACTOR	33
	GC1.5	INDEMNIFICATION BY CONTRACTOR	34
	GC1.6	INDEMNIFICATION BY CANADA	34
	GC1.7	LAWS, PERMITS AND TAXES	34
	GC1.8	WORKERS' COMPENSATION	35
	GC1.9	NATIONAL SECURITY	35
	GC1.10	UNSUITABLE WORKERS	35
	GC1.11	PUBLIC CEREMONIES AND SIGNS	35
	GC1.12	CONFLICT OF INTEREST	
	GC1.13	MEMBERS OF HOUSE OF COMMONS NOT TO BENEFIT	36
	GC1.14	AGREEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS	36
	GC1.15	SUCCESSION	
	GC1.16	ASSIGNMENT	
	GC1.17	NO BRIBE	
	GC1.18	CERTIFICATION - CONTINGENCY FEES	
		STRATION OF THE CONTRACT	37
	GC2.1	DEPARTMENTAL REPRESENTATIVE'S AUTHORITY	37
	GC2.2	INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT	
	GC2.3	NOTICES	
	GC2.4	SITE MEETINGS	
	GC2.5	REVIEW AND INSPECTION OF WORK	
	GC2.6	SUPERINTENDENT	
	GC2.7	NON-DISCRIMINATION IN HIRING AND EMPLOYMENT OF LABOUR	
	GC2.8	ACCOUNTS AND AUDITS	
		TION AND CONTROL OF THE WORK	40
	GC3.1	PROGRESS SCHEDULE	
	GC3.2	ERRORS AND OMISSIONS	
	GC3.3	CONSTRUCTION SAFETY	
	GC3.4	EXECUTION OF THE WORK	
	GC3.5	MATERIAL	
	GC3.6	SUBCONTRACTING	
	GC3.7	CONSTRUCTION BY OTHER CONTRACTORS OR WORKERS	
	GC3.8	LABOUR AND FAIR WAGES	_
	GC3.9	MATERIAL, PLANT AND REAL PROPERTY BECOME PROPERTY OF CANADA	44
	GC3.10	DEFECTIVE WORK	
	GC3.11	CLEANUP OF SITE	_
	GC3.11	WARRANTY AND RECTIFICATION OF DEFECTS IN WORK	
		ECTIVE MEASURES	_
	GC4.1	PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY	
	GC4.1	PRECAUTIONS AGAINST DAMAGE, INFRINGEMENT OF RIGHTS, FIRE AND OTHER	70
		TRECACTIONS AGAINST DAMAGE, IN KINGEMENT OF KIGHTS, TIKE AND OTHER	46
	GC4.3	MATERIAL, PLANT AND REAL PROPERTY SUPPLIED BY CANADA	
	GC4.4	CONTAMINATED SITE CONDITIONS	
	GC5.1	INTERPRETATION	
IN		MS OF PAYMENT	
	GC5.2	AMOUNT PAYABLE	_48
	GC5.2 GC5.3	INCREASED OR DECREASED COSTS	<u>7</u> 0
	GC5.4	PROGRESS PAYMENT	
	GC5.4 GC5.5	SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK	
	<del></del>	OUDULANTIAL LEN CHIMAIUL VI THE WUNN	JU

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

GC5.6	FINAL COMPLETION	51
GC5.7	PAYMENT NOT BINDING ON CANADA	
GC5.8	CLAIMS AND OBLIGATIONS	51
GC5.10	ASSESSMENTS AND DAMAGES FOR LATE COMPLETION	
GC5.11	DELAY IN MAKING PAYMENT	
GC5.13	RETURN OF SECURITY DEPOSIT	54
GC6 DELAY	S AND CHANGES IN THE WORK	54
GC6.1	CHANGES IN THE WORK	
GC6.2	CHANGES IN SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS	54
GC6.3	HUMAN REMAINS, ARCHAEOLOGICAL REMAINS AND ITEMS OF HISTORICAL OR	
SCIENTIF	FIC INTEREST	55
GC6.4	DETERMINATION OF PRICE	56
GC6.5	DELAYS AND EXTENSION OF TIME	58
GC7 DEFA	ULT, SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION OF CONTRACT	59
GC7.1	TAKING THE WORK OUT OF THE CONTRACTOR'S HANDS	
GC7.2	SUSPENSION OF WORK	60
GC7.3	TERMINATION OF CONTRACT	
GC7.4	SECURITY DEPOSIT - FORFEITURE OR RETURN	
	ITE RESOLUTION	
GC8.1	INTERPRETATION	
GC8.2	CONSULTATION AND CO-OPERATION	
GC8.3	AUTHORITY OF DEPARTMENTAL REPRESENTATIVE	
GC8.4	NEGOTIATION	
GC8.5	MEDIATION	
GC8.7	DISPUTES NOT SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION	
GC8.8	CONFIDENTIALITY	
GC8.9	SETTLEMENT	
	RESOLUTION - SCHEDULE "A"	
	OR MEDIATION OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT DISPUTES	
	RESOLUTION - SCHEDULE B	
DIJI EQ E	OR ARBITRATION OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT DISPUTES	07
GC9.1	OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE CONTRACT SECURITY	
GC9.1	TYPES AND AMOUNTS OF CONTRACT SECURITY	
	RANCE	
GC10 INSC	INSURANCE	
GC10.1	PAYMENT OF DEDUCTIBLE	
GC10.3 GC10.4	PERIOD OF INSURANCE	
GC10.4 GC10.5	COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY	
GC10.5 GC10.6	BUILDER'S RISK - INSTALLATION FLOATER - ALL RISKS	
		_
GC10.7	INSURANCE PROCEEDS	//
	BOUR CONDITIONS - R0203D (2004-05-14)	
GC11.1	Interpretation	
GC11.2	General Fair Wage Clause	
GC11.3	Hours of Work	
GC11.4	Labour Conditions to be Posted	
	Contractor Records Kept Open for Inspection	
	epartmental Requirements before Payment made to Contractor	
	uthority to pay Wages in the Event of Default by the Contractor	
	onditions of Subcontracting	
	lon-discrimination in Hiring and Employment of Labour	
GC11.10	Schedule of Fair Wages	
	SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS	
	D" SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS	
	EMPLOYMENT EQUITY	
	WORK FORCE REDUCTION PROGRAM	
	NTELLECTUAL PROPERTY - CONTRACTOR OWNS IP	
SC4 I	NTERNATIONAL SANCTIONS	87
9 SECTION 9	LIST OF SPECIFICATIONS AND DRAWINGS	88

#### 1 SECTION 1 INSTRUCTIONS TO TENDERS R0001T (2004-12-10) and R0002T (2000-05-12)

#### **IT01 TENDER DOCUMENTS**

#### 1) The tender documents

are listed below:

- (a) Front Page REQUEST FOR TENDER;
- (b) Mandatory Site Visit Information
- (c) Instructions to Tenderers (IT);
- (d) Tender Acceptance Form and any Appendices attached thereto;
- (e) Contract Documents Articles of Agreement
- (f) Contract Documents General Conditions (GC) of the Contract
  - GC1 General Provisions
  - GC2 Administration of the Contract
  - GC3 Execution and Control of the Work
  - **GC4** Protective Measures
  - GC5 Terms of Payment
  - GC6 Delays and Changes in the Work
  - GC7 Default, Suspension or Termination of Contract
  - **GC8** Dispute Resolution
  - GC9 Contract Security
  - GC10 Insurance
  - GC11 Labour Conditions Fair Wages and Hours of Labour
- (g) Contract Documents Supplementary Conditions (SC) of the Contract
  - SC1 International Sanctions
  - SC2 Employment Equity
  - SC3 Work Force Reduction Program
  - SC4 Intellectual Property
- (h) Plans, Specifications and Drawings
- (i) Work-Site, Health and Safety Working Practices & Building Guidelines; and
- (j) Any addenda issued before the date set for tender closing.

### 2) Tenderer Declaration

The tender documents identified in paragraphs 1.(a) to 1.(j) inclusive by title, number and date are hereby incorporated by reference into the tender documents and form part of the tender and any resultant contract. Submission of a tender constitutes acknowledgment that the Tenderer has read and agreed to be bound by these documents and the other documents listed in subsection IT01 (1) above.

#### 3) Mandatory Requirements

Throughout Sections 1, 2 and 3 of this document, certain requirements are identified as mandatory. A mandatory requirement is a minimum standard that a submission must meet in order to be considered for further evaluation. Failure to meet any of the mandatory requirements will rend the submission liable for disqualification.

Mandatory requirements are marked "MANDATORY" and are identified in the following sections of this document:

- Section 1 Instructions to Tenderers
- Section 2 Project Brief, and
- Section 3 Tender and Acceptance Form.

### 4) Site Visit Information

All contractors intending to bid are invited to attend the site examination meeting. This will be the only opportunity to visit the site, examine the drawings and discuss projects details. All contractors attending the site visit will need

to present photo identification at the front desk. The site visit will be held at the following date and location, as stated below:

Interested bidders must attend site visit on: **September 12, 2013 at 10h30 am** (Saskatoon time)

Environment Canada, National Hydrology Research Centre #11 Innovation Boulevard, Saskatoon (SK) S7N 3H5

### IT02 COMPLETION OF TENDER (MANDATORY)

- 1) The tender shall be submitted based on the tender documents listed above, on the Tender Form provided through MERX or on a clear and legible reproduced copy of said Tender Form; the reproduced copy must be identical in every respect to the Tender Form provided through MERX, accompanied by the tender security required, all tender documents being dully completed in all respects and signed as instructed herein. Substitute and/or facsimile copies will not be accepted.
- 2) Any alteration to the pre-printed or pre-typed sections of the Tender Form may render the tender liable to disqualification. Alterations, corrections, changes or erasures entered on the Tender Form shall be initialed by the Tenderer or the person signing the tender. Alterations, corrections, changes or erasures that are not initialed shall be deemed void and without effect.

#### IT03 SUBMISSION OF TENDER

- The Tender, duly completed, shall be enclosed in a sealed envelope, and shall be addressed and delivered to the office indicated on the cover page of this document, on or before the date and time set for tender closing.
- 2) Prior to submitting the tender, the Tenderer shall ensure that the following information is clearly printed or typed in the appropriate spaces on the outermost face of the tender return envelope:
  - (a) Tender ID
  - (b) Project Description/Location
  - (c) Name of Tenderer; and
  - (d) Closing Time/Date

Failure to comply with the requirements outlined at 1) and 2) will result in tender disqualification.

- 3) Unacceptable Tenders
  - (a) Tender not submitted on the accompanying Tender and Acceptance Form will not be considered.
  - (b) Telegraphic and facsimile tenders will not be accepted.
  - (c) Tenders received after the Tender Closing Time will not be considered.
  - (d) Incomplete tenders may be rejected.
- 4) Timely and correct delivery of tenders to the "Tender Receiving Unit" as well as all the risks and consequences associated with an incorrect delivery are the sole responsibility of the Tenderer.
- 5) Bids received on or before the stipulated bid solicitation closing date and time will become the property of Canada and will not be returned. All bids will be treated as CONFIDENTIAL, subject to the provisions of the Access to Information and Privacy Act.
- 6) Bids received after the date of closing shall be returned unopened to the Tenderer

#### **IT04 REVISION OF TENDER**

1) A tender may be revised by letter or facsimile provided the revision is received on or before the closing

date and time of tenders. The facsimile number for receipt of revisions is indicated on the cover page of this document.

- 2) The letter or facsimile shall
  - (a) be on the Tenderer's letterhead or bear a signature that identifies the Tenderer;
  - (b) for the lump sum portion of a tender, clearly identify the amount of the current revision. The total aggregate sum of all revisions submitted, including the current revision, shall be shown separately; and
  - (c) for the Unit Price portion of a tender, clearly identify the change(s) in the price(s) per Unit and the specific item(s) to which each change applies.
- Any alteration to the preprinted or pre-typed sections of the Tender Form, or any condition or qualification placed upon the tender shall be direct cause for disqualification. Alterations, corrections, changes or erasures made to statements or figures entered on the Tender Form by the Tenderer shall be initialed by the person or persons signing the tender. Initials shall be original(s). Alterations, corrections, changes or erasures that are not initialed shall be deemed void and without effect.

#### IT05 SIGNING PROCEDURES

- 1) The signature(s) of the authorized signatory(ies) shall be affixed to the front page of the Invitation to Tender and the name(s) and the title(s) typed or printed in the space provided.
- 2) The tender shall be signed in accordance with the following requirements:
  - (a) Corporation The signatures of the authorized signatories shall be affixed and their names and titles typed or printed in the space provided and the corporate seal may be affixed. If the corporate seal is not affixed to the tender, the signatures shall be witnessed and proof of signing authority shall be provided. In the Province of Quebec signatures must be witnessed and, except when a director signs the tender, proof of signing authority shall be provided whether or not a corporate seal is affixed.
  - (b) Partnership The signatures of the partners shall be affixed and their names typed or printed in the space provided. The signatures shall be witnessed, and if not all of the partners sign or if the signatory is not a partner then a certified true copy of the agreement signed by all partners authorizing such person or persons to execute the document on their behalf shall accompany the tender. An adhesive coloured seal shall be affixed next to each signature except in the Province of Quebec.
  - (c) Sole Proprietorship The signature of the sole proprietor shall be affixed and the name typed or printed in the space provided. The signature shall be witnessed. In the event that the signatory is not the sole proprietor then a certified true copy of the agreement signed by the sole proprietor authorizing such person or persons to execute the document shall accompany the tender. An adhesive coloured seal shall be affixed next to the signature except in the Province of Quebec.
  - (d) Joint Venture The signatures of the authorized signatories of each member of the joint venture shall be affixed and their names and titles typed or printed in the space provided. Each of the participating signatories shall sign the document in the manner applicable to their particular business arrangement.

### **IT06 TENDER INQUIRIES**

- 1) Enquiries suggesting alternative materials must be addressed to Contracting Authority named on the front page of this Request for Tender, for approval, providing full technical data is received, in writing, at least 10 calendar days prior to the tender closing date indicated on the cover of this document.
- 2) All other enquiries regarding the tender must be submitted in writing to the Contracting Authority named on the front page of the Request for Tender as early as possible within the tendering period and no later than five (5) calendar days prior to the date set for tender closing to allow sufficient time to provide a response.

3) Answers to all enquiries shall be provided simultaneously to all Tenderers having received Tender Documents without revealing the source of enquiries.

#### **IT07 TENDER RESULTS**

1) Following contract award, Tenderers will receive written notification of the tender results.

### IT08 EVALUATION AND ACCEPTANCE OF TENDER (MANDATORY)

- 1) Canada may accept any tender, whether it is the lowest or not, or may reject any or all tenders.
- 2) Canada may reject a tender if any of the following circumstances are present:
  - (a) the Tenderer or any employee or subcontractor included as part of the tender, has been convicted under sections 121, 124 or 418 of the Criminal Code.
  - (b) with respect to current or prior transactions with Canada, Canada determines that the Tenderer's performance on other contracts is sufficiently poor to jeopardize the successful completion of the requirement being tendered on.
- 3) In assessing the Tenderer's performance on other contracts Canada may consider, but not be limited to, such matters as:
  - (a) the quality of workmanship in performing the work,
  - (b) the timeliness of completion of the work,
  - (c)) the overall management of the work and its effect on the level of effort demanded of the department and its representatives; and
  - (d) the completeness and effectiveness of the Contractor's safety program during the performance of the Work.
- 4) Canada may reject a tender based on an unfavorable assessment of:
  - (a) the adequacy of the tendered price to permit the work to be carried out and, in the case of a tender providing unit prices or a combination of lump sum and unit prices, whether each such price reasonably reflects the cost of performing the part of the work to which that price applies;
  - (b) the Tenderer's ability to provide the necessary management structure, skilled personnel, experience and equipment to competently perform the work under the contract, and
  - (c) the Tenderer's performance on other contracts.
- 5) If Canada intends to reject a tender pursuant to a provision of paragrapghs 1), 2), 3) and 4) herein, the Minister will so inform the Tenderer and provide the Tenderer ten (10) days' notice within which to make representations, prior to making a final decision on the tender rejection.

#### **IT09 NEGOTIATIONS**

- In the event that the lowest compliant tender exceeds the amount of funding Canada has allocated for the construction phase of the work
  - (a) by 15% or less, Canada, at its sole discretion, shall either
    - (i) cancel the tender call; or
    - (ii) obtain additional funding and, subject to the provisions of clause IT13 of Instructions to Tenderers, award the Contract to the Tenderer submitting the lowest compliant tender; or
    - (iii) revise the scope of work accordingly and negotiate, with the Tenderer submitting the lowest compliant tender, a corresponding reduction in its tendered price.
  - (b) by more than 15%, Canada, at its sole discretion, shall either
    - (i) cancel the tender call; or
    - (ii) obtain additional funding and, subject to the provisions of clause IT13 of Instructions to Tenderers, award the Contract to the Tenderer submitting the lowest compliant tender; or
    - (iii) revise the scope of work accordingly and invite all those who submitted compliant tenders at the original tender call to re-tender the work.

#### IT10 TENDER VALIDITY PERIOD

1) The Tenderers agree that all quotations, prices and costs submitted with the tender, shall remain firm and valid for a period of **one hundred and twenty (120) calendar days** after the tender closing.

#### IT11 LISTING OF SUBCONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS

The Tenderer is required to submit as part of the tender, all information requested relative to subcontracting parts of the work, including the list with the names of Subcontractors and Suppliers for the part or parts of the Work listed. Failure to do so will result in the disqualification of its tender.

#### IT12 COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS

- By submission of a tender, the Tenderer certifies that the Tenderer has the legal capacity to enter into a contract and is in possession of all valid licences, permits, registrations, certificates, declarations, filings or other authorizations necessary to comply with all federal, provincial and municipal laws and regulations applicable to the submission of the tender and entry into any ensuing contract for the performance of the work.
- 2) For the purpose of validating the certification in paragraph 1) herein, a Tenderer shall, if requested, provide a copy of every valid licence, permit, registration, certificate, declaration, filing or other authorization listed in the request within the time limit(s) set out in the said request.

#### IT13 TAXES (2013-03-21)

- 1) Federal government departments and agencies are required to pay Applicable Taxes.
- 2) Applicable Taxes will be paid by Canada as provided in the Invoice Submission section. It is the sole responsibility of the Contractor to charge Applicable Taxes at the correct rate in accordance with applicable legislation. The Contractor agrees to remit to appropriate tax authorities any amounts of Applicable Taxes paid or due.
- 3) The Contractor is not entitled to use Canada's exemptions from any tax, such as provincial sales taxes, unless otherwise specified by law. The Contractor must pay applicable provincial sales tax, ancillary taxes, and any commodity tax, on taxable goods or services used or consumed in the performance of the Contract (in accordance with applicable legislation), including for material incorporated into real property.
- In those cases where Applicable Taxes, customs duties, and excise taxes are included in the Contract Price, the Contract Price will be adjusted to reflect any increase, or decrease, of Applicable Taxes, customs duties, and excise taxes that will have occurred between bid submission and contract award. However, there will be no adjustment for any change to increase the Contract Price if public notice of the change was given before bid submission date in sufficient detail to have permitted the Contractor to calculate the effect of the change.
- 5) Tax Withholding of 15 Percent Canada Revenue Agency
  - Pursuant to the *Income Tax Act*, 1985, c. 1 (5th Supp.) and the *Income Tax Regulations*, Canada must withhold 15 percent of the amount to be paid to the Contractor in respect of services provided in Canada if the Contractor is not a resident of Canada, unless the Contractor obtains a valid waiver from the *Canada Revenue Agency*. The amount withheld will be held on account for the Contractor in respect to any tax liability which may be owed to Canada.

#### IT14 APPROVAL OF ALTERNATIVE MATERIALS

- 1) Unless otherwise specified elsewhere in the Contract, materiel supplied shall be new and conform to the latest issue of the applicable drawing, specification and/or part number that is in effect on the solicitation closing date.
- When materials are specified by trade names or trademarks, or by manufacturers' or suppliers' names, the tender shall be based on the use of the named materials. During the tendering period, alternative materials may be considered provided full technical data is received in writing by Canada at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the tender closing date. Upon approval of the alternative materials by Departmental Representative, an addendum to the tender documents will be issued.

#### **IT15 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION**

Tenderers shall take note that the Performance of the Contractor during and upon completion of the work shall be evaluated by Canada. The evaluation will be based on the quality of workmanship; timeliness of completion of the work; project management, contract management and management of health and safety. Should the Contractor's performance be considered unsatisfactory, the Contractor's bidding privileges on future work may be suspended indefinitely.

#### IT16 LANGUAGE OF THE TENDER AND CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

1) Bid documents and supporting information may be submitted in either English or French. The contract documents to be signed by the successful Tenderer shall be in the same official language as the language of the tender documents submitted.

#### IT17 INSURANCE: REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTY

1) By submission of this tender, the Tenderer hereby declares that it has the appropriate liability insurance coverage and warrants that it shall maintain all required insurance policies in place and effect throughout the entire project, as required by GC 10 INSURANCE.

### **IT18 TENDER SECURITY REQUIREMENTS**

- 1) When the total amount of the tender is equal to or greater than \$100,000.00, the Tenderer shall submit tender security in the form of a bid bond or a security deposit, in the following manner:
  - (a) if the tender amount is between \$100,000.00 and \$250,000.00 the tender security shall be equal to not less than 10% of the tender amount:
  - (b) if the tender amount is greater than \$250,000.00, the tender security shall be equal to not less than \$25,000.00 plus an amount equal to 5% of the tender amount that exceeds \$250,000.00.
- 2) A bid bond shall be in an approved form, properly completed with original signature(s) and issued by an approved company whose bonds are acceptable to Canada.
- 3) A security deposit shall be an original, properly completed, signed where required and be either
  - (a) a bill of exchange, bank draft or money order payable to the Receiver General for Canada, or
  - (b) bonds of, or unconditionally guaranteed as to principal and interest by the Government of Canada; or
- 4) A bill of exchange, bank draft or money order referred to in subparagraph 3)(a) herein shall be certified by or drawn on
  - (a) a corporation or institution that is a member of the Canadian Payments Association:
  - (b) a corporation that accepts deposits that are insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation or the "Régie de l'assurance-dépôts du Québec" to the maximum permitted by law;

- (c) a corporation that accepts public deposits and repayment of the deposits is unconditionally guaranteed by Her Majesty in right of a province:
- (d) a corporation, association or federation incorporated or organized as a credit union or cooperative credit society that conforms to the requirements of a credit union which are more particularly described in paragraph 137 (6)(b) of the Income Tax Act, or
- (e) Canada Post Corporation.
- 5) If a bill of exchange, bank draft or money order is drawn on an institution or corporation other than a chartered bank it must be accompanied by proof that the said institution or corporation meets at least one of the criteria described in paragraph 4) herein, either by letter or by a stamped certification on the bill of exchange.
- 6) For the purposes of this section a bill of exchange is an unconditional order in writing signed by the Tenderer and addressed to an approved financial institution, requiring the said institution to pay, on demand, at a fixed or determinable time a sum certain of money to, or to the order of, the Receiver General for Canada.
- 7) Letters of guarantee and irrevocable letters of credit are not acceptable as tender security.
- 8) Bonds referred to in subparagraph 3)(b) shall be provided on the basis of their market value current at the date of tender closing, and shall be
  - (a) payable to bearer, or
  - (b) accompanied by a duly executed instrument of transfer of the bonds to the Receiver General for Canada in the form prescribed by the Domestic Bonds of Canada Regulations, or
  - (c) registered as to principal or as to principal and interest in the name of the Receiver General for Canada pursuant to the Domestic Bonds of Canada Regulations.
- 9) Tender security shall lapse or be returned as soon as practical following
  - (a) the tender closing date, for those Tenderers submitting non-compliant tenders; and
  - (b) the administrative tender review, for those Tenderers submitting compliant tenders ranked fourth to last on the schedule of tenders;
  - (c) the award of contract, for those Tenderers submitting the second and third ranked tenders;
  - (d) the receipt of contract security, for the successful Tenderer; or
  - (e) the cancellation of the tender call, for all Tenderers.
- 10) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 9) herein and provided more than three compliant tenders have been received, if one or more of the tenders ranked third to first is withdrawn or rejected for whatever reason, then Canada reserves the right to hold the security of the next highest ranked compliant tender in order to retain the tender security of at least three valid and compliant tenders.

#### **IT19 CONTRACT SECURITY REQUIREMENTS**

The successful Tenderer shall be required to provide contract security in accordance with the Contract Security Conditions of the tender documents listed above within fourteen (14) days after receipt of a notice in writing that the tender was accepted by Canada.

#### IT20 CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT AND RE-DEVELOPMENT CHARGES

Tenderers shall not include any monies in the tender amount for special municipal development, re-development or other fees or charges which a municipal authority may seek as a prerequisite to the issuance of building permits.

#### IT21 BID DEPOSITORY

If the tender advertisement for the work states that a Bid Depository shall be used for specified parts of the Work, the Tenderer shall

- (a) Obtain bids for the specified parts through the Bid Depository according to local Bid Depository rules; and
- (b) Instruct all trade contractors bidding directly to the Tenderer to tender on the scope of the work as defined in local Bid Depository rules (e.g. trade definitions, specification sections etc.).

#### IT22 REGISTRY AND PRE-QUALIFICATION OF FLOATING PLANT

Dredges or other floating plant to be used in the performance of the work must be on Canadian registry. For dredges or other floating plant which are not of Canadian make or manufacture, the Tenderer must obtain a certificate of qualification from Industry Canada as described in the Floating Plant Appendix of the Tender Form, and this certificate must accompany the tender. Plant so qualified by Industry Canada may be accepted on this dredging project.

### IT23 CONTRACTOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION REPORT (CPER)

- 1. All projects contracted by Environment Canada will be evaluated on Time, Management and Quality of Workmanship.
- 2. A completed CPER will be provided to contractors at the successful completion of project work valued at \$10,000 or more, or when the work is taken out of a contractor's hands as a result of a default.
- 3. For contracts under \$10,000, a CPER will be provided to contractors if it is felt the performance would rate 80 and over or under 55.
- 4. Bidding privileges will be suspended indefinitely if:
  - (a) a contractor received an overall point rating of 20 or less; or
  - (b) a zero rating on Time or Management; or
  - (c) two overall point ratings between 50 and 25.

#### IT24 DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

- The "Specifications and Drawings" for construction work within the National Capital Region (NCR) will be available to Tenderers. Please send your request by email to the Contracting Authority: <u>marie-christine.blais@ec.gc.ca</u> or by phone at (514) 496-1929.
- The "Specifications and Drawings" for construction work outside the National Capital Region (NCR) will be available to Tenderers, at the construction work site, upon their written request placed at the point of inquiries indicated on the cover page of this document.
- 3. Each Tenderer will be entitled only to one set of "Specifications and Drawings".

### 2 SECTION 2 PROJECT BRIEF

### **2 SECTION 2 PROJECT BRIEF**

#### SCOPE OF WORK

#### 2.1 OBJECTIVE

- 1. ARCHITECTURAL The work includes, but is not limited to, the following:
  - a) Remove, repaint and reinstall existing blowout panels and steel mesh guards in storage rooms.
  - b) Replace corroded door and door hardware in Acid Storage Room. Replace door locksets in remainder of storage rooms.
  - c) Supply and install new HDPE shelving units in Acid Storage Room.
  - d) Roof curbs and penetrations for associated mechanical and structural work.
- 2. STRUCTURAL The work includes, but is not limited to, the following:
  - a) Installation of 2 No. W310 beams under the existing roof and connecting to existing W360 beams.
  - b) Installation of 6 no. HSS 102x4.8 stubs off the top flange of the new W310 beams and through the roof, prepared by others.
  - c) Construction of Channel and angle platform off the top of the HSS 102x4.8 stubs including 6 mm plate support for fan exhaust stacks.
- 3. MECHANICAL The work includes, but is not limited to, the following:
  - a) Add new room ventilation, ductwork, roof exhaust fans
  - b) Add glycol heating system for makeup air for room ventilation.
  - c) Modifications to fire protection
  - d) Add controls
- 4. ELECTRICAL The work includes, but is not limited to, the following:
  - a) Demolition of existing electric heating systems
  - b) New 120V electrical service to five (5) exhaust fans
  - c) New 120V electrical services to miscellaneous mechanical equipment (pumps and gas detection system)
  - d) Replacement of corroded housings, fittings, gaskets, and/or screws
  - e) Bonding exhaust fans to lightning protection system.

### 2.2 ESTIMATED BUDGET

The estimated value of the construction work is \$350,000.00

#### 2.3 SCHEDULE

Construction MUST be completed by <u>March 31, 2014</u>. Contractor to mobilize to site within 3 weeks of signing the contract. No winter work allowance is permitted; <u>all exterior work is to be completed by November 30, 2013.</u>

#### 2.4 CROWN INPUT

The Site will liaise with the contractor on an ongoing basis to provide available base building services. Existing services including electrical and water supply may be used by the Contractor without charge. The contractor is to ensure capacity is adequate prior to imposing additional loads and is to connect and disconnect at own expense and responsibility. The contractor is not to cause any disruption in service to existing tenants.

Parking will be provided free of charge at the site in the designated area.

### 2 SECTION 2 PROJECT BRIEF

### 2.5 EVALUATION CRITERIA ROWN INPUT

Projects are evaluated on best value to the Crown.

The contractor must provide a list of three (3) projects they have worked on in the past that are of a similar nature and value. This information is requested in Appendix 1 of the Tender form. Failure to complete this form or to comply with the requirement for previous experience may result in elimination from the tender process.

The contractor must supply a list of subcontractors and suppliers as itemized in Appendix 2 of the Tender form. Failure to supply this list may result in the elimination of the contractor from the tender process.

The contractor must supply a price breakdown as requested in Appendix 3 of the Tender form. Failure to provide this breakdown may result in elimination from the tender process.

The contract will be awarded based on best value to the Crown. This will be evaluated based on the previous experience of the firm (pass or fail), provision of a list of subcontractors and suppliers (pass or fail), and provision of a price breakdown (pass or fail). The lowest priced tender that meets the above three requirements may be deemed to represent best value to the Crown.

## 3 SECTION 3 TENDER ACCEPTANCE FORM (TA)

## TA01 PROJECT IDENTIFICATION AND SECURITY

1)	Proj	ect Identifi	cation						
	<ul><li>(a) Project Name:</li><li>(b) Location:</li></ul>		me:	CHEMICAL ROOM ACID STORAGE RETROFI National Hydrology Research Centre, #11 Innovation					
	(c)	Description	n of Work:	Boulevard, Saskatoon, SK, S7N3H5  New ventilation systems for chemical storage rooms and associated work.					
		Solicitation Closing Da Proposal C		KW405-13-0330 July 31 <sup>th</sup> 2013 02h00 pm (Eastern Daylight Time)					
2)	Seci	urity Requi	rements						
	(a) The security requirements for this project is  [_X_] None  [] Reliability  [] Secret								
	(b) C	Company se	curity clearanc	e number:					
	(c) S	Security leve	l:	_					
	(d) E	ate receive	d:						
	(e) E	Expiry date:_							
3)	Proc	urement B	usiness Num	ber (PBN)					
Te	nderei	rs should er	nter their PBN	in the space provided below:					
PB	N:		·						
TA02	BUS	SINESS NAI	ME AND ADDI	RESS OF TENDERER					
	Nam	ne:							
	Addı	ress:							
	Tele	phone	() Area Code	Number					
	Facs	simile	() Area Code	Number					
	G.S.	T. No:							
TA03	OFF	FR							

- 1) The Tenderer, hereiafter referred to as the Contractor, has carefully examined the Plans and Specifications and the other Tender Documents listed in the Instructions to Tenderers and understands and accepts the provisions as expressed therein. The Tenderer offers to Canada as represented by the Minister of Environment Canada (hereiafter referred to as the Minister) to furnish all necessary labour, Plant, Material, tools and equipment, to execute and complete, in a careful and workmanlike manner, the Work as set out in the Plans and Specifications for the:
  - (a) Lump Sum Amount as set out in TA 5; or
  - (b) Total Unit Price Amount as set out in TA 6; or
  - (c) Total Tender Amount of \$\_\_\_\_\_\_\_, Goods and Services Tax/Provincial Sale Tax/Harmonized Sale Tax (GST/PST/HST) extra, which is the sum of the Amounts set out in TA5 and TA 6 of this Tender and Acceptance Form.
- 2) The above amount is inclusive of all applicable Federal, Provincial and Municipal taxes. In the event of a change of any tax, customs or other duty, charge, or any similar imposition that is imposed under sales or excise tax legislation of the Government of Canada or provincial or territorial legislation, that effects the Contractor's cost of the Work, and that occurs
  - (a) after the date this tender was mailed or delivered, or
  - (b) if this tender is revised, after the date of the last revision was mailed or delivered.

the amount of this offer shall be increased or decreased in the manner provided for in GC5.3 INCREASED OR DECREASED COSTS, of the General Conditions of the Contract.

- 3) For the purposes of this Tender, Goods and Services Tax/Provincial Sale Tax/Harmonized Sale Tax (if applicable) (GST/PST/HST) are not to be considered as an applicable tax.
- 4) The offer is made subject to the provisions contained in the Tender Documents referred to in IT01.
- 5) The tender shall not be withdrawn for a period of 120 days following the date of tender closing.
- 6) The tender supersedes and cancels all prior communications, negotiations and agreements relating to the work other than contained in the completed tender.
- 7) The Specifications and/or Scope of Work are included with the Tender package. The Plans and Drawings will be distributed by the Minister, upon Tenderers request placed by e-mail to the Contracting Authority named on the Tender Cover.

### TA04 ADDENDA (MANDATORY)

1) By submission of this tender, the Tenderer confirms having read and understood the requirements expressed in all addenda up to and including Addendum No. \_\_\_\_\_ and have included all costs of these requirements in Total Tender Amount.

Failure to enter the correct number of the last Addenda issued, may render the Tender liable for disqualification.

#### **TA05 APPENDICES**

1) The Tender includes Appendix No(s). 1, 2, 3 and 4 to the Tender and Acceptance Form.

### TA06 ACCEPTANCE AND CONTRACT

1) Upon acceptance of the Contractor's offer by Canada, a binding Contract shall be issued between Canada and the Contractor. The documents forming the Contract shall be the documents referred to in GC1.2 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS of the General Conditions.

#### **TA07 CONSTRUCTION TIME**

- The Contractor shall diligently perform and complete the Work in a careful and workmanlike manner.
- 2) The Contractor shall commence the Work when so instructed by Canada, and shall diligently do and fulfill everything required of the Contractor by the Contract and, subject to any adjustment as provided for in the Contract, complete the work **no later than March 31 ... ... 2014**.
- 3) The date the Contractor is to complete the work, as mentioned in paragraph 2) herein, shall be determined by Canada after acceptance of the successful tender. The number of calendars days referred to in paragraph 1) will be added to the effective date of the notification of acceptance of the offer to determine the completion date.

#### **TA08 UNIT PRICE TABLE**

- 1) The Contractor agrees that
  - (a) the Unit Price Table designates that part of the Work to which a Unit Price Arrangement applies. Work not designated in the Unit Price Table is that part of the Work to which a Lump Sum Arrangement applies. If no work is designated in the Unit Price Table, a Lump Sum Arrangement applies to the total Work;
  - (b) the Price per Unit and the Estimated Total Price must be entered for each Item listed;
  - (c) the Price per Unit as tendered governs in calculating the Total Estimated Amount, and any errors in the extension of the Price per Unit and in the addition of the Estimated Total Prices will be corrected by Canada in order to obtain the Total Estimated Amount; and
  - (d) the table located in Appendix 4 herein is the Unit Price Table for the purposes of the tender and the Contract:

#### **TA09 TENDER SECURITY**

- 1) If tender security is required pursuant to the tender security requirements contained in IT20, the Contractor shall enclose tender security with its tender in accordance with those requirements.
- 2) If the security furnished does not comply fully with the requirements referred to in paragraph 1) herein, the tender shall be disqualified.
- 3) If a security deposit is furnished as tender security, it shall be forfeited in the event that the tender is accepted by Canada and the Contractor fails to provide Contract Security in accordance with IT21 and TA10, provided that the Minister may, if it is in the public interest, waive the right of Canada to forfeiture of the security deposit.

#### TA10 CONTRACT SECURITY

- If tender security is required in accordance with TA09, the Contractor shall furnish Contract Security in accordance with GC9 CONTRACT SECURITY, upon receipt of written notification of acceptance of the tender.
- 2) Contract Security referred to herein, if provided in the form of a bill of exchange, bank draft or money order will be deposited into the Consolidated Revenue Fund of Canada.

SIGNED, ATTESTED TO AND DELIVERED	O on the day of, 2013 on behalf of
Print the Business Name of the Tenderer)	
SSES	AUTHORIZED SIGNATORY(IES)
re of Witness)	(Signature of Signatory)
	(Print Name & Title of Signatory)
re of Witness)	(Signature of Signatory)
	(Print Name & Title of Signatory)
	Print the Business Name of the Tenderer) SSES re of Witness)

<u>SEAL</u>

The Tenderer shall refer to IT05 of Instructions to Tenderers for instructions on required signatures.

## **Appendix 1 Completed Projects**

I/We have, in the past, completed the following three projects which are similar in nature and scope of work to the project for which the present offer is made:

PROJECT NO.	DESCRIPTION (Describe your role in the project and list similarieties to this project)	LOCATION	YEAR	COST	CONTACT'S NAME & TELEPHONE
1.					
2.					
3.					

## Appendix 2 Listing of Subcontractors and Suppliers

1. The follo	owing is a list of Subcontractors and su	uppliers.		
	subtrades will be utilized by:in the completion of works for this proj	ject.	_ (enter	name of
ITEM	(trade and/or equipment)	FIRM (subcontractor or supplier)		
1	Mechanical Work			
2	Electrical			
3	Structural steel			
4	Roofing			
In case the		subcontractors / suppliers to do the work	k, please	complete
	ntractors / suppliers for the execution	(enter name of Tenderer) declare that of the work	I will not	i
Signature		 Date		

### Appendix 3 Breakdown of Major Item Prices

The fol	llowing is	s a	breakdo	wn o	f major	item	prices,	inclusive	of	supply	and	installation	cost,	which	are
include	d in the t	total	Tender	Price	submitt	ed by:	•						_ (ent	er nam	e o
Tender	er) in the	cor	mpletion	of wo	rks for t	his pro	oject.								

#### STATEMENT OF BID

#### NOTE:

**Maximum Funding:** The maximum funding available for the Contract resulting from the bid solicitation is \$350,000.00 (Applicable Taxes extra). Bids valued in excess of this amount will be considered non-responsive. This disclosure does not commit Canada to pay the maximum funding available

**All Other items:** Costs for items those are not specifically itemized and described below, but are required to complete the work in accordance with the Drawings and/or Specifications, and whose quantities can be predetermined, are to be included under "All Other Items

**Taxes and Overhead**: The prices are for the completed work, including all overhead, profit and other Contractor related expenses. All pricing is to **exclude HST**.

		PRICE FOR	
NO.	ITEM DESCRIPTION	ITEM	TOTAL COSTS
<b>A</b> 1	General Contractor		
	General Conditions and Mobilization	\$	\$
	Roofing	\$	\$
	Door Hardware	\$	\$
	Painting	\$	\$
	Shelving	\$	\$
	TOTAL - GENERAL CONTRACTOR		\$
A2	Structural		
	Provide access for erection of steel below roof	\$	\$
	Supply and erection of steel beams below roof	\$	\$
	Supply and erection of steel framing above roof including HSS	\$	
	posts to steel beams below	Ф	\$
	TOTAL - STRUCTURAL CONTRACTOR		\$
<b>A3</b>	Mechanical		
	Fire Protection	\$	\$
	Ventilation	\$	\$
	Piping	\$	\$
	Controls	\$	\$
	Balancing	\$	\$
	Insulation	\$	\$
	Chemical Treatment	\$	\$
	Demolition	\$	\$
	Ventilation Equipment	\$	\$
	Heating Equipment	\$	\$

	TOTAL - MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR	\$
A4	Electrical	
	Demolition	\$ \$
	Conduit and Wire	\$ \$
	Lightning and Protection System	\$ \$
	Testing and Verification	\$ \$
A5	Building permit allowance	\$ 3000.00
	TOTAL - ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR	\$
	OVERALL TOTAL BASE BID (Excluding GST)	\$
	G.S.T.	\$
	TOTAL BASE BID	\$

### Appendix 4 UNIT PRICE TABLE NOT USED

**Note:** This unit price table will establish unit costs should there be any additional works required. They will have no bearing on the contract award which is solely based on the lump sum amount.

Item	Col. 2 Class of Labour, Plant or Material	Col. 3 Unit of Measurement	Col. 4 Estimated Total Quantity	Col. 5 Price per Unit - HST extra	Col. 6 Estimated Total Price – HST extra
	Not Required				
		7	OTAL ESTIMA	TED AMOUNT	

### 4 SECTION 4 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT "A" R0200C (2004-12-10)

These <b>Articles of</b> .	<b>Agreement</b> mad	e this (	day of		201	3
----------------------------	----------------------	----------	--------	--	-----	---

#### **Between**

Canada represented by the Minister of the Environment (referred to in the contract documents as the "Minister")

and

**Contractor (name, address, tel, fax and e-mail:)** (referred to in the contract documents as the "Contractor")

Canada and the Contractor agree as follows:

#### A1 Contract Documents

- 1.1 The Articles of Agreement, General Conditions and clauses identified herein by title, number and date are hereby incorporated by reference into and form part of this Contract:
  - 1.1.1 These Articles of Agreement (AA),
  - 1.1.2 The documents attached hereto as Appendix "A" entitled "Statement of Work"
  - 1.1.3 The documents attached hereto as Appendix "B" entitled "Terms of Payments"
  - 1.1.4 The documents attached hereto as Appendix "C" entitled "General Conditions (GC)" of the Contract
    - GC1 General Provisions
    - GC2 Administration of the Contract
    - GC3 Execution and Control of the Work
    - GC4 Protective Measures
    - GC5 Terms of Payment
    - GC6 Delays and Changes in the Work
    - GC7 Default, Suspension or Termination of Contract
    - GC8 Dispute Resolution
    - GC9 Contract Security
    - GC10 Insurance
    - GC11 Fair Wages and Hours of Labour Labour Conditions
  - 1.1.5 The documents attached hereto as Appendix "D" entitled "Supplementary Conditions (SC)" of the Contract
    - SC1 Employment Equity
    - SC2 Work Force Reduction Program
    - SC3 Intellectual Property
    - SC4 International Sanctions
  - 1.1.6 The documents attached herein entitled specifications, plans and drawings
  - 1.1.7 Work site specific safety requirements (contained in the specifications document)
  - 1.1.8 Any addenda issued before the date set for tender closing.
  - 1.1.9 Any amendment of the contract documents that is made in accordance with the General Conditions.

### A2 Appropriate Law

2.1. This contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws in force in the Province of Saskatchewan.

#### A3 Completion and Description of Work

3.1. The Contractor shall, between the date of these Articles of Agreement and 31st day of March 2014 perform and complete with care, skill, diligence and efficiency the following work:

#### Scope of Work

- 1. ARCHITECTURAL The work includes, but is not limited to, the following:
  - e) Remove, repaint and reinstall existing blowout panels and steel mesh guards in storage rooms.
  - f) Replace corroded door and door hardware in Acid Storage Room. Replace door locksets in remainder of storage rooms.
  - g) Supply and install new HDPE shelving units in Acid Storage Room.
  - h) Roof curbs and penetrations for associated mechanical and structural work.
- 2. STRUCTURAL The work includes, but is not limited to, the following:
  - Installation of 2 No. W310 beams under the existing roof and connecting to existing W360 beams.
  - e) Installation of 6 no. HSS 102x4.8 stubs off the top flange of the new W310 beams and through the roof, prepared by others.
  - f) Construction of Channel and angle platform off the top of the HSS 102x4.8 stubs including 6 mm plate support for fan exhaust stacks.
- 3. MECHANICAL The work includes, but is not limited to, the following:
  - e) Add new room ventilation, ductwork, roof exhaust fans
  - f) Add glycol heating system for makeup air for room ventilation.
  - g) Modifications to fire protection
  - h) Add controls
- 4. ELECTRICAL The work includes, but is not limited to, the following:
  - f) Demolition of existing electric heating systems
  - g) New 120V electrical service to five (5) exhaust fans
  - h) New 120V electrical services to miscellaneous mechanical equipment (pumps and gas detection system)
  - i) Replacement of corroded housings, fittings, gaskets, and/or screws
  - i) Bonding exhaust fans to lightning protection system.

#### A4 Contract Amount

4.1.

	contract, Canada shall pay the Contractor at the times and in the manner that is set out in the Terms of Payments
4.1.1	e sum of \$, GST, PST or HST (if applicable) extra, in consideration for the rformance of the work or the part thereof that is subject to a "Fixed Price Arrangement", or that par the contract that prescribes a lump sum as payment for performance of the work to which it relates d

Subject to any increase, decrease, deduction, reduction or set-off that may be made under the

- 4.1.2 a sum that is equal to the aggregate of the products of the number of units of measurement of each class of labour, plant and material that is set out in a Final Certificate of Measurement, multiplied in each case by the appropriate unit price, GST, PST or HST (if applicable) extra, that is set out in the Unit Price Table in consideration for the performance of the work or the part thereof that is subject to a "Unit Price Arrangement", or that part of the contract that prescribes the product of a price multiplied by number of units of measurement of a class as payment for performance of the work to which it relates.
- 4.2 The total amount payable by Canada to the Contractor shall not exceed: \$

#### A5 Unit Price Table

5.1 The following table is the Unit Price Table for the purposes of the contract:

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column 5	Column 6
Item	Class of Labour, Plant or Material	Unit of Measurement	Estimated Total Quantity	Price per Unit	Estimated Total Price
N/A					

### A6 Departmental Representative

6.1. For the purpose of this Contract, the Minister designates, as Departmental Representative:

The name and contact information of the Technical Authority shall be known upon contract award.

6.2. The Departmental Representative is responsible for all matters concerning the professional and technical content of the work under this contract. Any proposed changes to the scope of the work are to be discussed with the Departmental Representative but any resultant changes can only be authorized by contract amendment issued by the Contracting Authority.

### A7 Contracting Authority

7.1. For the purpose of this Contract, the Minister designates, as Contracting Authority:

Marie-Christine Blais, Procurement Officer Environment Canada Assets, Contracting and Environmental Management Directorate 1240 – 2021, Union Montreal (Quebec) H3A 2S9

Phone: (514) 496-1929 Fax: (514) 283-4439

Email: marie-christine.blais@ec.gc.ca

7.2. The Contracting Authority named above is responsible for the management of this contract. The Contractor is not to work in excess or outside the scope of this contract based on instructions from any government personnel other than the aforementioned Contracting Authority. No change or modification to the Contract shall become biding unless it is incorporated into the Contract by written amendment.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF** the parties hereto have executed these Articles of Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

FOR LIMITED COMPANY OR INCORPORATED COMPANY SEALED, ATTESTED TO AND DELIVERED on behalf of the Contractor by (Signature of Authorized Signatory) (Print Name of Signatory) Contract Start Date (Print Title of Signatory) in the presence of (Signature of Witness) (Signature of Authorized Signatory) (Print Name of Signatory) (Print Title of Signatory) (Corporate Seal) in the presence of (Signature of Witness) EXECUTED ON BEHALF OF Her Majesty by (Signature of Authorized Departmental Officer) (Print Name of Officer) Date (Print Title of Officer) in the presence of Signature of Witness and countersigned by (Signature of Authorized Departmental Officer) (Print Name of Officer) Date (Print Title of Officer)

# 4 SECTION 4

**CONTRACT DOCUMENTS - ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT** FOR PARTNERSHIP OR SOLE PROPRIETORSHIP SEALED, ATTESTED TO AND DELIVERED on behalf of the Contractor by (Signature of Partner/Sole Proprietor) (Print name of Partner/Sole Proprietor) (Seal) Contract Start Date in the presence of (Signature of Witness) (Signature of Partner) (Print Name of Partner) (Seal) in the presence of (Signature of Witness) EXECUTED ON BEHALF OF Her Majesty by (Signature of Authorized Departmental Officer) (Print Name of Officer) Date in the presence of (Print Title of Officer) Signature of Witness and countersigned by (Signature of Authorized Departmental Officer) (Print Name of Officer) (Print Title of Officer) Date

# 5 SECTION 5 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – Appendix "A" Statement of Work (SOW)

### 5 SECTION 5 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – STATEMENT OF WORK

Refer to section: 2 SECTION 2 - PROJECT BRIEF

# 6 SECTION 6 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – Appendix "B" Terms of Payments (TP)

### 6 SECTION 6 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – TERMS OF PAYMENT

Appendix "B" Terms of Payments (TP)

Refer to Section 7 – GC 5 -General Conditions – Terms of Payment

#### 7 SECTION 7 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS GENERAL CONDITIONS (GC) R0202D (2004-05-14)

Appendix "C" General Condition (GC)

#### **GC1 GENERAL PROVISIONS**

#### GC1.1 INTERPRETATION

### GC1.1.1 Headings and References

- 1) The headings in the contract documents, other than those in the drawings and specifications, form no part of the Contract but are inserted for convenience of reference only.
- 2) A reference made to a part of the Contract by means of numbers preceded by letters is a reference to the particular part of the Contract that is identified by that combination of letters and numbers and to any other part of the Contract referred to therein.
- 3) A reference to a paragraph or subparagraph followed by an identifying number, letter or combination thereof is, unless specifically stated otherwise, a reference to the paragraph or subparagraph that forms part of the clause within which the reference is made.

#### GC1.1.2 Terminology

1) In the Contract

"Canada", "Crown", "Her Majesty" means Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada;

"Contract" means the contract documents referred to as such therein and every other document specified or referred to in any of them as forming part of the Contract, all as amended by agreement of the parties;

"Contract Amount" means the amount set out in the Contract to be payable to the Contractor for the Work, subject to the terms and conditions of the Contract;

"Contract Security" means any security given by the Contractor to Canada in accordance with the Contract;

"Contractor" means the person contracting with Canada to provide or furnish all labour, Material and Plant for the execution of the Work under the Contract, and includes the Contractor's superintendent as designated in writing by the Departmental Representative.

"Departmental Representative" means the person designated in the Contract, or by written notice to the Contractor, to act as the Departmental Representative for the purposes of the Contract, and includes a person, designated and authorized in writing by the Departmental Representative to the Contractor, to perform any of the Departmental Representative's functions under the Contract;

"Final Certificate of Completion" means a certificate issued by the Departmental Representative when the Work reaches Completion;

"Final Certificate of Measurement" means a certificate issued by the Departmental Representative certifying the correctness of the final quantities, unit prices and values of labour, Plant and Material performed, used and supplied by the Contractor for the construction of the part of the Work to which a Unit Price Arrangement applies;

"herein", "hereby", "hereof", "hereunder" and similar expressions refer to the Contract as a whole and not to any particular section or part thereof;

"Interim Certificate of Completion" means a certificate issued by the Departmental Representative when the Work reaches Substantial Completion as defined in the General Terms and Conditions;

"Lump Sum Arrangement" means that part of the Contract that prescribes a lump sum as payment for performance of the Work to which it relates;

"Material" includes all commodities, articles, machinery, equipment, fixtures and things required to be furnished in accordance with the Contract for incorporation into the Work;

"Minister" includes a person acting for or, if the office is vacant, in place of the Minister, the Minister's successors in the office, a lawful deputy, and any representative, other than the Departmental Representative, appointed for the purposes of the Contract;

"person" includes, unless otherwise stated in the Contract, any partnership, proprietorship, firm, joint venture, consortium and corporation;

"Plant" includes all tools, implements, machinery, vehicles, structures, equipment, articles and things that are necessary for the performance of the Contract, other than Material and those tools customarily provided by a tradesperson in practicing a trade;

"Subcontractor" means a person having a direct contract with the Contractor, subject to GC3.6 SUBCONTRACTING, to perform a part or parts of the Work, or to supply Material worked to a special design for the Work;

"Superintendent" means the employee or representative of the Contractor designated by the Contractor to act pursuant to GC2.5 SUPERINTENDENT;

"Supplemental Conditions" means the part of the Contract that amends or supplements the General Terms and Conditions;

"Supplier" means a person having a direct contract with the Contractor to supply Plant or Material not worked to a special design for the Work;

"Unit Price Arrangement" means that part of the Contract that prescribes the product of a price per unit of measurement multiplied by a number of units of measurement for performance of the Work to which it relates;

"Unit Price Table" means the table of unit prices set out in the Contract;

"Work" means, subject only to any express stipulation in the Contract to the contrary, everything that is necessary to be done, furnished or delivered by the Contractor to perform the Contract in accordance with the contract documents; and

"Working Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a holiday which is observed by the construction industry in the area of the place of the Work.

#### GC1.1.3 Application of Certain Provisions

- 1) Any provisions of the Contract that are expressly stipulated to be applicable only to a Unit Price Arrangement are not applicable to any part of the Work to which a Lump Sum Arrangement applies.
- 2) Any provisions of the Contract that are expressly stipulated to be applicable only to a Lump Sum Arrangement are not applicable to any part of the Work to which a Unit Price Arrangement applies.

#### **GC1.1.4** Substantial Performance

- 1) The Work will be considered to have reached Substantial Performance when
  - (a) the Work or a substantial part thereof has passed inspection and testing and is, in the opinion of Canada, ready for use by Canada or is being used for the intended purposes; and
  - (b) the Work is, in the opinion of Canada, capable of completion or correction at a cost of not more than

- (i) 3% of the first \$500,000;
- (ii) 2% of the next \$500,000; and
- (iii)1% of the balance
- of the Contract Amount at the time this cost is calculated.
- 2) Where the Work or a substantial part thereof is ready for use or is being used for the purposes intended and
  - (a) the remainder of the Work or a part thereof cannot be completed by the time specified in the Contract, or as amended in accordance with GC6.5 DELAYS AND EXTENSION OF TIME, for reasons beyond the control of the Contractor; or
  - (b) Canada and the Contractor agree not to complete a part of the Work within the specified time;

the cost of that part of the Work that was either beyond the control of the Contractor to complete or Canada and the Contractor have agreed not to complete by the time specified, shall be deducted from the value of the Contract referred to in subparagraph 1)(b) of GC1.1.4. and the said cost shall not form part of the cost of the Work remaining to be done in determining Substantial Performance.

### GC1.1.5 Completion

1) The Work shall be deemed to have reached Completion when all labour, Plant and Material required have been performed, used or supplied, and the Contractor has complied with the Contract and all orders and directions made pursuant thereto, all to the satisfaction of Canada.

#### GC1.2 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

#### GC1.2.1 General

- 1) The documents forming the Contract between Canada and the Contractor, referred to herein as the contract documents, are
  - (a) the Invitation to Tender when signed by the Contractor and the Contract, when signed by Canada;
  - (b) the duly completed Tender Acceptance Form (TA) and any Appendices attached thereto;
  - (c) the documents entitled Plans and Specifications, referred to in the Contract as the Plans and Specifications;
  - (d) the General Conditions of the Contract, referred to in the Contract as the General Conditions;
  - (e) the Supplementary General Conditions, if any, referred to in the Contract as the Supplementary General Conditions;
  - (f) the Fair Wages and Hours of Labour Labour Conditions referred to in the Contract as the Labour Conditions;
  - (g) the Fair Wage Schedules for Federal Construction Contracts referred to in the Contract as the Fair Wage Schedule;
  - (g) any addendum issued or any allowable tender revision received before the date and time set for closing;
  - (h) any addendum incorporated in a contract document by mutual agreement between Canada and the Contractor before the acceptance of the tender; and
  - (i) any amendment or variation of the contract made in accordance with the General Conditions.
- 2) The contract documents are complementary, and what is required by any one document shall be as binding as if required by all documents.
- 3) Nothing contained in the contract documents shall create a contractual relationship between Canada and any Subcontractor or Supplier, their subcontractors or suppliers, or their agents or employees.

### GC1.2.2 Order of Precedence

- 1) In the event of any discrepancy or conflict in the contents of the following documents, such documents shall take precedence and govern in the following order:
  - (a) any amendment or variation of the contract documents that is made in accordance with the General Conditions:
  - (b) any addenda issued prior to tender closing;

- (c) Supplementary General Conditions;
- (d) General Conditions:
- (e) the duly completed Tender and Acceptance Form when accepted;
- (f) Plans and Specifications.

Documents issued at later dates shall govern within each of the above categories of documents.

- 2) In the event of any discrepancy or conflict in the information contained in the Plans and Specifications, the following rules shall apply:
  - (a) Specifications shall govern over Plans;
  - (b) dimensions shown in figures on a Plan shall govern where they differ from dimensions scaled from the same Plan; and
  - (c) Plans of larger scale govern over those of smaller scale.

### GC1.2.3 Security and Protection of Documents and Work

- 1) The Contractor shall guard and protect contract documents, drawings, information, models and copies thereof, whether supplied by Canada or the Contractor, against loss or damage from any cause.
- 2) The Contractor shall keep confidential all information provided to the Contractor by or on behalf of Canada in connection with the Work, and all information developed by the Contractor as part of the Work, and shall not disclose any such information to any person without the written permission of Canada, except that the Contractor may disclose to a subcontractor, authorized in accordance with the Contract, information necessary to the performance of a subcontract. This section does not apply to any information that:
  - (a) is publicly available from a source other than the Contractor; or
  - (b) is or becomes known to the Contractor from a source other than Canada, except any source that is known to the Contractor to be under an obligation to Canada not to disclose the information.
- 3) When the Contract, the Work, or any information referred to in paragraph 2) is identified as TOP SECRET, SECRET, CONFIDENTIAL or PROTECTED by Canada, the Contractor shall, at all times, take all measures reasonably necessary for the safeguarding of the material so identified, including such measures as may be further specified elsewhere in the Contract or provided, in writing, from time to time by Canada.
- Without limiting the generality of paragraphs 2) and 3) of GC1.2.3, when the Contract, the Work, or any information referred to in paragraph 2) is identified as TOP SECRET, SECRET, CONFIDENTIAL or PROTECTED by Canada, Canada shall be entitled to inspect the Contractor's premises and the premises of its subcontractors or suppliers and any other person at any tier, for security purposes at any time during the term of the Contract, and the Contractor shall comply with, and ensure that any such subcontractors or suppliers comply with all written instructions issued by Canada dealing with the material so identified, including any requirement that employees of the Contractor and its subcontractors and suppliers and any other person at any tier execute and deliver declarations relating to reliability screenings, security clearances and other procedures.
- 5) The Contractor shall safeguard the Work and the Contract, the Specifications, Plans, drawings and any other information provided by Canada to the Contractor, and shall be liable to Canada for any loss or damage from any causes.

#### GC1.3 STATUS OF THE CONTRACTOR

- 1) The Contractor is engaged under the Contract as an independent contractor.
- 2) The Contractor, its subcontractors and suppliers and any other person at any tier and their employees are not engaged by the Contract as employees, servants or agents of Canada.
- 3) For the purposes of the contract the Contractor shall be solely responsible for any and all payments and deductions required to be made by law including those required for Canada or Quebec Pension Plans, Employment Insurance, Worker's Compensation, provincial health or insurance plans, and Income Tax.

#### GC1.4 TIME OF THE ESSENCE

Time is of the essence of the Contract.

#### GC1.5 INDEMNIFICATION BY CONTRACTOR

- The Contractor shall pay all royalties and patent fees required for the performance of the Contract and, at the Contractor's expense, shall defend all claims, actions or proceedings against Canada charging or claiming that the Work or any part thereof provided or furnished by the Contractor to Canada infringe any patent, industrial design, copyright trademark, trade secret or other proprietary right enforceable in Canada.
- 2) The Contractor shall indemnify and save Canada harmless from and against all claims, demands, losses, costs, damages, actions, suits, or proceedings by whomever made, brought or prosecuted and in any manner based upon, arising out of, related to, occasioned by, or attributable to the activities of the Contractor, its subcontractors and suppliers and any other person at any tier, in performing the Work.
- 3) For the purposes of paragraph 2) of GC1.6, "activities" includes any act improperly carried out, any omission to carry out an act and any delay in carrying out an act.

#### GC1.6 INDEMNIFICATION BY CANADA

- Subject to the Crown Liability and Proceedings Act, the Patent Act, and any other law that affects Canada's rights, powers, privileges or obligations, Canada shall indemnify and save the Contractor harmless from and against all claims, demands, losses, costs, damage, actions, suits or proceedings arising out of the Contractor's activities under the Contract that are directly attributable to
  - (a) a lack of or a defect in Canada's title to the Work site if owned by Canada, whether real or alleged; or (b) an infringement or an alleged infringement by the Contractor of any patent of invention or any other kind of intellectual property occurring while the Contractor was performing under the Contract employing a model, plan or design related to the Work that was supplied by Canada to the Contractor.

### GC1.7 LAWS, PERMITS AND TAXES

- 1) The Contractor shall comply with all federal, provincial and municipal laws and regulations applicable to the performance of the Work or any part thereof including, without limitation, all laws concerning health and labour conditions and the protection of the environment, and shall require compliance therewith by all of its subcontractors and suppliers at any tier as if the work were being performed for an owner other than Canada. The Contractor shall furnish evidence of compliance with such laws and regulations to Canada at such times as Canada may reasonably request.
- 2) Unless stipulated otherwise in the Contract, the Contractor shall obtain and maintain all permits, certificates, licenses, registrations and authorizations required for the lawful performance of the Work.
- 3) Prior to the commencement of the Work at the site, the Contractor shall tender to a municipal authority an amount equal to all fees and charges that would be lawfully payable to that municipal authority in respect of building permits as if the Work were being performed for an owner other than Canada.
- 4) Within ten (10) days of making a tender pursuant to paragraph 3) of GC1.8, the Contractor shall notify Canada of the amount properly tendered and whether or not the municipal authority has accepted that amount.
- 5) If the municipal authority has not accepted the amount tendered, the Contractor shall pay that amount to Canada within six (6) days after the time stipulated in paragraph 4) of GC1.8.
- 6) For the purposes of this clause, "municipal authority" means any authority that would have jurisdiction respecting permission to perform the Work if the owner were not Canada.

- 7) Notwithstanding the residency of the Contractor, the Contractor shall pay any applicable tax arising from or related to the performance of the Work under the Contract.
- 8) In accordance with the Statutory Declaration referred to in paragraph 4) of GC5.5 SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK, a Contractor who has neither residence nor place of business in the province or territory in which work under the Contract is being performed shall provide Canada with proof of registration with the provincial sales tax authorities in the said province.
- 9) For the purpose of the payment of any applicable tax or the furnishing of security for the payment of any applicable tax arising from or related to the performance of the Work, and notwithstanding the provision that all Material, Plant and interest of the Contractor in all real property, licenses, powers and privileges, become the property of Canada after the time of purchase in accordance with GC3.9 MATERIAL PLANT AND REAL PROPERTY BECOME PROPERTY OF CANADA, the Contractor shall be liable, as a user or consumer, for the payment or for the furnishing of security for the payment of any applicable tax payable, at the time of the use or consumption of that Material, Plant or interest of the Contractor in accordance with the relevant legislation.

#### GC1.8 WORKERS' COMPENSATION

- 1) At the time of submitting its first progress claim, at the time of Substantial Performance of the Work, and prior to issuance of the Certificate of Completion, the Contractor shall provide evidence of compliance with workers' compensation legislation applicable to the place of the Work, including payments due thereunder.
- 2) At any time during the term of the Contract, when requested by Canada, the Contractor shall provide such evidence of compliance by the Contractor, its subcontractors and any other person at any tier and any other person performing part of the Work who is required to comply with such legislation.

#### GC1.9 NATIONAL SECURITY

- If the Minister determines that the Work is of a class or kind that involves national security, Canada may order the Contractor to
  - (a) provide Canada with any information concerning persons employed or to be employed by the Contractor for purposes of the Contract; and
  - (b) remove any person from the site of the Work if, in the opinion of Canada, that person may be a risk to the national security;
  - and the Contractor shall comply with the order.
- 2) In all contracts with persons and entities employed in the performance of the Contract, the Contractor shall make provision for the performance of any obligation that may be imposed upon the Contractor.

### **GC1.10 UNSUITABLE WORKERS**

 Canada shall instruct the Contractor to remove from the site of the Work any person employed by the Contractor for purposes of the Contract who, in the opinion of Canada, is incompetent or is guilty of improper conduct, and the Contractor shall not permit a person who has been removed to return to the site of the Work.

#### GC1.11 PUBLIC CEREMONIES AND SIGNS

- The Contractor shall not permit any public ceremony in connection with the Work without the prior consent of Canada.
- 2) The Contractor shall not erect nor permit the display of any sign or advertising on the Work site without the prior consent of Canada.

#### GC1.12 CONFLICT OF INTEREST

 It is a term of the Contract that no individual, for whom the post-employment provisions of the Conflict of Interest and Post-Employment Code for Public Office Holders or the Values and Ethics Code for the Public Service apply, shall derive a direct benefit from the Contract unless that individual is in compliance with the applicable post-employment provisions.

#### GC1.13 MEMBERS OF HOUSE OF COMMONS NOT TO BENEFIT

1) As required by the Parliament of Canada Act, it is an express condition of the Contract that no member of the House of Commons shall be admitted to any share or part of the Contract or to any benefit arising therefrom.

#### GC1.14 AGREEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS

- The Contract constitutes the entire and sole agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter of the Contract and supersedes all previous negotiations, communications and other agreements, whether written or oral, relating to it, unless they are incorporated by reference in the Contract. There are no terms, covenants, representations, statements or conditions binding on the parties other than those contained in the Contract.
- 2) The failure of either party at any time to require performance by the other party of any provision hereof shall not affect the right thereafter to enforce such provision. Nor shall the waiver by either party of any breach of any covenant, condition or provision hereof be taken or held to be a waiver of any further breach of the same covenant, condition or provision.
- 3) The Contract may be amended only as provided for and written in the Contract.

#### GC1.15 SUCCESSION

1) The Contract shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their lawful heirs, executors, administrators, successors and, subject to GC1.17 ASSIGNMENT, permitted assigns.

#### GC1.16 ASSIGNMENT

1) The Contractor shall not make any assignment of the Contract, either in whole or in part, without the written consent of the Minister.

#### GC1.17 NO BRIBE

The Contractor represents and covenants that no bribe, gift, benefit, nor other inducement has been nor will be paid, given, promised or offered directly or indirectly to any official or employee of Canada or to a member of the family of such a person, with a view to influencing the entry into the Contract or the administration of the Contract.

### **GC1.18 CERTIFICATION - CONTINGENCY FEES**

- The Contractor certifies that it has not directly or indirectly paid nor agreed to pay and covenants that it shall not directly or indirectly pay nor agree to pay a contingency fee for the solicitation, negotiation or obtaining of the Contract to any person other than an employee acting in the normal course of the employee's duties.
- 2) All accounts and records pertaining to payments of fees or other compensation for the solicitation, obtaining or negotiating of the Contract shall be subject to the accounts and audit provisions of the Contract.
- 3) If the Contractor certifies falsely under this section or is in default of the obligations contained therein, Canada may either take the Work out of the Contractor's hands in accordance with the provisions of the Contract or recover from the Contractor by way of reduction to the Contract Amount or otherwise the full amount of the contingency fee.

## **GC2 ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT**

## GC2.1 DEPARTMENTAL REPRESENTATIVE'S AUTHORITY

- 1) Canada shall designate a Departmental Representative and shall notify the Contractor of the name, address and telephone number of the Departmental Representative.
- The Departmental Representative shall perform Canada's duties and functions under the contract.
- 3) The Departmental Representative shall be authorized to issue notices, instructions and directions to the Contractor and to accept on behalf of Canada any notice, order or other communication from the contractor relating to the Work.
- 4) The Departmental Representative shall, within a reasonable time, review and respond to submissions made by the Contractor in accordance with the requirements of the Contract.

### GC2.2 INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT

- 1) If, at any time before Canada has issued a Certificate of Completion, any question arises between the parties about whether anything has been done as required by the Contract or about what the Contractor is required by the Contract to do, and in particular but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, about
  - (a) the meaning of anything in the Plans and Specifications;
  - (b) the meaning to be given to the Plans and Specifications in case of any error therein, omission therefrom, or obscurity or discrepancy in their wording or intention;
  - (c) whether or not the quality or quantity of any Material or workmanship supplied or proposed to be supplied by the Contractor meets the requirements of the Contract;
  - (d) whether or not the labour, Plant or Material performed, used and supplied by the Contractor for performing the Work and carrying out the Contract are adequate to ensure that the Work shall be performed in accordance with the Contract and that the Contract shall be carried out in accordance with its terms;
  - (e) what quantity of any of the Work has been completed by the Contractor; or
  - the timing and scheduling of the various phases of the performance of the Work as specified in the Contract;

the question shall be decided, subject to the provisions of GC8 DISPUTE RESOLUTION, by Canada.

- 2) The Contractor shall perform the Work in accordance with any decisions of Canada that are made under paragraph 3) of GC2.2 and in accordance with any consequential directions given by Canada.
- 3) If the Contractor fails to comply with any instruction or direction issued by Canada pursuant to the Contract, Canada may employ such methods as Canada deems advisable to do what the Contractor failed to do, and the Contractor shall, on demand, pay Canada an amount that is equal to the aggregate of all costs, expenses and damages incurred or sustained by Canada by reason of the Contractor's failure to comply with such instruction or direction, including the cost of any methods employed by Canada in doing what the Contractor failed to do.

## GC2.3 NOTICES

1) Subject to paragraph 3) of GC2.3, any notice, order or other communication may be given in any manner, and if required to be in writing, shall be addressed to the party to whom it is intended at the address in the Contract or at the last address of which the sender has received written notice in accordance with this section.

- 2) Any notice, order or other communication given in writing in accordance with paragraph 1) of GC2.3 shall be deemed to have been received by either party
  - (a) if delivered personally, on the day that it was delivered;
  - (b) if forwarded by mail, on the earlier of the day it was received or the sixth day after it was mailed; and
  - (c) if forwarded by facsimile or electronic mail, 24 hours after it was transmitted.
- 3) A notice given under GC7.1 TAKING THE WORK OUT OF THE CONTRACTOR'S HANDS, GC7.2 SUSPENSION OF WORK, and GC7.3 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT shall be given in writing and, if delivered personally, shall be delivered, if the Contractor is a sole proprietor, to the Contractor or, if the Contractor is a partnership or corporation, to an officer thereof.

## GC2.4 SITE MEETINGS

1) In consultation with Canada, the Contractor shall arrange site meetings at regular intervals, with all involved parties who are to attend, in order to ensure, among other things, the proper co-ordination of the Work.

### GC2.5 REVIEW AND INSPECTION OF WORK

- Canada shall review the Work to determine if it is proceeding in conformity with the Contract and to record the necessary data to make an assessment of the value of Work completed. Canada shall measure and record the quantities of labour, Plant and Material performed, used or supplied by the Contractor in performing the Work or any part thereof that is subject to a Unit Price Arrangement and, on request, shall inform the Contractor of those measurements, and permit the Contractor to inspect any records pertaining thereto.
- 2) Canada shall reject Work or Material which in Canada's opinion does not conform to the requirements of the Contract, and shall require inspection or testing of Work, whether or not such Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. If such Work is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract, the Contractor shall correct the Work and shall pay Canada, on demand, all reasonable costs and expenses that were incurred by Canada in having the examination performed.
- 3) The Contractor shall provide Canada with access to the Work and its site at all times, and at all times shall provide sufficient, safe, and proper facilities for the review and inspection of the Work by persons authorized by Canada and any representatives of those authorities having jurisdiction. If parts of the Work are in preparation at locations other than the site of the Work, Canada shall be given access to such Work whenever it is in progress.
- 4) The Contractor shall furnish Canada with such information respecting the performance of the Contract as Canada may require, and render every possible assistance to enable Canada to verify that the Work is performed in accordance with the Contract, carry out any other duties and exercise any powers in accordance with the Contract.
- 5) If Work is designated for tests, inspections, or approvals in the Contract or by Canada's instructions, or by laws or ordinances of the place of the Work, the Contractor shall give Canada reasonable notice of when such Work shall be ready for review and inspection. The Contractor shall arrange for and shall give Canada reasonable notice of the date and time of inspections, tests or approvals.
- 6) If the Contractor covers, or permits to be covered, Work that has been designated for tests, inspections or approvals before such tests, inspections or approvals are made, completed or given, the Contractor shall, if so directed by Canada, uncover such Work, have the inspections, tests or approvals satisfactorily made, completed or given and make good the covering of the Work at the Contractor's expense.

## GC2.6 SUPERINTENDENT

- 1) Prior to commencing the Work, the Contractor shall designate a Superintendent and shall notify Canada of the name, address and telephone number of the Superintendent. The Contractor shall keep the Superintendent at the Work site during working hours until the Work has reached completion.
- 2) The Superintendent shall be in full charge of the operations of the Contractor during the performance of the Work and shall be authorized to accept on behalf of the Contractor any notice, order or other communication given to the Superintendent or the Contractor relating to the Work.
- 3) Upon request of Canada, the Contractor shall remove any Superintendent who, in the opinion of Canada, is incompetent or has been guilty of improper conduct, and shall forthwith designate another Superintendent who is acceptable to Canada.
- 4) The Contractor shall not substitute a Superintendent without the written consent of Canada. If a Superintendent is substituted without such consent, Canada shall be entitled to refuse to issue any documentation or certification relating to progress payments, Substantial Performance or Completion of the Work until the Superintendent has returned to the Work site or another Superintendent who is acceptable to Canada has been substituted.

### GC2.7 NON-DISCRIMINATION IN HIRING AND EMPLOYMENT OF LABOUR

- 1) For the purposes of this clause, "persons" include the Contractor, its subcontractors and suppliers at any tier and their respective employees, agents, licensees or invitees and any other individual involved in the performance of the Work or granted access to the Work site. A "person" includes any partnership, proprietorship, firm, joint venture, consortium and corporation.
- 2) Without restricting the provisions of paragraph 3) of GC2.6, SUPERINTENDENT, the Contractor shall not refuse to employ and shall not discriminate in any manner against any person because
  - (a) of that person's race, national origin, colour, religion, age, sex or marital status;
  - (b) of the race, national origin, colour, religion, age, sex, or marital status of any person having any relationship or association with that person; or
  - (c) a complaint has been made or information has been given by or in respect of that person relating to an alleged failure by the Contractor to comply with subparagraphs 2)(a) and 2)(b) of GC2.7.
- 3) Within two Working Days immediately following receipt of a written complaint pursuant to paragraph 2) of GC2.7, the Contractor shall
  - (a) cause to have issued a written direction to the person or persons named by the complainant to cease all actions that form the basis of the complaint;
  - (b) forward a copy of the complaint to Canada by registered mail or courier service; and
  - (c) when the Labour Conditions are applicable under the circumstances of the complaint, forward a copy of the complaint to HRDC - Labour to the attention of the appropriate Director as described in the Labour Conditions ("HRDC - Labour" means the labour component of the federal Department of Human Resources Development).
- 4) Within twenty four (24) hours immediately following receipt of a direction from Canada to do so, the Contractor shall cause to have removed from the site of the Work and from the performance of Work under the Contract, any person or persons whom Canada believes to be in breach of the provisions of paragraph 2) of GC2.7.
- 5) No later than thirty (30) days after receipt of the direction referred to in paragraph 4) of GC2.7, the Contractor shall cause the necessary action to be commenced to remedy the breach described in the direction.

- 6) If a direction is issued pursuant to paragraph 4) of GC2.7, Canada may withhold from monies that are due and payable to the Contractor or setoff pursuant to GC5.9 RIGHT OF SETOFF, whichever is applicable, an amount representing the sum of the costs and payment referred to in paragraph 8) of GC2.7.
- 7) If the Contractor fails to proceed in accordance with paragraph 5) of GC2.7, Canada shall take the necessary action to have the breach remedied, and shall determine all supplementary costs incurred by Canada as a result.
- 8) Canada may make a payment directly to the complainant from monies that are due and payable to the Contractor upon receipt from the complainant of
  - (a) a written award issued pursuant to the federal Commercial Arbitration Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. 17 (2nd Supp.);
  - (b) a written award issued pursuant to the Canadian Human Rights Act, RS.C. 1985, c. H-6;
  - (c) a written award issued pursuant to provincial or territorial human rights legislation; or
  - (d) a judgement issued by a court of competent jurisdiction.
- 9) If Canada is of the opinion that the Contractor has breached any of the provisions of this clause, Canada may take the Work out of the Contractor's hands pursuant to GC 7.1 TAKING THE WORK OUT OF THE CONTRACTOR'S HANDS.
- 10) Subject to paragraph 7) of GC3.6 SUBCONTRACTING, the Contractor shall ensure that the provisions of this clause are included in all agreements and contracts entered into as a consequence of the Work.

## GC2.8 ACCOUNTS AND AUDITS

- The Contractor shall, in addition to the requirements expressed in paragraph 5) of GC3.4 EXECUTION OF THE WORK, maintain full records of the Contractor's estimated and actual cost of the Work together with all tender calls, quotations, contracts, correspondence, invoices, receipts and vouchers relating thereto, and shall make them available on request to audit and inspection by Canada and the Deputy Receiver General for Canada or by persons designated to act on behalf of either or both of them.
- 2) The Contractor shall allow any of the persons referred to in paragraph 1) of GC2.8 to make copies of and take extracts from any of the records and material, and shall furnish such persons or entities with any information those persons or entities may require from time to time in connection with such records and material.
- 3) The Contractor shall maintain and keep the records intact until the expiration of two years after the date that a Certificate of Completion has been issued or until the expiration of such other period of time as Canada may direct.
- 4) The Contractor shall cause all subcontractors at any tier and all other persons directly or indirectly controlled by or affiliated with the Contractor and all persons directly or indirectly having control of the Contractor to comply with the requirements of this clause as if they were the Contractor.

### **GC3 EXECUTION AND CONTROL OF THE WORK**

### **GC3.1 PROGRESS SCHEDULE**

- 1) The Contractor shall
  - (a) prepare and submit to Canada, prior to the submission of the Contractor's first progress claim, a progress schedule in accordance with the requirements set out in the Contract;

- b) monitor the progress of the Work relative to the schedule and update the schedule as stipulated by the contract documents:
- advise Canada of any revisions to the schedule required as the result of any extension of time for completion of the Contract that was approved by Canada; and
- (d) prepare and submit to Canada, at the time of issuance of an Certificate of Substantial Performance, an update of any schedule clearly showing a detailed timetable that is acceptable to Canada for the completion of any unfinished Work and the correction of all listed defects.

#### GC3.2 ERRORS AND OMISSIONS

The Contractor shall report promptly to Canada any errors, discrepancies, or omissions the Contractor may discover when reviewing the contract documents. In making a review, the Contractor does not assume any responsibility to Canada for the accuracy of the review. The Contractor shall not be liable for damage or costs resulting from such errors, discrepancies, or omissions in the contract documents prepared by or on behalf of Canada that the Contractor did not discover.

### **GC3.3 CONSTRUCTION SAFETY**

- The Contractor shall be solely responsible for construction safety at the place of the Work and for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the performance of the Work. In any emergency, the Contractor shall either stop the Work, make changes or order extra work to ensure the safety of life and the protection of the Work and neighbouring property.
- Prior to commencing the Work, the Contractor shall notify the authorities having jurisdiction for construction safety at the site of the Work with respect to the intended commencement of the Work, and shall provide such authority with whatever additional information may be required by that authority.
- 3) The Contractor shall not load nor permit to be loaded any part of the Work or its site with a weight or force that shall endanger the safety of the Work.
- 4) The Contractor hereby represents and warrants to Canada that appropriate health and safety instruction and training have been provided and will be provided to the Contractor's employees and sub-contractors, and if requested by Canada, the Contractor shall provide proof of the same satisfactory to Canada prior to commencing the Work.
- 5) If required by the Occupational Health and Safety Acts and Regulations of the province or territory where the Work is to be undertaken, the Contractor shall establish and maintain a joint health and safety committee and / or trades health and safety committee for the Work.
- 6) The Contractor's site supervisor shall perform a health and safety inspection of all parts of the Work site every day and shall record his / her observations using a form acceptable to Canada or its representative, and shall provide a copy of the completed inspection form to Canada or its representative forthwith upon completion of the inspection.
- 7) The Contractor shall advise *Canada* or its representative forthwith of any accident, injury, near-miss incident, fire, explosion or chemical spill occurring at the Work site, and of any visit to the site by a governmental enforcement official.
- 8) The Contractor shall document any identified instances of non-compliance with safety requirements by its workers and subcontractors. Where any worker or subcontractor breaches LIFE THREATENING SAFETY REQUIREMENTS and thereby presents a threat of serious injury or death to any person, the Contractor shall remove that worker or subcontractor from the project site for the duration of the project. Where any worker or subcontractor breaches any SAFETY REQUIREMENT, a total of three (3) times, then the Contractor shall remove that worker or subcontractor from the project site for the duration of the project. The Contractor shall establish requirement for compliance, and this expulsion penalty for non-compliance, as a term of any agreement between the Contractor and its sub-contractors. The Contractor shall indemnify and save harmless

Canada in respect of any claims made by any party against Canada in consequence of the Contractor's enforcement of site safety requirements, and removal from the site of any party.

- 9) The Contractor shall familiarize itself with, and ensure that its personnel comply with, the requirements of Canada's standards, rules, policies and procedures, if any, that are applicable to the Work site and the Place of Work.
- 10) The Contractor shall ensure that the Contractor's workers, subcontractors and any other persons permitted access to the Place of Work by the Contractor or Canada have and use, and are provided with instruction in the use of, any and all of the following protective equipment, devices and clothing, as warranted in the circumstances: safety hard hats, eye protection, face protection, hearing protection, impervious disposal coveralls, impervious shoe covers.
- 11) The Contractor shall make available and supply for use by visitors to the site, at no cost, the following types of personal protective equipment, as warranted in the circumstances: safety hard hats, eye protection, face protection, hearing protection, respiratory protection, impervious disposal coveralls, impervious shoe covers.
- 12) The Contractor shall ensure that the Contractor's workers, subcontractors and any other persons permitted access to the Place of Work by the Contractor or *Canada* are informed of every known or foreseeable health and safety hazard to which they are likely to be exposed at the Place of Work.

#### GC3.4 EXECUTION OF THE WORK

- The Contractor shall perform, use or supply and pay for, all labour, Plant, Material, tools, construction machinery and equipment, water, heat, light, power, transportation, and other facilities and services necessary for the performance of the Work in accordance with the Contract.
- 2) The Contractor shall, at all times, perform the Work in a proper, diligent and expeditious manner as is consistent with construction industry standards and in accordance with the progress schedule prepared pursuant to GC3.1 PROGRESS SCHEDULE, and shall provide sufficient personnel to fulfil the Contractor's obligations in accordance with that schedule.
- 3) Subject to paragraph 4) of GC3.4, the Contractor shall have complete care, custody and control of the Work and shall direct and supervise the Work so as to ensure compliance with the Contract. The Contractor shall be responsible for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures and for coordinating the various parts of the Work.
- 4) When requested in writing by Canada, the Contractor shall make appropriate alterations in the method, Plant or workforce at any time Canada considers the Contractor's actions to be unsafe or damaging to either the Work, existing facilities, persons at the site of the Work or the environment.
- 5) The Contractor shall have sole responsibility for the design, erection, operation, maintenance and removal of temporary structures and other temporary facilities and for the construction methods used in their erection, operation, maintenance and removal. The Contractor shall engage and pay for registered professional engineering personnel, skilled in the appropriate discipline to perform these functions if required by law or by the Contract, and in all cases when such temporary facilities and their methods of construction are of such a nature that professional engineering skill is required to produce safe and satisfactory results.
- 6) The Contractor shall keep at least one copy of current contract documents, submittals, reports, and records of meetings at the site of the Work, in good order and available to Canada.
- 7) Except for any part of the Work that is necessarily performed away from or off the site of the Work, the Contractor shall confine Plant, storage of Material, and operations of employees to limits indicated by laws, ordinances, permits or the contract documents.

### **GC3.5 MATERIAL**

- Unless otherwise specified in the Contract, all Material incorporated in the Work shall be new.
- 2) Subject to paragraph 3) of GC3.5, if a specified reused, refurbished, or recycled item of Material is not available, the Contractor shall apply to Canada to substitute a similar item for the one specified.
- 3) If Canada agrees that the Contractor's application for substitution of a reused, refurbished or recycled item is warranted, and that the substitute item is of acceptable quality and value to that specified and is suitable for the intended purpose, Canada may approve the substitution, subject to the following:
  - (a) the request for substitution shall be made in writing to Canada and shall be substantiated by information in the form of the manufacturer's literature, samples and other data that may be required by Canada;
  - (b) the Contractor shall make the request for substitution in a manner that shall not negatively affect the progress schedule of the Contract and well in advance of the time the item of Material must be ordered;
  - (c) substitution of Material shall be permitted only with the prior written approval of Canada, and any substituted items that are supplied or installed without such approval shall be removed from the site of the Work at the expense of the Contractor, and specified items installed at no additional cost to Canada; and
  - (d) the Contractor shall be responsible for all additional expenses incurred by Canada, the Contractor, its subcontractors and suppliers at any tier due to the Contractor's use of the substitute.

#### GC3.6 SUBCONTRACTING

- Subject to the provisions of this clause, the Contractor may subcontract any part of the Work but not the whole
  of the Work.
- The Contractor shall notify Canada in writing of the Contractor's intention to subcontract.
- 3) A notification referred to in paragraph 2) of GC3.6 shall identify the part of the Work and the Subcontractor with whom the Contractor intends to subcontract.
- 4) Canada may for reasonable cause, object to the intended subcontracting by notifying the Contractor in writing within six (6) days of receipt by Canada of a notification referred to in paragraph 2) of GC3.6.
- If Canada objects to a subcontracting, the Contractor shall not enter into the intended subcontract.
- 6) The Contractor shall not change, nor permit to be changed, a Subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, in accordance with this clause, without the written consent of Canada.
- 7) The Contractor shall ensure that all the terms and conditions of the Contract that are of general application shall be incorporated in every other contract issued as a consequence of the Contract, at whatever tier, except those contracts issued solely to suppliers at any tier for the supply of Plant or Material.
- 8) Neither a subcontracting nor Canada's consent to a subcontracting shall be construed to relieve the Contractor from any obligation under the Contract or to impose any liability upon Canada.

### GC3.7 CONSTRUCTION BY OTHER CONTRACTORS OR WORKERS

- 1) Canada reserves the right to send other contractors or workers, with or without Plant and Material, onto the site of the Work.
- 2) When other contractors or workers are sent on to the site of the Work, Canada shall
  - enter into separate contracts, to the extent it is possible, with the other contractors under conditions of contract that are compatible with the conditions of the Contract;

- (b) ensure that the insurance coverage provided by the other contractors is co-ordinated with the insurance coverage of the Contractor as it affects the Work; and
- (c) take all reasonable precautions to avoid labour disputes or other disputes arising from the work of the other contractors or workers.
- When other contractors or workers are sent on to the site of the Work, the Contractor shall
  - (a) co-operate with them in the carrying out of their duties and obligations;
  - (b) co-ordinate and schedule the Work with the work of the other contractors and workers;
  - participate with other contractors and workers in reviewing their construction schedules when directed to do so; and
  - (d) where part of the Work is affected by or depends upon the work of other contractors or workers for its proper execution, promptly report to Canada in writing and prior to proceeding with that part of the Work, any apparent deficiencies in such work. Failure by the Contractor to so report shall invalidate any claims against Canada by reason of the deficiencies in the work of other contractors or workers except those deficiencies that are not then reasonably discoverable.
  - (e) when designated as the constructor in accordance with the applicable provincial or territorial laws, carry out its duties in that role and in accordance with those laws.
- 4) If, when entering into the Contract, the Contractor could not have reasonably foreseen nor anticipated the sending of other contractors or workers on to the site of the Work and provided the Contractor
  - (a) incurs extra expense in complying with the requirements of paragraph 3) of GC3.7; and
  - (b) gives Canada written notice of a claim for that extra expense within thirty (30) days of the date that the other contractors or workers were sent onto the Work or its site;

    Canada pay the Contractor the cost of the extra labour, Plant and Material that was necessarily incurred, calculated in accordance with GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE.

## **GC3.8 LABOUR AND FAIR WAGES**

- 1) The Labour Conditions and Fair Wage Schedule form part of these General Conditions
- 2) To the extent to which they are available, consistent with proper economy and the expeditious carrying out of the Work, the Contractor shall, in the performance of the Work, employ a reasonable number of persons who have been on active service with the Armed Forces of Canada and have been honourably discharged therefrom.
- 3) The Contractor shall maintain good order and discipline among the Contractor's employees and workers engaged in the Work and shall not employ on the site of the Work anyone not skilled in the tasks assigned.

## GC3.9 MATERIAL. PLANT AND REAL PROPERTY BECOME PROPERTY OF CANADA

- Subject to paragraph 9) of GC1.8 LAWS PERMITS AND TAXES, all Material and Plant and the interest of the Contractor in all real property, licences, powers and privileges purchased, used or consumed by the Contractor for the Work shall, immediately after the time of their purchase, use or consumption be the property of Canada for the purposes of the Work and they shall continue to be the property of Canada
  - (a) in the case of Material, until Canada indicates that the Materials shall not be required for the Work; and
  - (b) in the case of Plant, real property, licences, powers and privileges, until Canada indicates that the interest vested in Canada therein is no longer required for the purposes of the Work.

- 2) Material or Plant, that is the property of Canada by virtue of paragraph 1) of GC3.9, shall not be taken away from the site of the Work nor used nor disposed of except for the purposes of the Work without the written consent of Canada.
- 3) Canada is not liable for loss of nor damage from any cause to the Material or Plant referred to in paragraph 1) of GC3.9, and the Contractor is liable for such loss or damage notwithstanding that the Material or Plant is the property of Canada.

## **GC3.10 DEFECTIVE WORK**

- The Contractor shall promptly remove from the site of the Work and replace or re-execute defective Work whether or not the defective Work has been incorporated in the Work and whether or not the defect is the result of poor workmanship, use of defective Material, or damage through carelessness or other act or omission of the Contractor.
- The Contractor, at the Contractor's expense, shall promptly make good other work destroyed or damaged by such removals or replacements.
- 3) If, in the opinion of Canada, it is not expedient to correct defective Work or Work not performed as provided for in the Contract documents, Canada may deduct from the amount otherwise due to the Contractor the difference in value between the Work as performed and that called for by the contract documents.
- 4) The failure of Canada to reject any defective Work or Material shall not constitute acceptance of the defective Work or Material.

### GC3.11 CLEANUP OF SITE

- The Contractor shall maintain the Work and its site in a tidy condition and free from an accumulation of waste material and debris.
- 2) Before the issue of a Certificate of Substantial Performance, the Contractor shall remove waste material and debris, and all Plant and Material not required for the performance of the remaining Work and, unless otherwise stipulated in the Contract Documents, shall cause the Work and its site to be clean and suitable for occupancy by Canada.
- 3) Before the issue of a Certificate of Completion, the Contractor shall remove all surplus Plant and Materials and any waste products and debris from the site of the Work.
- 4) The Contractor's obligations described in paragraphs 1) to 3) of GC3.11 do not extend to waste products and other debris caused by Canada's servants, or by other contractors and workers referred to in GC3.7 CONSTRUCTION BY OTHER CONTRACTORS OR WORKERS.

## GC3.12 WARRANTY AND RECTIFICATION OF DEFECTS IN WORK

- 1) Without restricting any warranty or guarantee implied or imposed by law or contained in the Contract, the Contractor shall, at the Contractor's expense
  - (a) rectify and make good any defect or fault that appears in the Work or comes to the attention of Canada with respect to those parts of the Work accepted in connection with the Certificate of Substantial Performance within 12 months from the date of Substantial Performance; and
  - (b) rectify and make good any defect or fault that appears in or comes to the attention of Canada in connection with those parts of the Work described in the Certificate of Substantial Performance within 12 months from the date of the Certificate of Completion.
  - (c) transfer and assign, to Canada, any subcontractor, manufacturer or supplier extended warranties or guarantees implied or imposed by law or contained in the Contract covering periods beyond the 12 months stipulated above. Extended warranties or guarantees referred to herein shall not extend the 12-

month period whereby the Contractor, except as may be provided elsewhere in the Contract, must rectify and make good any defect or fault that appears in the Work or comes to the attention of Canada.

- (d) provide, to Canada prior to the issuance of the Certificate of Completion, a list of all extended warranties and guarantees referred to in paragraph (c) above.
- 2) Canada may direct the Contractor to rectify and make good any defect or fault referred to in paragraph 1) of GC3.12 or covered by any other expressed or implied warranty or guarantee and the Contractor shall rectify and make good such defect within the time stipulated in the direction.
- 3) A direction referred to in paragraph 2) GC3.12 shall be in writing and shall be given to the Contractor in accordance with GC2.3 NOTICES.

## **GC4 PROTECTIVE MEASURES**

### **GC4.1 PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY**

- The Contractor shall protect the Work and its site against loss or damage from any cause and shall similarly protect all Material, Plant and real property under the Contractor's care, custody and control whether or not such Material, Plant and real property are supplied by Canada to the Contractor.
- 2) The Contractor shall provide all facilities necessary for the purpose of maintaining security, and shall assist any person authorized by Canada to inspect or to take security measures in respect of the Work and its site.
- 3) Canada may direct the Contractor to do such things and to perform such work as Canada considers reasonable and necessary to ensure compliance with or to remedy a breach of paragraphs 1) or 2) of GC4.1, and the Contractor, shall comply with such direction.

### GC4.2 PRECAUTIONS AGAINST DAMAGE, INFRINGEMENT OF RIGHTS, FIRE AND OTHER HAZARDS

- The Contractor shall do whatever is necessary to ensure that
  - (a) no person, property, right, easement nor privilege is injured, damaged or infringed upon by reasons of the Contractor's activities in performing the Work:
  - (b) pedestrian and other traffic on any public or private road or waterway is not unduly impeded, interrupted nor endangered by the performance or existence of the Work, Material or Plant;
  - (c) fire hazards in or about the site of the Work are eliminated and any fire is promptly extinguished;
  - (d) the health and safety of all persons employed in the performance of the Work is not endangered by the methods nor means of its performance;
  - (e) adequate medical services are available to all persons employed on the Work or its site at all times during the performance of the Work;
  - (f) adequate sanitation measures are taken in respect of the Work and its site; and
  - (g) all stakes, buoys and marks placed on the Work or its site by Canada are protected and are not removed, defaced, altered nor destroyed.
- 2) Canada may direct the Contractor to do such things and to perform such work as Canada considers reasonable and necessary to ensure compliance with or to remedy a breach of paragraph 1) of GC4.2, and the Contractor shall comply with the direction of Canada.

### GC4.3 MATERIAL, PLANT AND REAL PROPERTY SUPPLIED BY CANADA

- Subject to paragraph 2) of GC4.3, the Contractor is liable to Canada for any loss of or damage to Material, Plant or real property that is supplied or placed in the care, custody and control of the Contractor by Canada for use in connection with the Contract, whether or not that loss or damage is attributable to causes beyond the Contractor's control.
- The Contractor is not liable to Canada for any loss or damage to Material, Plant or real property referred to in paragraph 1) of GC4.3 if that loss or damage results from and is directly attributable to reasonable wear and tear.
- 3) The Contractor shall not use any Material, Plant or real property supplied by Canada except for the purpose of performing the Contract.
- 4) When the Contractor fails to make good any loss or damage for which the Contractor is liable under paragraph 1) within a reasonable time, Canada may cause the loss or damage to be made good at the Contractor's expense, and the Contractor shall thereupon be liable to Canada for the cost thereof and shall, on demand, pay to Canada an amount equal to that cost.
- 5) The Contractor shall keep records of all Material, Plant and real property supplied by Canada as Canada requires and shall satisfy Canada, when requested, that such Material, Plant and real property are at the place and in the condition in which they ought to be.

### **GC4.4 CONTAMINATED SITE CONDITIONS**

- 1) For the purposes of GC4.4, a contaminated site condition exists when a solid, liquid, gaseous, thermal or radioactive irritant or contaminant, or other hazardous or toxic substance or material, including moulds and other forms of fungi, is present at the site of the Work to an extent that constitutes a hazard, or potential hazard, to the environment, property, or the health or safety of any person.
- 2) If the Contractor encounters a contaminated site condition of which the Contractor is not aware or about which the Contractor has not been advised, or if the Contractor has reasonable grounds to believe that such a site condition exists at the site of the Work, the Contractor shall
  - take all reasonable steps, including stopping the Work, to ensure that no person suffers injury, sickness
    or death, and that neither property nor the environment is injured or destroyed as a result of the
    contaminated site condition;
  - (b) immediately notify Canada of the circumstances in writing; and
  - (c) take all reasonable steps to minimize additional costs that may accrue as a result of any work stoppage.
- 3) Upon receipt of a notification from the Contractor, Canada shall promptly determine whether a contaminated site condition exists, and shall notify the Contractor in writing of any action to be taken, or work to be performed, by the Contractor as a result of Canada's determination.
- 4) If the Contractor's services are required by Canada, the Contractor shall follow the direction of Canada with regard to any excavation, treatment, removal and disposal of any polluting substance or material.
- 5) Canada, at Canada's sole discretion, may enlist the services of experts and specialty contractors to assist in determining the existence of, and the extent and treatment of contaminated site conditions, and the Contractor shall allow them access and co-operate with them in the carrying out of their duties and obligations.
- 6) Except as may be otherwise provided for in the Contract, the provisions of GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE shall apply to any additional work made necessary because of a contaminated site condition.

## **GC5 TERMS OF PAYMENT**

## **GC5.1 INTERPRETATION**

In these Terms of Payment

- The "payment period" means a period of 30 consecutive days or such other longer period as may be agreed between the Contractor and Canada.
- An amount is "due and payable" when it is due and payable by Canada to the Contractor according to GC5.4 PROGRESS PAYMENT, GC5.5 SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK or GC5.6 FINAL COMPLETION.
- 3) An amount is overdue when it remains unpaid on the first day following the day upon which it is due and payable.
- 4) The "date of payment" means the date of the negotiable instrument of an amount due and payable by the Receiver General for Canada.
- 5) The "Bank Rate" means the rate of interest established by the Bank of Canada as the minimum rate at which it makes short term advances to members of the Canadian Payments Association.
- 6) The "Average Bank Rate" means the simple arithmetic mean of the Bank Rate in effect at 4:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time each day during the calendar month which immediately precedes the calendar month in which payment is made.

## **GC5.2 AMOUNT PAYABLE**

- Subject to any other provisions of the Contract, Canada shall pay the Contractor, at the times and in the manner hereinafter set out, the amount by which the amounts payable by Canada to the Contractor in accordance with the Contract exceed the amounts payable by the Contractor to Canada, and the Contractor shall accept that amount as payment in full satisfaction for everything furnished and done by the Contractor in respect of the Work to which the payment relates.
- 2) When making any payment to the Contractor, the failure of Canada to deduct an amount payable to Canada by the Contractor shall not constitute a waiver of the right to do so, or an admission of lack of entitlement to do so in any subsequent payment to the Contractor.
- 3) No payment other than a payment that is expressly stipulated in the Contract, shall be made by Canada to the Contractor for any extra expense or any loss or damage incurred or sustained by the Contractor.

## GC5.3 INCREASED OR DECREASED COSTS

- The Contract Amount shall not be increased nor decreased by reason of any increase or decrease in the cost of the Work that is brought about by an increase or decrease in the cost of labour, Plant, Material or any wage adjustment arising pursuant to the Labour Conditions.
- 2) Notwithstanding paragraph 1) of GC5.3, if any change, including a new imposition or repeal, of any tax, customs or other duty, charge, or any similar imposition that is imposed under sales, customs or excise tax legislation of the Government of Canada or any Provincial or Territorial legislation, affects the cost of the Work to the Contractor, and occurs
  - (a) after the date of submission by the Contractor of its tender; or
  - (b) after the date of submission of the last revision, if the Contractor's tender was revised;

the Contract Amount shall be adjusted in the manner provided in paragraph 3) of GC5.3.

- 3) If a change referred to in paragraph 2) of GC5.3 occurs, the Contract Amount shall be increased or decreased by an amount established by an examination by Canada of the relevant records of the Contractor referred to in GC2.8 ACCOUNTS AND AUDITS to be the increase or decrease in the cost incurred by the Contractor that is directly attributable to that change.
- 4) For the purpose of paragraph 2) of GC5.3, if a tax is changed after the tender closing, but public notice of the change has been given by the Minister of Finance or the corresponding Provincial or Territorial authority before that closing, the change shall be deemed to have occurred before the tender closing.
- 5) Notwithstanding paragraphs 2) to 4) of GC5.3, no adjustment to the Contract Amount in respect of the Work or a part thereof shall be made for a change in any imposition referred to in this section that occurs after the date required by the Contract for completion of the Work or that part of the Work.

## **GC5.4 PROGRESS PAYMENT**

- 1) On the expiration of a payment period, the Contractor shall deliver to Canada
  - a written progress claim in a form acceptable to Canada that fully describes any part of the Work that has been completed, and any Material that was delivered to the Work site but not incorporated into the Work, during that payment period, and
  - (b) a completed and signed statutory declaration containing a declaration that, up to the date of the progress claim, the Contractor has complied with all lawful obligations with respect to the Labour Conditions and that, in respect of the Work, all lawful obligations of the Contractor to its Subcontractors and Suppliers, referred to collectively in the declaration as "subcontractors and suppliers", have been fully discharged.
- 2) Within 10 days of receipt of a progress claim and statutory declaration from the Contractor, Canada shall inspect, or cause to have inspected, the part of the Work and the Material described in the progress claim, and shall issue a progress report to the Contractor, that indicates the value of the part of the Work and the Material described in the progress claim that, in the opinion of Canada
  - (a) is in accordance with the Contract; and
  - (b) was not included in any other progress report relating to the Contract.
- 3) Subject to GC5.2 AMOUNT PAYABLE, and paragraph 5) of GC5.4, Canada shall pay the Contractor an amount that is equal to
  - (a) 95% of the value that is indicated in Canada's progress report if a labour and material payment bond has been furnished by the Contractor; or
  - (b) 90% of the value that is indicated in Canada's progress report if a labour and material payment bond has not been furnished by the Contractor.
- 4) Canada shall pay the amount referred to in paragraph 3) of GC5.4 not later than
  - (a) 30 days after receipt by Canada of both a progress claim and a statutory declaration referred to in paragraph 1) of GC5.4; or
  - (b) 15 days after receipt by Canada of the Contractor's progress schedule or updated progress schedule, in accordance with GC3.1 PROGRESS SCHEDULE,

whichever is later.

5) In the case of the Contractor's first progress claim, it is a condition precedent to Canada's obligation under paragraph 3) of GC5.4 that the Contractor has provided all necessary documentation required by the Contract

for the first progress claim and has provided evidence of compliance with workers' compensation legislation applicable to the place of the Work in accordance with GC1.9 WORKERS' COMPENSATION.

## GC5.5 SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK

- If, at any time before the issuance of a Certificate of Completion, Canada determines that the Work has reached Substantial Performance as described in subparagraph 1) (b) of GC1.1.4 SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE, Canada shall issue a Certificate of Substantial Performance to the Contractor. The Certificate of Substantial Performance shall state or describe
  - (a) the date of Substantial Performance;
  - (b) the parts of the Work not completed to the satisfaction of Canada; and
  - (c) all things that must be done by the Contractor before a Certificate of Completion is issued and before the 12-month warranty period referred to in GC3.12 WARRANTY AND RECTIFICATION OF DEFECTS IN WORK commences for the said parts and all the said things.
- 2) The issuance of a Certificate of Substantial Performance does not relieve the Contractor from the Contractor's obligations under GC3.10 DEFECTIVE WORK.
- 3) Subject to GC5.2 AMOUNT PAYABLE and paragraph 4) of GC5.5, Canada shall pay the Contractor the amount referred to in paragraph 1) of GC5.2 AMOUNT PAYABLE, less the aggregate of
  - (a) the sum of all payments that were made pursuant to GC5.4 PROGRESS PAYMENT;
  - (b) an amount that is equal to Canada's estimate of the cost to Canada of rectifying defects described in the Certificate of Substantial Performance; and
  - (c) an amount that is equal to Canada's estimate of the cost to Canada of completing the parts of the Work described in the Certificate of Substantial Performance other than defects listed therein.
- 4) Canada shall pay the amount referred to in paragraph 3) of GC5.5 not later than
  - (a) 30 days after the date of issue of a Certificate of Substantial Performance, or
  - (b) 15 days after the Contractor has delivered to Canada
    - a statutory declaration containing a declaration by the Contractor that up to the date of the Certificate of Substantial Performance, the Contractor has complied with all lawful obligations with respect to the Labour Conditions, discharged all its lawful obligations to its Subcontractors and Suppliers in respect of the work under the Contract, and discharged its lawful obligations referred to in GC1.8 LAWS, PERMITS AND TAXES;
    - (ii) evidence of compliance with workers' compensation legislation in accordance with GC1.9 WORKERS' COMPENSATION; and
    - (iii) an update of the progress schedule in accordance with the requirements of GC3.1 PROGRESS SCHEDULE;

whichever is later.

## **GC5.6 FINAL COMPLETION**

- When Canada is of the opinion that the Contractor has complied with the Contract and all orders and directions made pursuant thereto, and that the Work has been completed as described in GC1.1.5 COMPLETION, Canada shall issue a Certificate of Completion to the Contractor and, if the Work or a portion of the Work is subject to a Unit Price Arrangement, Canada shall issue a Certificate of Measurement that shall, subject to GC 8, be binding upon and conclusive between Canada and the Contractor as to the quantities referred to therein.
- Subject to GC5.2 AMOUNT PAYABLE and paragraph 3) of GC5.6, Canada shall pay the Contractor the amount referred to in GC5.2 AMOUNT PAYABLE, less the aggregate of the sum of all payments that were made pursuant to GC5.4 PROGRESS PAYMENT and GC5.5 SUBSTANTIAL PERFORMANCE OF WORK.
- 3) Canada shall pay the amount referred to in paragraph 2) of GC5.6 not later than
  - (a) 60 days after the date of issue of a Certificate of Completion; or
  - (b) 15 days after the Contractor has delivered to Canada
    - a statutory declaration which contains a declaration by the Contractor that all of the Contractor's lawful obligations and any lawful claims against the Contractor that arose out of the performance of the Contract have been discharged and satisfied; and
    - (ii) evidence of compliance with workers' compensation legislation in accordance with GC1.9 WORKERS' COMPENSATION; whichever is later.

## GC5.7 PAYMENT NOT BINDING ON CANADA

Neither acceptance of a progress claim or progress report, nor any payment made by Canada under the Contract, nor partial or entire use or occupancy of the Work by Canada shall constitute an acceptance by Canada of any portion of the Work or Material that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract.

#### GC5.8 CLAIMS AND OBLIGATIONS

- The Contractor shall discharge all the Contractor's lawful obligations and shall satisfy all lawful claims against the Contractor arising out of the performance of the Work at least as often as the Contract requires Canada to pay the Contractor.
- Whenever requested to do so by Canada, the Contractor shall make a statutory declaration declaring to the existence and condition of any obligations and claims against the Contractor arising out of the performance of the Work.
- 3) In order to discharge lawful obligations of and satisfy lawful claims against the Contractor or its Subcontractors arising out of the performance of the Contract, Canada may pay an amount that is due and payable to the Contractor directly to the claimant. Such payment is, to the extent of the payment, a discharge of Canada's liability to the Contractor under the Contract and may be deducted from any amount payable to the Contractor under the Contract.
- 4) For the purposes of paragraph 3) of GC5.8, and subject to paragraph 6) of GC5.8, a claim or obligation shall be considered lawful when it is so determined by
  - (a) a court of legal jurisdiction;
  - (b) an arbitrator duly appointed to arbitrate the claim; or
  - (c) the written consent of the Contractor authorizing payment of the claim or obligation.

- 5) If a claim or obligation would have been subject to the provisions of Provincial or Territorial lien legislation or, in the Province of Quebec, the law relating to legal hypothecs had the Contractor been performing the Work for an entity other than Canada
  - (a) such amount as may be paid by Canada pursuant to paragraphs 3) and 4) of GC5.8 shall not exceed the amount that the Contractor would have been obliged to pay had the provisions of such legislation or law been applicable to the Work;
  - (b) a claimant need not comply with the provisions of such legislation, setting out the steps by way of notice, registration or otherwise as might have been necessary to preserve or perfect any claim for lien or privilege which the claimant might have had; and
  - (c) for the purposes of determining the entitlement of a claimant, the notice required by paragraph 8) of GC5.8 shall be deemed to replace the registration or provision of notice after the performance of work as required by any applicable legislation and no claim shall be deemed to have expired, become void or unenforceable by reason of the claimant not commencing any action within the time prescribed by such legislation.
- 6) The Contractor shall, at the request of any claimant, submit to binding arbitration those questions that need to be answered to establish the entitlement of the claimant to payment. The arbitration shall have as parties to it any Subcontractor or Supplier to whom the claimant supplied Material, performed work or rented equipment should such Subcontractor or Supplier wish to be adjoined, and Canada shall not be a party to such arbitration. Subject to any agreement between the Contractor and the claimant, the arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the governing Provincial or Territorial legislation applicable to the site of the Work.
- 7) Paragraph 3) of GC5.8 shall apply only to claims and obligations
  - (a) the notification of which has set forth the amount claimed to be owing and the person who by contract is primarily liable and has been received by Canada in writing before final payment is made to the Contractor pursuant to GC5.6 FINAL COMPLETION, and within 120 days of the date on which the claimant
    - (i) should have been paid in full under the claimant's contract with the Contractor, its Subcontractor or Supplier if the claim is for money that was lawfully required to be held back from the claimant; or
    - (ii) performed the last of the services, work or labour, or furnished the last of the Material pursuant to the claimant's contract with the Contractor or its Subcontractor or Supplier where the claim is for money not lawfully required to be held back from the claimant; and
  - (b) the proceedings to determine the right to payment of which, pursuant to paragraph 5) of GC5.8, shall have commenced within one year from the date that the notification required by subparagraph 7)(a) of GC5.8 was received by Canada.
- 8) Upon receipt of a notice of claim, Canada may withhold, from any amount that is due and payable to the Contractor pursuant to the Contract, the full amount of the claim or any portion thereof.
- Canada shall notify the Contractor in writing in a timely manner of receipt of any claim and of the intention of Canada to withhold funds. At any time thereafter and until payment is made to the claimant, the Contractor may be entitled to post, with Canada, security in a form acceptable to Canada in an amount equal to the value of the claim, and upon receipt of such security Canada shall release to the Contractor any funds that would be otherwise payable to the Contractor, that were withheld pursuant to the provisions of this clause in respect of the claim of any claimant for whom the security stands.

## GC5.9 RIGHT OF SETOFF

- Without limiting any right of setoff or deduction given or implied by law or elsewhere in the Contract, Canada
  may set off any amount payable to Canada by the Contractor under the Contract, or under any current
  contract, against any amount payable to the Contractor under the Contract.
- 2) For the purposes of paragraph 1) of GC5.9, "current contract" means a contract between Canada and the Contractor
  - (a) under which the Contractor has an undischarged obligation to perform or supply work, labour or material;
     or
  - (b) in respect of which Canada has, since the date of the Contract, exercised any right to take the work that is the subject of that contract out of the Contractor's hands.

## GC5.10 ASSESSMENTS AND DAMAGES FOR LATE COMPLETION

- 1) For the purposes of this clause
  - (a) the Work shall be deemed to be completed on the date of the Certificate of Completion; and
  - (b) the "period of delay" means the number of days commencing on the day fixed for completion of the Work and ending on the day immediately preceding the day on which the Work is completed but does not include any day within a period of extension granted pursuant to GC6.5 DELAYS AND EXTENSION OF TIME and any other day on which, in the opinion of Canada, completion of the Work was delayed for reasons beyond the control of the Contractor.
- If the Contractor does not complete the Work by the day fixed for its completion but completes it thereafter, the Contractor shall pay Canada an amount equal to the aggregate of
  - (a) all salaries, wages and travelling expenses incurred by Canada in respect of persons overseeing the performance of the Work during the period of delay;
  - (b) the cost incurred by Canada as a result of the inability to use the completed Work for the period of delay;and
  - (c) all other expenses and damages incurred or sustained by Canada during the period of delay as a result of the Work not being completed by the day fixed for its completion.
- 3) Canada may waive the right of Canada to the whole or any part of the amount payable by the Contractor pursuant to paragraph 2) of GC5.10 if, in the opinion of Canada, it is in the public interest to do so.

## **GC5.11 DELAY IN MAKING PAYMENT**

- 1) Notwithstanding GC1.5 TIME OF THE ESSENCE, any delay by Canada in making any payment when it is due pursuant to GC5 TERMS OF PAYMENT, shall not be a breach of the Contract by Canada.
- 2) Subject to paragraph 3) of GC5.11, Canada shall pay to the Contractor simple interest at the Average Bank Rate plus 3 percent per annum on any amount that is overdue pursuant to paragraph 3) of GC5.1 INTERPRETATION, and the interest shall apply from and include the day such amount became overdue until the day prior to the date of payment.
- 3) Interest shall be paid without demand by the Contractor except that
  - (a) in respect of amounts that are less than 15 days overdue, no interest shall be paid in respect of payment made within such 15 days unless the Contractor so demands after such amounts have become due and payable; and
  - (b) interest shall not be payable or paid on overdue advance payments, if any.

## **GC5.12 INTEREST ON SETTLED CLAIMS**

- 1) For the purposes of this clause, a claim means a disputed amount subject to negotiation between Canada and the Contractor under the Contract.
- 2) A claim is deemed to have been settled when an agreement in writing is signed by Canada and the Contractor setting out the amount of the claim to be paid by Canada and the items of work for which the said amount is to be paid.
- 3) A settled claim is deemed to be outstanding from the day immediately following the date the said claim would have been due and payable under the Contract had it not been disputed.
- 4) Canada shall pay to the Contractor simple interest on the amount of a settled claim at the Average Bank Rate plus 3 per cent per annum from the date the settled claim was deemed to be outstanding until the day prior to the date of payment.

## **GC5.13 RETURN OF SECURITY DEPOSIT**

- 1) After a Certificate of Substantial Performance has been issued, and if the Contractor is not in breach of nor in default under the Contract, Canada shall return to the Contractor all or any part of a Security Deposit that, in the opinion of Canada, is not required for the purposes of the Contract.
- 2) After a Certificate of Completion has been issued, Canada shall return to the Contractor the remainder of any security deposit unless the Contract stipulates otherwise.
- 3) If the security deposit was paid into the Consolidated Revenue Fund of Canada, Canada shall pay interest thereon to the Contractor at a rate established pursuant to section 21(2) of the Financial Administration Act.

## **GC6 DELAYS AND CHANGES IN THE WORK**

### GC6.1 CHANGES IN THE WORK

- At any time before issuance of a Certificate of Completion, Canada may issue orders for additions, deletions
  or other changes to the Work, or changes in the location or position of the whole or any part of the Work, if the
  addition, deletion, change or other revision is deemed by Canada to be consistent with the general intent of
  the Contract.
- 2) An order referred to in paragraph 1) of GC6.1 shall be in writing and given to the Contractor in accordance with GC2.3 NOTICES.
- 3) Upon receipt of an order, the Contractor shall promptly perform the work in accordance with the order as if the order had appeared in and been part of the original Contract.
- 4) If anything done or omitted by the Contractor pursuant to an order increases or decreases the cost of the Work to the Contractor, payment for the work shall be made in accordance with GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE.

## GC6.2 CHANGES IN SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS

- 1) If, during the performance of the Work, the Contractor encounters subsurface conditions that are substantially different from the subsurface conditions described in the tender documents supplied to the Contractor, or a reasonable assumption of fact based thereon, the Contractor shall give notice to Canada immediately upon becoming aware of the situation.
- 2) If the Contractor is of the opinion that the Contractor may incur or sustain any extra expense or any loss or damage that is directly attributable to the changed subsurface conditions, the Contractor shall within 10 days of the date the changed subsurface conditions were encountered, give Canada written notice of intention to claim for that extra expense, loss or damage.

- 3) If the Contractor has given a notice referred to in paragraph 2) of GC6.2, the Contractor shall give Canada a written claim for extra expense, loss or damage no later than 30 days after the date that a Certificate of Substantial Performance is issued.
- 4) A written claim referred to in paragraph 3) of GC6.2 shall contain a sufficient description of the facts and circumstances of the occurrence that is the subject of the claim to enable Canada to determine whether or not the claim is justified, and the Contractor shall supply such further and other information for that purpose as Canada requires.
- 5) If Canada determines that a claim referred to in paragraph 3) of GC6.2 is justified, Canada shall make an extra payment to the Contractor in an amount that is calculated in accordance with GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE.
- 6) If, in the opinion of Canada, the Contractor effects a saving of expenditure that is directly attributable to a substantial difference between the information relating to subsurface conditions at the site of the Work that is contained in the tender documents, or a reasonable assumption of fact based thereon, and the actual subsurface conditions encountered by the Contractor, the Contract Amount shall be reduced by the amount of the saving of expenditure determined in accordance with GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE.
- 7) If the Contractor fails to give a notice referred to in paragraph 2) of GC6.2 and a claim referred to in paragraph 3) of GC6.2 within the times stipulated, an extra payment shall not be made to the Contractor in respect of the occurrence.
- 8) Canada does not warrant the content expressed in any subsurface report available for the perusal of the Contractor that does not form part of the tender and contract documents.

## GC6.3 HUMAN REMAINS, ARCHAEOLOGICAL REMAINS AND ITEMS OF HISTORICAL OR SCIENTIFIC INTEREST

- For the purposes of this clause
  - (a) "human remains" means the whole or any part of a deceased human being, irrespective of the time of death;
  - (b) "archaeological remains" are items, artefacts or things made, modified or used by human beings in antiquity and may include, but not be limited to, stone, wood or iron structures or monuments, dump deposits, bone artefacts, weapons, tools, coins, and pottery; and
  - (c) "items of historical or scientific interest" are naturally occurring or manufactured objects or things of any age that are not archaeological remains but may be of interest to society because of their historical or scientific significance, value, rarity, natural beauty, or other quality.
- 2) If, during the course of the Work, the Contractor encounters any object, item or thing which is described in paragraph 1) of GC6.3 or which resembles any object, item or thing described in paragraph 1) of GC6.3, the Contractor shall
  - (a) take all reasonable steps, including stopping work in the affected area, to protect and preserve the object, item or thing:
  - (b) immediately notify Canada of the circumstances in writing; and
  - (c) take all reasonable steps to minimize additional costs that may accrue as a result of any work stoppage.
- 3) Upon receipt of a notification in accordance with subparagraph 2)(b) of GC6.3, Canada shall promptly determine whether the object, item or thing is one described in, or contemplated by paragraph 1) of GC6.3, and shall notify the Contractor in writing of any action to be performed, or work to be carried out, by the Contractor as a result of Canada's determination.

- 4) Canada may, at any time, enlist the services of experts to assist in the investigation, examination, taking of measurements or other such recordings, placing of permanent protection around or removing of the object, item or thing encountered by the Contractor, and the Contractor shall, to the satisfaction of Canada, allow them access and co-operate with them in the carrying out of their duties and obligations.
- 5) Human remains, archaeological remains and items of historical or scientific interest encountered at the site of the Work shall be deemed to be the property of Canada.
- 6) Except as may be otherwise provided for in the Contract, the provisions of GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE and GC6.5 DELAYS AND EXTENSION OF TIME shall apply.

### GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE

## **GC6.4.1 Price Determination Prior to Undertaking Changes**

- 1) If a Lump Sum Arrangement applies to the Contract or a part thereof, the price of any change shall be the aggregate estimated cost of labour, Plant and Material that is required for the change as agreed upon in writing by Canada plus a negotiated allowance for supervision, co-ordination, administration, overhead, margin and the risk of undertaking the work within the stipulated amount.
- If a Unit Price Arrangement applies to the Contract or a part thereof, the Contractor and Canada may, by agreement in writing, add items, units of measurement, estimated quantities and prices per unit to the Unit Price Table.
- 3) A price per unit referred to in paragraph 2) of GC6.4.1 shall be determined on the basis of the aggregate estimated cost of labour, Plant and Material that is required for the additional item as agreed upon by the Contractor and Canada, plus a negotiated allowance.
- 4) To facilitate approval of the price of the change or the additional price per unit as applicable, the Contractor shall submit a cost estimate breakdown identifying, as a minimum, the estimated cost of labour, Plant, Material, each subcontract amount, and the amount of the negotiated allowance.
- 5) If no agreement is reached as contemplated in paragraph 1) of GC6.4.1, the price shall be determined in accordance with GC6.4.2.
- 6) If no agreement is reached, as contemplated in paragraphs 2) and 3) of GC6.4.1, Canada shall determine the class and the unit of measurement of the item of labour, Plant or Material and the price per unit shall be determined in accordance with GC6.4.2.

## GC6.4.2 Price Determination Following Completion of Changes.

- If it is not possible to predetermine, or if there is failure to agree upon the price of a change in the Work, the
  price of the change shall be equal to the aggregate of
  - (a) all reasonable and proper amounts actually expended or legally payable by the Contractor in respect of the labour, Plant and Material that fall within one of the classes of expenditure described in paragraph 2) of GC6.4.2, that are directly attributable to the performance of the Contract;
  - (b) an allowance for profit and all other expenditures or costs, including overhead, general administration costs, financing and interest charges, in an amount that is equal to 10% of the sum of the expenses referred to in subparagraph 1)(a) of GC6.4.2; and
  - (c) interest on the amounts determined under subparagraphs 1)(a) and 1)(b) of GC6.4.2 above calculated in accordance with GC5.12 INTEREST ON SETTLED CLAIMS;
- 2) The cost of labour, Plant and Material referred to in subparagraph 1)(a) of GC6.4.2 shall be limited to the following categories of expenditure:

- (a) payments to Subcontractors and Suppliers;
- (b) wages, salaries, bonuses and, if applicable, travel and lodging expenses of employees of the Contractor located at the site of the Work and that portion of wages, salaries, bonuses and, if applicable, travel and lodging expenses of personnel of the Contractor generally employed at the head office or at a general office of the Contractor provided they are actually and properly engaged on the Work under the Contract;
- (c) assessments payable under any statutory authority relating to workers' compensation, employment insurance, pension plan or holidays with pay, provincial health or insurance plans, environmental reviews, and GST / HST collection costs:
- (d) rent that is paid for Plant, or an amount equivalent to the said rent if the Plant is owned by the Contractor, that is necessary for and used in the performance of the Work, if the rent or the equivalent amount is reasonable and use of that Plant has been approved by Canada;
- (e) payments for maintaining and operating Plant necessary for and used in the performance of the Work, and payments for effecting repairs thereto that, in the opinion of Canada, are necessary for the proper performance of the Contract, other than payments for any repairs to the Plant arising out of defects existing before its allocation to the Work;
- payments for Material that is necessary for and incorporated in the Work, or that is necessary for and consumed in the performance of the Contract;
- (g) payments for preparation, delivery, handling, erection, installation, inspection, protection and removal of the Plant and Material necessary for and used in the performance of the Contract; and
- (h) any other payments made by the Contractor with the approval Canada that are necessary for the performance of the Contract in accordance with the Contract Documents.

## GC6.4.3 Price Determination - Variations in Tendered Quantities

- Except as provided in paragraphs 2), 3), 4) and 5) of GC6.4.3, if it appears that the final quantity of labour, Plant and Material under a price per unit item shall exceed or be less than the estimated tendered quantity, the Contractor shall perform the Work or supply the Plant and Material required to complete the item and payment shall be made for the actual Work performed or Plant and Material supplied at the price per unit set out in the Contract.
- 2) If the final quantity of the price per unit item exceeds the estimated tendered quantity by more than 15%, either party to the Contract may make a written request to the other party to negotiate an amended price per unit for that portion of the item which exceeds 115% of the estimated tendered quantity, and to facilitate approval of any amended price per unit, the Contractor shall, on request, provide Canada with
  - (a) detailed records of the actual cost to the Contractor of performing or supplying the tendered quantity for the price per unit item up to the time the negotiation was requested; and
  - (b) the estimated unit cost of labour, Plant and Material required for the portion of the item that is in excess of 115% of the tendered quantity.
- 3) If agreement is not reached as contemplated in paragraph 2) of GC6.4.3, the price per unit shall be determined in accordance with GC6.4.2.
- 4) If it appears that the final quantity of labour, Plant and Material under a price per unit item shall be less than 85% of the estimated tendered quantity, either party to the Contract may make a written request to the other party to negotiate a change to the price per unit for the item if

- there is a demonstrable difference between the unit cost to the Contractor of performing or supplying the estimated tendered quantity and the unit cost to the Contractor for performing or supplying the final quantity; and
- (b) the difference in unit cost is due solely to the decrease in quantity and not to any other cause.
- 5) For the purposes of the negotiation referred to in paragraph 4) of GC6.4.3
  - (a) the onus of establishing, justifying and quantifying a proposed change lies with the party making the request for negotiation; and
  - (b) in no event shall the total price for an item that has been amended as a result of a reduction in quantity pursuant to paragraph 4) of GC6.4.3 exceed the amount that would have been payable to the Contractor had 85% of the tendered quantity actually been performed or supplied.

## GC6.5 DELAYS AND EXTENSION OF TIME

- Upon application of the Contractor made before the date first fixed for completion of the Work or before any other date previously fixed under this clause, Canada may extend the time for completion of the Work by fixing a new date if Canada determines that causes beyond the control of the Contractor have delayed its completion.
- 2) The Contractor's application shall be accompanied by the written consent of the bonding company whose bond forms part of the Contract Security.
- 3) Subject to paragraph 4) of GC6.5, no payment, other than a payment that is expressly stipulated in the Contract, shall be made by Canada to the Contractor for any extra expense, loss or damage incurred or sustained by the Contractor due to delay, whether or not the delay is caused by circumstances beyond the control of the Contractor.
- 4) If the Contractor incurs or sustains any extra expense or any loss or damage that is directly attributable to any neglect or delay that occurs after the date of the Contract on the part of Canada in providing any information or in doing any act that the Contract either expressly requires Canada to do or that would ordinarily be done by an owner in accordance with the practice of the trade, the Contractor shall give Canada written notice of intention to claim for that extra expense or loss or damage within ten working days of the date the neglect or delay first occurred.
- 5) When the Contractor has given a notice referred to in paragraph 4) of GC6.5, the Contractor shall give Canada a written claim for the extra expense, loss or damage no later than 30 days after the date that a Certificate of Completion is issued and not afterwards.
- 6) A written claim referred to in paragraph 5) of GC6.5 shall contain a sufficient description of the facts and circumstances of the occurrence that is the subject of the claim to enable Canada to determine whether or not the claim is justified and the Contractor shall supply such further and other information for that purpose as Canada may require.
- 7) If Canada determines that a claim referred to in paragraph 5) of GC6.5 is justified, Canada shall make an extra payment to the Contractor in an amount that is calculated in accordance with GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE.
- 8) If the Contractor fails to give a notice referred to in paragraph 5) and a claim referred to in paragraph 4) of GC6.5 within the times stipulated, an extra payment shall not be made to the Contractor in respect of the occurrence.

## **GC7 DEFAULT, SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION OF CONTRACT**

## GC7.1 TAKING THE WORK OUT OF THE CONTRACTOR'S HANDS

- By giving notice in writing to the Contractor in accordance with GC2.3 NOTICES, Canada, without any other authorization, may take all or any part of the Work out of the Contractor's hands, and may employ such means as Canada sees fit to have the Work completed if the Contractor
  - (a) fails to remedy any delay in the commencement or default in the diligent performance of the Work to the satisfaction of Canada within six days of Canada giving notice to the Contractor in writing in accordance with GC2.3 NOTICES:
  - (b) defaults in the completion of any part of the Work within the time fixed for its completion by the Contract;
  - becomes insolvent, or has committed an act of bankruptcy, and has neither made a proposal to its creditors nor filed a notice of intention to make such a proposal, pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act;
  - (d) abandons the work;
  - (e) makes an assignment of the Contract without the consent required by GC1.17 ASSIGNMENT; or
  - (f) otherwise fails to observe or perform any of the provisions of the Contract.
- 2) If the whole or any part of the Work is taken out of the Contractor's hands, the Contractor's right to any further payment that is due or accruing due under the Contract is, subject only to paragraph 3) of GC7.1, extinguished, and the Contractor is liable to pay Canada, upon demand, an amount that is equal to the amount of all loss and damage incurred or sustained by Canada in respect of the Contractor's failure to complete the Work.
- 3) If the whole or any part of the Work that is taken out of the Contractor's hands is completed by Canada, Canada may pay the Contractor the amount, if any, of the holdback or a progress claim as determined by Canada that had accrued and was due prior to the date on which the Work was taken out of the Contractor's hands and that is not required for the purposes of having the Work performed or of compensating Canada for any other loss or damage incurred or sustained by reason of the Contractor's default.
- 4) The taking of the Work or any part thereof out of the Contractor's hands does not relieve the Contractor from any obligation under the Contract or imposed by law except the obligation to complete the performance of that part of the Work that was taken out of the Contractor's hands.
- 5) If the Work or any part thereof is taken out of the Contractor's hands, all Plant and Material and the interest of the Contractor, or its suppliers or subcontractors at any tier, in all real property, licences, powers and privileges acquired, used or provided by the Contractor, or its suppliers or subcontractors at any tier, under the Contract shall continue to be the property of Canada without compensation.
- 6) When Canada certifies that any Plant, Material, or any interest of the Contractor is no longer required for the purposes of the Work, or that it is not in the interests of Canada to retain that Plant, Material, or interest, it shall revert to the Contractor.
- 7) If the Contractor has become insolvent or has committed an act of bankruptcy, and has either made a proposal to its creditors or filed a notice of intention to make such a proposal, pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, the Contractor shall immediately forward a copy of the proposal or the notice of intention to Canada.

## GC7.2 SUSPENSION OF WORK

- 1) When, in Canada's opinion, it is in the public interest to do so, Canada may require the Contractor to suspend performance of the Work either for a specified or an unspecified period, by giving a notice of suspension in writing to the Contractor in accordance with GC2.3 NOTICES.
- 2) When a notice of suspension is received by the Contractor, the Contractor shall suspend all operations in respect of the Work except those that Canada determines are necessary for the care and preservation of the Work, Plant and Material.
- 3) During a period of suspension, the Contractor shall not remove any part of the Work, Plant or Material from its site without the consent of Canada.
- 4) If a period of suspension is 60 days or less, the Contractor shall resume the performance of the Work on the expiration of that period, and the Contractor is entitled to be paid the extra costs necessarily incurred by the Contractor as a result of the suspension, determined in accordance with GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE.
- 5) If a period of suspension is more than 60 days, Canada and the Contractor may agree that the performance of the Work shall be continued by the Contractor, and the Contractor shall resume performance of the Work subject to any terms and conditions agreed upon by Canada and the Contractor. If Canada and the Contractor do not agree that performance of the Work shall be continued by the Contractor, or upon the terms and conditions under which the Contractor shall continue the Work, the notice of suspension shall be deemed to be a notice of termination pursuant to GC7.3 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT.

## **GC7.3 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT**

- Canada may terminate the Contract at any time by giving a notice of termination in writing to the Contractor in accordance with GC2.3 NOTICES.
- 2) If the Contractor receives a notice of termination, the Contractor shall forthwith cease all operations in performance of the Contract, subject to any conditions stipulated in the notice.
- 3) Subject to paragraph 4) of GC7.3, if the Contract is terminated, Canada shall pay the Contractor an amount determined to be due to the Contractor pursuant to GC6.4 DETERMINATION OF PRICE less the aggregate of all amounts that were paid to the Contractor by Canada and all amounts that are due to Canada from the Contractor pursuant to the Contract.
- 4) In no event shall the total amount payable by Canada to the Contractor exceed the amount, calculated in accordance with GC5 TERMS OF PAYMENT, that would have been payable to the Contractor had the Contractor completed the Work.
- 5) Payment to the Contractor, if any, shall be made as soon as practicable under the circumstances.

## GC7.4 SECURITY DEPOSIT - FORFEITURE OR RETURN

- 1) If the Work is taken out of the Contractor's hands, or the Contractor is in breach of, or in default under, the Contract, Canada may convert a security deposit to Canada's own use.
- 2) If Canada converts a security deposit, the amount realized shall be deemed to be an amount due from Canada to the Contractor under the Contract.
- Any balance of the amount realized that remains after payment of all losses, damage and claims of Canada and others shall be paid by Canada to the Contractor if, in the opinion of Canada, it is not required for the purposes of the Contract.

## **GC8 DISPUTE RESOLUTION**

### **GC8.1 INTERPRETATION**

- In these Dispute Resolution Conditions and in the Schedules attached hereto, an "arbitral question of law" means a question of law that
  - (a) is capable of determination by arbitration under the laws of Canada;
  - does not involve interpretation or application of public law of Canada, including without limitation any matter of constitutional, administrative, criminal or tax law; and
  - (c) concerns
    - (i) the formation, validity, interpretation, application or enforceability of the Contract;
    - (ii) the performance, breach, termination or other discharge of the Contract;
    - (iii) the rights, duties, obligations or remedies of parties created by or pursuant to the Contract; or
  - (iv) any other issue of private law that may arise between parties relative to performance of the Contract.

"dispute" means any disagreement regarding any issue identified by the Contractor in the notice submitted to the Departmental Representative and includes any claim by the Contractor arising from such disagreement and any counterclaim by Canada, but does not include any claim by either party for punitive or exemplary damages, injury to persons, death, or any claim based on an allegation of libel or slander; and

"Working Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a holiday which is observed by the construction industry in the area where the Work is located.

2) The alternative dispute resolution procedures set out in GC8 DISPUTE RESOLUTION, do not apply to any claim by Canada against the Contractor except any counterclaim in a dispute as defined in this GC8.1, including, but not limited to, any claim of setoff regarding any amount due to Canada under GC5.10 ASSESSMENT AND DAMAGES FOR LATE COMPLETION.

## GC8.2 CONSULTATION AND CO-OPERATION

- 1) The parties agree to maintain open and honest communication throughout the performance of the Contract.
- 2) The parties agree to consult and co-operate with each other in the furtherance of the work and the resolution of problems or differences which may arise.

## GC8.3 AUTHORITY OF DEPARTMENTAL REPRESENTATIVE

- Any difference between the parties to the Contract of any nature arising out of or in connection with the Contract which could result in a claim by the Contractor against Canada, and which is not settled by consultation and co-operation shall be resolved in the first instance by the Departmental Representative, whose written decision or direction shall be final and binding subject only to the provisions of GC8 DISPUTE RESOLUTION. Such written decision or direction includes, but is not limited to, any written decision or direction by the Departmental Representative under any provision of the General Conditions.
- The Contractor shall be deemed to have accepted the decision or direction of the Departmental Representative and to have expressly waived and released Canada from any claim in respect of the particular matter dealt with in that decision or direction unless, within 15 working days after receipt of the decision or direction, the Contractor submits to the Departmental Representative a written notice of dispute requesting formal negotiation under GC8.4 NEGOTIATION. Such notice shall refer specifically to GC8.4 NEGOTIATION, and shall specify the issues in contention and the relevant provisions of the Contract.
- 3) The giving of a written notice in accordance with CG8.2 shall not relieve the Contractor from complying with the decision or direction that is the subject of the dispute. Such compliance, however, shall not be construed as an admission by the Contractor of the correctness of such decision or direction.

- 4) If a dispute is not resolved promptly, the Departmental Representative shall give such instructions as, in the Departmental Representative's opinion, are necessary for the proper performance of the Work and to prevent delays pending a resolution of the matter. Unless the Minister terminates the Contract, orders the Contractor to suspend the work, or takes the work out of the hands of the Contractor, the Contractor shall continue to perform the work in accordance with the provisions and requirements of the Contract and the instructions of the Departmental Representative. Such performance shall not prejudice any claim that the Contractor may have
- 5) Nothing in GC8 DISPUTE RESOLUTION, relieves the Contractor from its obligation to provide any other notice required by the Contract within the time specified in the Contract.

## **GC8.4 NEGOTIATION**

- Within 10 working days after receipt by the Departmental Representative of a notice referred to in paragraph 2) of GC8.3 AUTHORITY OF THE DEPARTMENTAL REPRESENTATIVE, the parties shall commence formal negotiations in order to resolve the dispute. Negotiations shall occur initially between representatives of the Contractor and Canada who play a direct supervisory role in the performance, administration or management of the Contract.
- 2) If the representatives referred to in paragraph 1) of GC8.4 are unable to resolve some or all of the issues which are the subject of the negotiations within 10 working days, the parties shall refer the remaining issues which are in dispute to a second level of negotiation between a principal or principals of the Contractor and a senior level manager or senior level managers representing Canada.
- 3) If negotiations fail to resolve the dispute within 30 working days from the date of delivery of the notice referred to in paragraph 2) of GC8.3 AUTHORITY OF THE DEPARTMENTAL REPRESENTATIVE, or within such longer period as may have been agreed to by the parties, the Contractor may, by giving written notice to the Departmental Representative, in accordance with GC2.3 NOTICES, within 10 working days from the end of such period, request that mediation be undertaken to assist the parties to reach agreement on the outstanding issues.
- 4) If the Contractor does not request mediation within the period permitted by paragraph 3) of GC8.4, the Contractor shall be deemed to have accepted the decision or direction of the Departmental Representative under paragraph 1) of GC8.3 and to have expressly waived and released Canada from any claim in respect of the particular matter dealt with in that decision or direction.

### **GC8.5 MEDIATION**

- 1) If the Contractor has requested mediation in accordance with paragraph 3) of GC8.4 NEGOTIATION, mediation shall be conducted in accordance with the current issue of Public Works and Government Services Canada Rules for Mediation of Construction Contract Disputes.
- If a Project Mediator has not previously been appointed for the purposes of the Contract, a Project Mediator shall be appointed forthwith after delivery of a notice in accordance with paragraph 3) of GC8.4 NEGOTIATION, requesting mediation.
- 3) If the dispute has not been resolved within
  - (a) 10 working days following the appointment of a Project Mediator in accordance with paragraph 2) of GC8.5, if a Project Mediator was not previously appointed;
  - (b) 10 working days following receipt by the Departmental Representative of a written notice in accordance with paragraph 4) of GC8.4 NEGOTIATION, if a Project Mediator was previously appointed; or
  - (c) such other longer period as may have been agreed to by the parties;
  - the Project Mediator shall terminate the mediation by giving written notice to the parties stating the effective date of termination.

## **GC8.6 BINDING ARBITRATION**

- 1) If mediation of the dispute is terminated pursuant to the provisions of GC8.5 MEDIATION, and
  - (a) the termination of mediation occurs prior to the applicable date set out in paragraph 4) of GC8.6; and
  - (b) the disputed issues involve issues of fact or issues of arbitral questions of law or issues of mixed fact and arbitral questions of law;

either party, by giving notice in writing to the other party in accordance with GC11 of the General Conditions, may require that the dispute be resolved by binding arbitration pursuant to this GC8.6 BINDING ARBITRATION.

- 2) A notice referred to in paragraph 1) of GC8.6 shall be given within 10 working days of the date of termination of mediation under GC8.5 MEDIATION. If delivered personally, a notice to the Contractor shall be delivered to the Contractor if the Contractor is doing business as a sole proprietor or, if the Contractor is a partnership or corporation, to an officer thereof.
- 3) If no notice is given within the period set out in paragraph 2) of GC8.6, or if the conditions set out in subparagraphs 1) (a) and 1) (b) of GC8.6 are not met, the arbitration provisions set out in this GC8.6 do not apply to the dispute.
- 4) Unless otherwise agreed, the arbitration of the dispute shall be held in abeyance until the earlier of
  - (a) the date of issuance of an Interim Certificate of Completion under GC5.5;
  - (b) the date the work is taken out of the Contractor's hands; and
  - (c) the date of termination of the Contract;

and consolidated with all other such disputes into a single arbitration.

- Arbitral proceedings under this GC8.6 shall be governed by and conducted in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. 17 (2nd Supp.) and the provisions of the Public Works and Government Services Canada Rules for Arbitration of Construction Contract Disputes.
- 6) For the purposes of calculating time under the Rules for Arbitration referred to in paragraph 5) of GC8.6, arbitration proceedings shall commence on the applicable date set out in paragraph 4) of GC8.6.
- 7) The arbitration provisions in GC8.6 do not apply if the aggregate amount of all claims by the Contractor required to be arbitrated on the applicable date set out in paragraph 4) of GC8.6 is less than \$25,000.

### GC8.7 DISPUTES NOT SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION

- Where the arbitration provisions in GC8.6 BINDING ARBITRATION, do not apply to a dispute as a result of paragraphs 3) or 7) of GC8.6 BINDING ARBITRATION, either party may take such court action or proceedings as it considers appropriate, including, without limiting the foregoing, all suits that would otherwise have been immediately available to it but for the provisions of these Dispute Resolution Conditions. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 2) of GC8.7, the Contractor shall initiate any such action or proceeding no later than three calendar months after the date that a Final Certificate of Completion is issued under GC5.6 and not afterwards.
- 2) Any action or proceeding resulting from a direction under GC3.12 WARRANTY AND RECTIFICATION OF DEFECTS IN WORK, shall be initiated by the Contractor no later than three calendar months after the expiry of the warranty or guarantee period and not afterwards.

## **GC8.8 CONFIDENTIALITY**

All information exchanged during alternative dispute resolution procedures, by whatever means, shall be without prejudice and shall be treated as confidential by the parties and their representatives, unless otherwise required by law. However, evidence that is independently admissible or discoverable shall not be rendered inadmissible or non-discoverable by virtue of its use during an alternative dispute resolution process.

### **GC8.9 SETTLEMENT**

1) Any agreement to settle all or any part of a dispute, by whatever means, shall be in writing and be signed by the parties or their authorized representatives.

## DISPUTE RESOLUTION - SCHEDULE "A" RULES FOR MEDIATION OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT DISPUTES

### DRA01 INTERPRETATION

 Terms defined in the Contract and used in these Rules shall have the meaning assigned to them in the Contract.

## DRA02 APPLICATION

1) These Rules apply to mediation conducted under the Contract. By mutual agreement, the parties may change or make additions to the Rules.

## DRA03 COMMUNICATION

1) Written communications pursuant to these Rules shall be given in the same manner as written notices are to be given pursuant to the Contract.

## DRA04 APPOINTMENT OF PROJECT MEDIATOR

- The parties to the Contract may, by mutual consent, at any time after entry into the Contract, appoint a mediator (the "Project Mediator") to conduct mediation proceedings in accordance with these Rules for Mediation of Construction Disputes, in regard to any dispute that may arise with regard to the interpretation, application or administration of the Contract. In this case, they shall jointly enter into a contract with the appointed Project Mediator, which contract shall be in a form drafted by the Coordinator and agreed to by the parties. The contract shall stipulate that, subject to any subsequent agreement between the parties to the contrary, the Project Mediator shall terminate any mediation proceeding if the dispute at issue has not been resolved within 10 working days following the date of commencement of the proceeding.
- 2) If the parties do not appoint a Project Mediator pursuant to paragraph 1) of DRA04, the parties shall appoint a Project Mediator within 10 working days following receipt of a written notice from the Contractor, in accordance with the provisions of the Contract, requesting that mediated negotiations be undertaken in accordance with these Rules to assist the parties to reach agreement on any outstanding issues that may be in dispute. Any contract entered into with the appointed Project Mediator shall meet the requirements as set out for the contract described in paragraph 1) of DRA04.
- When mediation is requested by the Contractor pursuant to the terms of the Contract, if the parties have previously entered into a contract with a Project Mediator, the parties shall forthwith send to both the Project Mediator and the Coordinator
  - (a) a copy of the notice requesting negotiation under the terms of the Contract;
  - (b) a copy of Canada's written position in relation to the notice, the issues in contention and the relevant provisions of the contract; and
  - (c) a copy of the Contractor's written request for mediation required under the terms of the Contract.

- 4) If the parties have not agreed on a Project Mediator, the parties shall forthwith provide the Coordinator with the written materials referred to in subparagraphs 3)(a), 3)(b) and 3)(c) of DRA04 together with a request that the Coordinator assist in the appointment of a mutually acceptable Project Mediator in accordance with these Rules. Each party may include with the written materials the names of qualified private sector mediators that the party wishes to have included in the list referred to in paragraph 5) of DRA04.
- Within 5 working days following receipt of the request and materials referred to in paragraph 4) of DRA04, the Coordinator shall provide the parties with a list of qualified private sector mediators together with instructions to each party to individually and confidentially select and rank their preferred and fully acceptable choices of mediator in descending order. Each mediator listed shall be, in the opinion of the Coordinator, impartial and independent of the parties, and shall be an experienced and skilled commercial mediator, preferably with knowledge of the subject matter of the dispute.
- 6) Within 10 working days of receipt of the list referred to in paragraph 5) of DRA04 each party shall comply with the instructions accompanying the list(s) and shall deliver the completed listing to the Coordinator.
- 7) Within 2 working days following receipt of the completed listings, the Coordinator shall select the highest common ranked mediator to act as Project Mediator for the purposes of the contract.
- 8) In the event of a tie, the Coordinator shall consult both parties to re-evaluate their rankings in order to assist the Coordinator in selecting a Project Mediator acceptable to both parties. If the parties cannot agree upon a Project Mediator, the Coordinator shall forthwith provide the parties with a second list of mediators and the procedure shall be repeated.
- 9) If the parties have not previously entered into a contract with a mutually acceptable Project Mediator, the Coordinator shall use reasonable efforts to negotiate a contract with a mutually acceptable Project Mediator on behalf of the parties, which contract shall incorporate or otherwise comply with the provisions of these Rules. If negotiations are unsuccessful, or if for other reason the individual is unwilling or unable to enter into a contract to act as Project Mediator, the Coordinator shall repeat the process with the second-highest common ranked mediator.
- 10) The parties agree that, upon successful completion of the negotiations referred to in paragraph 9) of DRA04, they shall jointly enter into a contract with the selected Project Mediator, which agreement shall be in a form drafted by the Coordinator and agreed to by the parties. The contract shall stipulate that, subject to any subsequent agreement between the parties to the contrary, the Project Mediator shall terminate any mediation proceeding if the dispute at issue has not been resolved within 10 working days following the date of commencement of the proceeding.
- 11) Upon execution of the contract with the Project Mediator referred to in paragraph 10) of DRA04 the Coordinator shall provide the Project Mediator with copies of the documents referred to in paragraph 3) of DRA04.

## DRA05 CONFIDENTIALITY

- Subject to paragraph 2) of DRA05, and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, the Project Mediator, the parties and their counsel or representatives shall keep confidential all matters and documents disclosed during mediation proceedings except where the disclosure is necessary for any implementation of any agreement reached or is required by law.
- 2) Evidence that is independently admissible or discoverable in any arbitral or judicial proceeding shall not be rendered inadmissible or non-discoverable by virtue of its use in mediation proceedings.
- 3) Neither party shall make transcripts, minutes or other records of a mediation conference.
- 4) The personal notes and written opinions of the Project Mediator made in relation to mediation are in the Project Mediator's sole possession and control, are confidential, and may not be used in any subsequent proceeding between the parties or where they are opposed in interest without the express written permission of the parties.

5) All information exchanged during mediation procedures, by whatever means, shall be without prejudice and shall be treated as confidential by the parties and their representatives, unless otherwise required by law.

## DRA06 TIME AND PLACE OF MEDIATION

1) The Project Mediator, in consultation with the parties shall set the date, time and place of any mediation conference as soon as possible, bearing in mind that, subject to agreement to the contrary between the parties, only 10 working days are available within which to attempt to settle the dispute.

### DRA07 REPRESENTATION

- 1) Representatives of the parties may be accompanied at the mediation conference by legal counsel or any other person.
- 2) If the Project Mediator is a lawyer, the Project Mediator shall not provide legal advice to a party during the course of the mediation conference, but may recommend that a party obtain independent legal advice before finalizing a settlement agreement.

## DRA08 PROCEDURE

- The parties agree to an exchange of all facts, information and documents upon which they intend to rely in any oral or written presentation during the mediation. This exchange shall be completed no later than 2 working days prior to the date set for a mediation conference.
- 2) The Project Mediator shall be free to meet with the parties individually during a mediation conference if the Project Mediator is of the opinion that this may improve the chances of a mediated settlement, and either party may request such an individual meeting at any time.
- 3) The parties may agree to extend the 10 working days mediated negotiation period, and the Project Mediator shall record that agreement in writing.

## DRA09 SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

- The parties shall record in writing any settlement agreement reached, with sufficient detail to ensure a clear understanding of
  - (a) the issues resolved;
  - (b) any obligations assumed by each party including criteria to determine if and when these obligations have been met; and
  - (c) the consequences of failure to comply with the agreement reached.
- 2) The parties agree to carry out the terms of a settlement agreement as soon as possible and, in any event, within any time periods specified in the agreement.

## DRA10 TERMINATION OF MEDIATION

- Either party may withdraw from mediation at any time without reason and, in that event, the Project Mediator shall give each party a written notice terminating the mediation and establishing the effective date of termination.
- 2) If, in the opinion of the Project Mediator, either party fails to mediate in good faith or fails to comply with the terms of these Rules, or if the Project Mediator, at any time during mediation, is of the opinion that further negotiations will fail to resolve the issues outstanding, the Project Mediator may terminate the negotiations by providing the parties with a written notice of termination, stating therein the Project Mediator's reasons for the termination, and the effective date of termination.

3) If a dispute has not been resolved within 10 working days or such other longer period as may have been agreed to by the parties, the Project Mediator shall terminate the mediation by giving written notice to the parties stating the effective date of termination.

#### DRA11 COSTS

1) The parties agree that they will each be responsible for the costs of their own representatives and advisors and associated travel and living expenses. Fees and expenses of the Project Mediator and all administrative costs of mediation, such as the cost of the meeting room(s), if any, shall be borne equally by the parties.

## DRA12 SUBSEQUENT PROCEEDINGS

- 1) The parties shall not rely on or introduce as evidence in any arbitral or judicial proceeding, whether or not such proceeding relates to the subject matter of mediation,
  - (a) any documents of other parties that are not otherwise producible in those proceedings;
  - (b) any views expressed or suggestions made by any party in respect of a possible settlement of issues;
  - (c) any admission made by any party in the course of mediation unless otherwise stipulated by the admitting party; and
  - (d) the fact that any party has indicated a willingness to make or accept a proposal or recommendation for settlement.
- 2) The Project Mediator shall neither represent nor testify on behalf of either of the parties in any subsequent investigation, action or proceeding relating to the issues in mediation proceedings.
- The Project Mediator shall not be subpoenaed to give evidence relating to
  - (a) the Project Mediator's role in mediation; or
  - (b) the matters or issues in mediation;

in any subsequent investigation, action or proceeding and the parties agree to vigorously oppose any effort to have the Mediator so subpoenaed.

## DISPUTE RESOLUTION - SCHEDULE B RULES FOR ARBITRATION OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT DISPUTES

## DRB01 INTERPRETATION

- Terms defined in the Contract and used in these Rules shall have the meaning assigned to them in the Contract.
- 2) In these Rules

"claimant" means the Contractor;

"respondent" means Her Majesty.

## **DRB02 ARBITRATION TRIBUNAL**

1) Subject to these Rules, and unless otherwise agreed by the parties, the arbitration tribunal shall consist of a single arbitrator ("the Tribunal") who shall be appointed in accordance with the provisions of the Rules.

#### DRB03 APPLICATION

- These Rules apply to arbitration conducted under the Contract. By mutual agreement, the parties may change
  or make additions to the Rules.
- 2) The scope of the arbitral proceedings shall be limited to the resolution of the dispute submitted to arbitration.
- The dispute shall be subject to resolution pursuant to the provisions of these Rules whether or not such resolution requires determination of a question of law if such question of law is an arbitral question of law as defined in the terms and conditions of the Contract.
- 4) Arbitral proceedings shall be governed by and in accordance with the *Commercial Arbitration Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. 17 (2nd Supp.), the Code referred to therein, and the provisions of these Rules, and, subject only to the provisions of the Commercial Arbitration Act, the parties agree that the determination and award of the Tribunal shall be final and binding on both parties.
- 5) The Tribunal shall not decide the dispute ex aeguo et bono or as amiable compositeur.
- 6) The Tribunal shall decide in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Contract and shall take into account the usage of the trade applicable to the transaction.
- 7) The costs of the Tribunal and the arbitration shall be shared equally by the parties and each party shall bear its own costs.

## **DRB04 INITIATION OF PROCEEDINGS**

- Either party may submit a dispute to binding arbitration to the extent permitted under the Contract, by giving notice in writing to the other party in accordance with the requirements of the Contract.
- 2) The notice referred to in paragraph 1) of DRB04 shall contain the following:
  - (a) a brief description of the Contract;
  - (b) a statement of the issue(s) in dispute;
  - (c) a request that the dispute be referred to binding arbitration; and
- 3) A copy of the notice referred to in paragraph 1) of DRB04 shall be given to the Coordinator at the same time it is given to the other party.

### DRB05 APPOINTMENT OF TRIBUNAL

- No later than 10 working days following the date of commencement of arbitration proceedings as set out in the Contract documents, the Coordinator shall assemble and provide the parties with a list of qualified private sector arbitrators together with instructions to each party to individually and confidentially select and rank their preferred and fully acceptable choices of arbitrator in descending order.
- Within 5 working days following receipt of the list referred to in paragraph 1) of DRB05, either party may request the Coordinator in writing to add additional private sector arbitrators to the list who, in the opinion of the party, meet the necessary qualification requirements, and forthwith upon receipt of the request, the Coordinator shall add the additional names to the list and provide the parties with a copy of the amended list.

- 3) Within 10 working days of receipt of the list referred to in paragraph 1) of DRB05 or an amended list referred to in paragraph 2) of DRB05, whichever is later, each party shall comply with the instructions accompanying the list(s) and shall deliver the completed listing to the Coordinator.
- 4) Within 2 working days following receipt of the completed listings, the Coordinator shall select the highest common ranked arbitrator to act as the Tribunal for the purposes of the arbitration.
- 5) In the event of a tie, the Coordinator shall consult both parties to re-evaluate their rankings in order to assist the Coordinator in selecting a single arbitrator acceptable to both parties. If the parties cannot agree upon an arbitrator, the Coordinator shall forthwith provide the parties with a second list of arbitrators and the procedure shall be repeated.
- 6) In the event that, following the repeated procedure, the Coordinator again fails to select a single arbitrator acceptable to both parties, the Tribunal shall consist of three (3) arbitrators, one arbitrator appointed by each of the parties and the third arbitrator appointed by these two (2) arbitrators.
- 7) The Tribunal shall in any event be composed of a person or persons who have experience in the subject matter of the dispute and are independent of either party. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Tribunal shall be at arm's length from both parties and shall not be composed of members of any company, firm, or agency which advises either party, nor shall the Tribunal be composed of a person or persons who are otherwise regularly retained by such parties.
- 8) The parties agree that they shall jointly enter into an agreement with the selected Tribunal, which agreement shall be in a form drafted by the Coordinator and agreed to by the parties.
- 9) The parties agree that they shall each bear their own costs. Fees and reasonable expenses of the Tribunal and reasonable expenses associated with the conduct of the arbitration shall be borne equally by the parties.

## **DRB06 PRELIMINARY MEETING**

- 1) Unless the parties to the arbitration and the Tribunal otherwise agree, the parties shall meet with the Tribunal within 10 working days of the Tribunal's appointment to
  - (a) settle the location of premises for proceedings and responsibilities for the arrangement;
  - (b) verify addresses for the delivery of written communications to each party and to the Tribunal;
  - (c) present to the Tribunal the issues to be resolved by means of the arbitration;
  - (d) estimate the length of time the hearing might take and the number of witnesses likely to be produced;
  - (e) determine if a stenographic record or any other type of recording of proceedings should be kept, or if any particular services, such as interpreters, translations or security measures should be provided; and
  - (f) determine any other matters pertinent to conduct of the arbitration.

## **DRB07 COMMUNICATIONS**

- 1) Subject to paragraph 2) of DRB07, the Tribunal shall not communicate with a party to the dispute except in the presence of the other party.
- 2) Notwithstanding paragraph 1) of DRB07, the Tribunal may communicate with the parties separately for the purpose of establishing procedures to be followed or setting the time of a meeting; other exceptions to the general rule shall only be made with the consent in writing of all parties.
- 3) If a communication by the Tribunal to one party is in writing, a copy shall be sent to the other party.
- 4) If a party sends any written communication to the Tribunal, a copy shall be sent to the other party.

5) Any communication that is required or permitted to be given to the Tribunal or either party shall be in writing and may be given by delivering the same by facsimile, electronic mail or by mail, postage prepaid, to the address established for the purposes of the Contract in the case of the parties, and to the address provided by the Tribunal in the case of the Tribunal, and such communication shall be deemed to have been received in accordance with the provisions of the General Conditions of the Contract.

### DRB08 REPRESENTATION

The parties may be represented or assisted by any person during the arbitral proceedings.

## DRB09 CONDUCT OF PROCEEDINGS

1) Subject to the provisions of these Rules, the Tribunal may conduct the arbitration in the manner it considers appropriate. The power conferred upon the Tribunal includes the power to determine the admissibility, relevance, materiality and weight of any evidence.

## DRB10 PLACE OF ARBITRATION

The Tribunal may meet at any place it considers appropriate for hearing witnesses, experts or the parties, or for inspection of documents, goods or other property. The Tribunal shall conduct on-site inspections at the request of either party. Any on-site inspections shall be made in the presence of both parties and their representatives. The proceedings of any on-site inspections shall be recorded as part of the hearing itself.

### DRB11 TIME LIMITATIONS

- 1) The Tribunal may extend or abridge a period of time required in these Rules or fixed or determined by the Tribunal where the Tribunal considers it to be reasonable and appropriate.
- 2) Where any proceeding is terminated pursuant to paragraph 25(a) or 32 (2)(a) of the Code referred to in the *Commercial Arbitration Act*, unless the respondent agrees otherwise in writing, such termination is deemed to be a final award dismissing the claim of the claimant.

#### DRB12 STATEMENT OF CLAIM AND DEFENCE

- Within 10 working days after the Tribunal has been appointed, the claimant shall state, in writing, the facts supporting its claim, points at issue and relief or remedy sought, and shall submit the statement to the respondent, the Coordinator, and the Tribunal.
- Within 10 working days after receipt of the statement of claim, the respondent shall state, in writing, its defence in respect of these particulars and any counterclaim and shall submit its statement to the claimant, the Coordinator and the Tribunal.
- 3) Within 5 working days after receipt of the statement of defence, the claimant may state, in writing, its response to the defence and to any counterclaim, and shall submit its statement to the respondent, the Coordinator and the Tribunal.
- 4) A party may amend or supplement its statements during the course of arbitral proceedings unless the Tribunal considers it inappropriate to allow such amendment or supplement having regard to all circumstances including delay in making the amendment or supplement.
- 5) A statement may not be amended if the amended statement would fall outside the scope of the arbitration agreement.

## **DRB13 FURTHER WRITTEN STATEMENTS**

1) The Tribunal may require or permit the presentation of further written statements by the parties and shall fix the periods of time for submitting those statements.

### DRB14 AGREED STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1) Within a time period specified by the Tribunal, the parties shall prepare and file with the Tribunal an agreed statement of facts including but not limited to a chronology of the project, schedules, quantities and progress payments. The Tribunal shall make itself available, upon reasonable notice, to assist the parties to arrive at agreement on as many facts as possible under the circumstances.
- Within a time period specified by the Tribunal, the parties shall prepare and file with the Tribunal a common book of documents including all documents referred to in an agreed statement of facts and in statements of claim, defence and response.

## DRB15 EVIDENCE

- 1) Each party shall prove the facts relied upon to support its claim or defence.
- 2) Each party shall deliver to the Tribunal and to the other party, within such period of time that the Tribunal determines, a copy of the documents and a summary of the other evidence that party intends to present in support of the facts in issue set out in its statement of claim, defence or response.
- 3) From time to time, the Tribunal may require the parties to produce documents, exhibits and other evidence within such period of time that the Tribunal may determine.

### DRB16 HEARINGS

- All statements, documents or other information supplied to, or applications made to, the Tribunal by one party shall be communicated to the other party, and any expert report or evidentiary document on which the Tribunal may rely in making its decision shall be communicated to the parties at least 8 working days prior to its entry in evidence.
- 2) The parties shall be given reasonably sufficient advance notice of any hearing of the Tribunal and any meeting of the Tribunal for the purpose of inspection of documents, goods or other property.
- 3) If a party intends to give evidence through a witness, the party shall communicate to the Tribunal and to the other party, within such period that the Tribunal determines
  - (a) the names, addresses and curriculum vitae of each of the witnesses it intends to present; and
  - (b) the subject upon which those witnesses shall give their testimony.
- 4) Each party shall have the right to examine, cross-examine and re-examine all witnesses as appropriate.
- All oral hearings and meetings in arbitral proceedings shall be held "in camera".

### DRB17 DEFAULT

- 1) Where, without showing sufficient cause, the claimant fails to communicate its statement of claim in accordance with these Rules or within such further period of time permitted by the Tribunal under these Rules, the Tribunal shall issue an order terminating the arbitral proceedings with respect to that claim.
- An order made under paragraph 1) of DRB17 does not affect a counterclaim made in respect of those arbitral proceedings.

- Where, without showing sufficient cause, the respondent fails to communicate a statement of defence in accordance with these Rules, or within such further period of time permitted by the Tribunal under these Rules, the Tribunal shall continue the arbitral proceedings without treating that failure in itself as an admission of the claimant's allegations.
- 4) Where, without showing sufficient cause, a party fails to appear at an oral hearing or produce documentary evidence, the Tribunal may continue the arbitral proceedings and make the arbitral award on the evidence before it.

### DRB18 ARBITRAL DECISION

Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, the Tribunal shall make the award no later than 30 days after completion of the arbitration hearings unless that time period is extended for an express period by the Tribunal on written notice to each party, due to illness or other cause beyond the Tribunal's control.

## **GC9 CONTRACT SECURITY**

#### GC9.1 OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE CONTRACT SECURITY

- The Contractor shall, at the Contractor's expense and within 14 days after the date that the Contractor receives notice that the Contractor's tender was accepted by Canada, obtain and deliver Contract Security to Canada in one or more of the forms prescribed in GC9.2 TYPES AND AMOUNTS OF CONTRACT SECURITY.
- If the whole or a part of the Contract Security provided is in the form of a security deposit, it shall be held and disposed of in accordance with GC5.13 RETURN OF SECURITY DEPOSIT and GC7.4 SECURITY DEPOSIT - FORFEITURE OR RETURN.
- 3) If a part of the Contract Security provided is in the form of a labour and material payment bond, the Contractor shall post a copy of that bond at the site of the Work.
- 4) It is a condition precedent to the release of the first progress payment that the Contractor has provided the Contract Security as specified herein.

### GC9.2 TYPES AND AMOUNTS OF CONTRACT SECURITY

- 1) The Contractor shall deliver to Canada
  - (a) a performance bond and a labour and material payment bond each in an amount that is equal to not less than 50% of the Contract Amount;
  - (b) a labour and material payment bond in an amount that is equal to not less than 50% of the Contract Amount, and a security deposit in an amount that is equal to
    - (i) not less than 10% of the Contract Amount if that Amount does not exceed \$1,000,000; or
    - (ii) \$100,000 plus 5% of the part of the Contract Amount that exceeds \$1,000,000; or
  - (c) a security deposit in an amount prescribed by subparagraph 1)(b) herein, plus an additional amount that is equal to 10% of the Contract Amount.
- 2) The amount of a security deposit referred to in subparagraph 1)(b) of GC9.2 shall not exceed \$2,000,000 regardless of the Contract Amount.
- 3) A performance bond and a labour and material payment bond referred to in paragraph 1) of GC9.2 shall be in a form and be issued by a bonding or surety company that is approved by Canada.

- (a) The approved form for the labour and material payment bond may be found at http://www.pwgsc.gc.ca/sos/corporate/sm/text/ch07nx-02-e.html;
- (b) The approved form of the performance bond may be found at http://www.pwgsc.gc.ca/sos/corporate/sm/text/ch07nx-03-e.html; and
- (c) The list of approved bonding or surety companies may be found at http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/pubs pol/dcgpubs/Contracting/contractingpol I e.asp
- 4) A security deposit referred to in subparagraphs 1)(b) and 1)(c) of GC9.2 shall be in the form of
  - (a) a bill of exchange, bank draft or money order made payable to the Receiver General for Canada and certified by an approved financial institution or drawn by an approved financial institution on itself;
  - (b) bonds of, or unconditionally guaranteed as to principal and interest by, the Government of Canada; or
- 5) For the purposes of subparagraph 4)(a) of GC9.2
  - (a) a bill of exchange is an unconditional order in writing signed by the Contractor and addressed to an approved financial institution, requiring the said institution to pay, on demand, at a fixed or determinable future time a sum certain of money to, or to the order of, the Receiver General for Canada;
  - (b) if a bill of exchange, bank draft or money order is certified by or drawn on an institution or corporation other than a chartered bank, it must be accompanied by proof that the said institution or corporation meets at least one of the criteria described in subparagraph 5) (c) of GC9.2, either by letter or by a stamped certification on the bill of exchange, bank draft or money; and
  - (c) An approved financial institution is
    - (i) a corporation or institution that is a member of the Canadian Payments Association as defined in the Canadian Payments Act;
    - (ii) a corporation that accepts deposits that are insured, to the maximum permitted by law, by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Régie de l'assurance-dépôts du Québec;
    - (iii) a corporation that accepts deposits from the public if repayment of the deposit is guaranteed by Her Majesty the Queen in right of a province;
    - (iv) a corporation, association or federation incorporated or organized as a credit union or co-operative credit society that conforms to the requirements of a credit union which are more particularly described in paragraph 137(6) of the Income Tax Act; or
    - (v) Canada Post Corporation.
- 6) Bonds referred to in subparagraph 4) (b) of GC9.2 shall be provided on the basis of their market value current at the date of the Contract, and shall be
  - (a) made payable to bearer;
  - (b) accompanied by a duly executed instrument of transfer of the bonds to the Receiver General for Canada in the form prescribed by the Domestic Bonds of Canada Regulations; or
  - (c) registered as to principal, or as to principal and interest, in the name of the Receiver General for Canada pursuant to the Domestic Bonds of Canada Regulations.

#### GC9.3 IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT

- As an alternative to a security deposit, an irrevocable standby letter of credit is acceptable to Canada, the amount of which shall be determined in the same manner as a security deposit referred to in GC9.2 TYPES AND AMOUNTS OF CONTRACT SECURITY.
- 2) An irrevocable standby letter of credit shall
  - (a) be an arrangement, however named or described, whereby a financial institution (the "Issuer") acting at the request and on the instructions of a customer (the "Applicant") or on its own behalf,
    - (i) is to make a payment to, or to the order of, Canada as the beneficiary;
    - (ii) is to accept and pay bills of exchange drawn by Canada;
    - (iii) authorizes another financial institution to effect such payment or accept and pay such bills of exchange; or
    - (iv) authorizes another financial institution to negotiate against written demand(s) for payment provided that the terms and conditions of the letter of credit are complied with;
  - (b) state the face amount that may be drawn against it;
  - (c) state its expiry date;
  - (d) provide for sight payment to the Receiver General for Canada by way of the financial institution's draft against presentation of a written demand for payment signed by Canada identified in the letter of credit by Canada;
  - (e) provide that more than one written demand for payment may be presented subject to the sum of those demands not exceeding the face value of the letter of credit;
  - (f) provide that it is subject to the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits. 1993 Revision, ICC Publication No. 500:
  - (g) clearly specify that it is irrevocable or deemed to be irrevocable pursuant to article 6 c) of the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, 1993 Revision, ICC Publication No. 500; and
  - (h) be issued or confirmed, in either official language in a format left to the discretion of the issuer or confirmer, by an approved financial institution on its letterhead.

#### **GC10 INSURANCE**

#### **GC10.1 INSURANCE**

- The Contractor, at the Contractor's expense, shall obtain and maintain, or shall cause to be obtained and maintained, insurance contracts in respect of the Work, and in accordance with the requirements of GC10 INSURANCE.
- Within thirty (30) days after acceptance of the Contractor's tender, unless otherwise directed in writing by the Departmental Representative, the Contractor shall deposit with the Departmental Representative an Insurer's Certificate(s) of Insurance substantially in the form displayed in this document and, if requested by the Departmental Representative, the originals or certified true copies of all contracts of insurance maintained by, or on behalf of, the Contractor as might be applicable pursuant to the insurance coverage requirements contained in the Contract.

#### **GC10.2 RISK MANAGEMENT**

The provisions of the insurance coverage requirements contained in the Contract are not intended to cover all of the Contractor's obligations under GC1.6 INDEMNIFICATION BY CONTRACTOR. Any additional risk management measures or additional insurance coverage the Contractor may deem necessary to fulfill the Contractor's obligations under GC1.6 shall be at the Contractor's discretion and expense.

#### **GC10.3 PAYMENT OF DEDUCTIBLE**

 The payment of monies up to the deductible amount made in satisfaction of a claim shall be at the cost of the Contractor.

#### **GC10.4 PERIOD OF INSURANCE**

 Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Departmental Representative, the insurance policies shall be in force and be maintained from the date of award of the Contract until the date of issue of the Final Certificate of Completion.

#### **GC10.5 COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY**

### GC10.5.1 Scope of Insurance Policy

1) Contractors must provide "Commercial General Liability Insurance" and maintain this insurance in force during tender and during the life of the Contract, for a limit of liability NOT LESS THAN \$2,000,000.00 per accident or occurrence. The policy shall be written on a form similar to that known and referred to in the insurance industry as IBC 2100 - Commercial General Liability policy (Occurrence form). Legal or defense costs incurred in respect of a claim or claims shall not operate to decrease the limit of liability.

## **GC10.5.2** Insurance Policy Endorsements

For Contract Award purposes, the policy must include the following endorsements:

- (a) Additional Insured: Canada is included as an additional insured, but only with respect to liabilities that may arise from the Contractor's own negligence, in the performance of the Contract.
- (b) Notice of Cancellation: The Insurer agrees to provide the Contracting Authority thirty (30) days written notice of policy cancellation.
- (c)) Liability arising out of, or resulting from, ownership, existence, maintenance or use of premises by the Contractor and operations necessary for, or incidental to, the performance of the Contract.
- (d) "Broad Form" Property Damage including the loss of use of property.
- (e) Removal or weakening of support of any building or land whether such support be natural or otherwise;
- (f) Elevator liability including escalators, hoists and similar devices;
- (g) Contractor's Protective Liability:
- (h) Contractual and Assumed Liabilities under the Contract;
- (i) Completed Operations Liability The insurance, including all aspects of these Insurance Conditions shall continue for a period of at least one (1) year beyond the date of the Final Certificate of Completion for the Completed Operations;
- (j) Cross Liability: Without increasing the limit of liability, the policy shall protect all insured parties to the full extent of coverage provided. The policy shall apply to each Insured in the same manner and to the same extent as if a separate policy had been issued to each.
- (k) Joint and Several Liability: The policy shall respond to liability arising from negligence of the insured Contractor, any Insured, or joint negligence of Insured parties.
- (I) Contractual Liability: The policy shall, on a blanket basis or by specific reference to this Contract, extend to assumed liabilities with respect to contractual insurance provisions.
- (m) Contingent Employer's Liability: To protect the Contractor for liabilities arising in the management and administration of statutory and contractual entitlements of its employees.
- (n) Employees and Volunteers as Additional Insured: All employees and volunteers, on behalf of the Contractor, shall be included as additional insured.
- (o) Voluntary Medical Payments, \$5,000.00 per person, \$25,000.00 per accident: To provide, without contestation, for expenses incurred in instances of minor accidental bodily injuries.

- (p) Severability of Interests: without increasing the limit of liability, this policy shall apply separately to each Insured in the same manner and to the same extent as if a separate policy had been issued to each.
- (r) Loss or Damage to Crown Property This policy, subject to the limits of liability stated herein, shall apply to any loss or damage to Crown Property under the care, custody or control of the Design-Builder.

### GC10.5.3 Additional Exposures

- 1) The policy shall either include, or be endorsed to include, the following exposures or hazards if the Work is subject thereto:
  - (a) Blasting;
  - (b) Pile driving and caisson work;
  - (c) Underpinning;
  - (d) Risks associated with the activities of the Contractor on an active airport;
  - (e) Radioactive contamination resulting from the use of commercial isotopes;
  - (f) Damage to the portion of an existing building beyond that directly associated with an addition, renovation or installation contract; and
  - (g) Marine risks associated with the construction of piers, wharves and docks.

#### GC10.5.4 Deductible

1) The policy shall be issued with a deductible amount of not more than \$10,000 per occurrence applying to Property Damage claims only.

#### GC10.6 BUILDER'S RISK - INSTALLATION FLOATER - ALL RISKS

### GC10.6.1 Scope of Policy

1) The policy shall be written on an "All Risks" basis granting coverage similar to those provided by the forms known and referred to in the insurance industry as "Builder's Risk Comprehensive Form" or "Installation Floater - All Risks".

### GC10.6.2 Insured

1) Each insurance policy shall insure the Contractor, and shall include, as an Additional Insured, Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Environment Canada.

## GC10.6.3 Property Insured

- 1) The property insured shall include
  - (a) the Work and all property, equipment and materials intended to become part of the finished Work at the site of the Work while awaiting, during and after installation, erection or construction including testing; and
  - (b) expenses incurred in the removal from the construction site of debris of the property insured, including demolition of damaged property, de-icing and dewatering, occasioned by loss, destruction or damage to such property and in respect of which insurance is provided by this policy.

# GC10.6.4 Proceeds

- The policy shall provide that proceeds from the policy shall be payable in accordance with GC10.7 INSURANCE PROCEEDS.
- The Contractor shall do such things and execute such documents as are necessary to effect payment of the proceeds.

#### GC10.6.5 Amount of Insurance

1) The amount of insurance shall not be less than the sum of the Contract value plus the declared value (if any) set forth in the Contract Documents of all Material and equipment supplied by Canada at the site of the Project to be incorporated into and form part of the finished Work.

#### GC10.6.6 Deductible

1) The policy shall be issued with a deductible amount of not more than \$10,000.

# GC10.6.7 Subrogation

1) The following provision shall be included in the policy:

"All rights of subrogation or transfer of rights are hereby waived against any corporation, firm, individual or other interest, with respect to which insurance is provided by this policy".

#### GC10.6.8 Exclusion Qualifications

- 1) The policy may be subject to the standard exclusions but the following qualifications shall apply to the following:
  - (a) faulty materials, workmanship or design may be excluded only to the extent of the cost of making good thereof and shall not apply to loss or damage resulting therefrom;
  - (b) loss or damage caused by contamination by radioactive material may be excluded except for loss or damage resulting from commercial isotopes used for industrial measurement, inspection, quality control radiographic or photographic use; and
  - (c) use and occupancy of the Project or any part or section thereof shall be permitted if such use and occupancy is for the purposes for which the Project is intended upon completion.

#### GC10.7 INSURANCE PROCEEDS

- In the case of a claim payable under a Builders Risk/Installation Floater (All Risks) insurance contract maintained by the Contractor pursuant to GC10.6 BUILDER'S RISK - INSTALLATION FLOATER - ALL RISKS, the proceeds of the claim shall be paid directly to Canada, and
  - (a) the monies so paid shall be held by Canada for the purposes of the Contract; or
  - (b) if Canada elects, shall be retained by Canada, in which event they vest in Canada absolutely.
- 2) In the case of a claim payable under a General Liability insurance contract maintained by the Contractor pursuant to GC10.5 COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY, the proceeds of the claim shall be paid by the insurer directly to the claimant.
- 3) If an election is made pursuant to subparagraph 1)(b), Canada may cause an audit to be made of the accounts of the Contractor and of Canada in respect of the part of the Work that was lost, damaged or destroyed for the purpose of establishing the difference, if any, between
  - (a) the aggregate of the amount of the loss or damage suffered or sustained by Canada, and any other amount that is payable by the Contractor to Canada under the Contract, minus any monies retained pursuant to subparagraph 1)(b) herein; and
  - (b) the aggregate of the amounts payable by Canada to the Contractor pursuant to the Contract up to the date of the loss or damage.
- 4) A difference that is established pursuant to paragraph 3) shall be paid forthwith by the party who is determined by the audit to be the debtor to the party who is determined by the audit to be the creditor.
- 5) When payment of a deficiency has been made pursuant to paragraph 4), all rights and obligations of Canada and the Contractor under the Contract shall, with respect only to the part of the Work that was the subject of the audit referred to in paragraph 3), be deemed to have been expended and discharged.

- 6) Subject to paragraph 7), if an election is not made pursuant to subparagraph 1)(b), the Contractor, at the Contractor's expense, shall clear and clean the Work and its site and restore and replace the part of the Work that was lost, damaged or destroyed as if that part of the Work had not yet been performed.
- 7) When the Contractor clears and cleans the Work and its site and restores and replaces the Work referred to in paragraph 6), Canada shall pay the Contractor out of the monies referred to in paragraph 1) so far as they will thereunto extend.
- 8) Subject to paragraph 7), payment by Canada pursuant to paragraph 7) shall be made in accordance with the Contract but the amount of each payment shall be 100% of the amount claimed notwithstanding paragraph 3) of GC5.4 PROGRESS PAYMENT.

# 7 SECTION 7 **CONTRACT DOCUMENTS – Appendix "C" General Conditions (GC) INSURER'S CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE** (to be completed by Insurer (not broker) and delivered to Environment Canada within 30 days following acceptance of tender) CONTRACT Description of Work Contract No. **Award Date** Location **INSURER BROKER** Name Name Address Address **INSURED ADDITIONAL INSURED** Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada as represented by the Minister of Environment Canada Name of Contractor\_\_\_\_\_ Address Address This document certifies that the following policies of insurance are at present in force covering all operations of the Insured, in connection with the contract made between the named insured and Environment Canada: **POLICY** Type Number Inception Limit Deductible Expiry Date Date Liability Commercial General Liability Builder's Risk "All Risks" Installation Floater "All Risks" Other (list) Each of these policies includes coverages/provisions as specified in the Insurance Coverage Requirements in this document which form part of this contract and each policy has been endorsed to cover Her Majesty as an Additional Insured. The Insurer agrees to notify Her Majesty and the Named Insured in writing thirty (30) days prior to any material change in, or cancellation of any policy or coverage. Name of Insurer's Officer or Authorized Employee Telephone Number Signature Date ISSUANCE OF THIS CERTIFICATE SHALL NOT LIMIT OR RESTRICT THE RIGHT OF ENVIRONMENT CANADA TO REQUEST AT ANY TIME DUPLICATE CERTIFIED COPIES OF SAID INSURANCE POLICIES.

# GC11 LABOUR CONDITIONS - R0203D (2004-05-14)

#### **GC11.1 Interpretation**

In these conditions

- a. "Act" means the Fair Wages and Hours of Labour Act;
- b. "Regulations" means the Fair Wages and Hours of Labour Regulations made pursuant to the Act;
- c. "contract" means the contract of which these Labour Conditions are part;
- d. "contracting authority" means the department of Government or a crown corporation with whom the contract is made:
- e. "contractor" means the person who has entered into the contract with the contracting authority;
- f. "regional director" means the director of a regional office of the Department of Human Resources Development or the director's designated representative;
- g. "inspector" has the meaning assigned to the term by Part III of the Canada Labour Code.
- h. "Minister" means the Minister of Labour of Canada;
- i. "persons" means those workers employed by the contractor, subcontractor or any other person doing or contracting to do the whole or any part of the work contemplated by the contract;

# **GC11.2 General Fair Wage Clause**

- 1) All persons in the employ of the contractor, subcontractor, or any other person doing or contracting to do the whole or any part of the work contemplated by the contract, shall during the continuance of the work:
  - be paid fair wages that is, such wages as are generally accepted as current for competent workers in the district in which the work is being performed for the character or class of work in which such workers are respectively engaged; and
  - ii. in all cases, be paid no less than the minimum hourly rate of pay established by the Labour Program of the Department of Human Resources Development in the Fair Wage Schedules which form a part of this contract as Appendix A to these Labour Conditions; and
  - iii. for contracts covering work performed in the province of Quebec, be paid at least the wage rates established by that province for the purposes of the Quebec "Construction Decree".
- Where there is no wage rate in the schedules referred to in (a) for a particular character or class of work, the contractor shall pay wages for that character or class of work at a rate not less than the rate for an equivalent character or class of work.
- Where during the term of the contract, the contractor receives notice from the contracting authority of any change in wage rates, the contractor shall pay not less than the changed wage rate beginning on the first day after receipt, by the contractor, of the notice of the change in wage rates.

#### GC11.3 Hours of Work

The hours of work in a day and in a week of persons employed in the execution of the contract, including the hours of work in excess of which a person shall be paid overtime at a rate at least equal to one and one half times the fair wage, are the hours of work for the province in which the work is being performed as set out from time to time in an Act of that province.

2) The daily or weekly hours of work referred to in paragraph (a) may be exceeded in accordance with the applicable provincial law.

#### GC11.4 Labour Conditions to be Posted

1) For the information and the protection of all persons, the contractor agrees to post and keep posted, in a conspicuous place on the premises where work contemplated by the contract is being carried out or on premises occupied or used by persons engaged in carrying out such work, a copy of these Labour Conditions, and a copy of the applicable Fair Wage Schedules along with any subsequent changes.

### GC11.5 Contractor Records Kept Open for Inspection

- 1) The contractor agrees to keep books and records showing the names, addresses, classifications of employment and work of all workers employed under the contract, the rate of wages to be paid, the wages paid and the daily hours worked by the workers.
- 2) The contractor also agrees that the contractor's books, records and premises will be open at all reasonable times for inspection by an inspector.
- 3) The contractor also agrees to furnish the inspector and the contracting authority, on request, with such further information as is required to ascertain that the requirements of the Act, the Regulations and the contract with respect to wages, hours of work and other labour conditions have been complied with.

#### GC11.6 Departmental Requirements before Payment made to Contractor

- 1) The contractor agrees that the contractor will not be entitled to payment of any money otherwise payable under the contract until the contractor has filed with the contracting authority in support of a claim for payment a sworn statement:
  - that the contractor has kept the books and records required by these Regulations,
  - ii. that there are no wages in arrears in respect of work performed under the contract, and
  - iii. that to the contractor's knowledge, all the conditions in the contract required by the Act and the Regulations have been complied with.
- 2) The contractor also agrees that, where fair wages have not been paid by the contractor to persons employed under the contract, the contracting authority shall withhold from any money otherwise payable under the contract to the contractor the amount necessary to ensure that fair wages are paid to all employees until fair wages are paid.

## GC11.7 Authority to pay Wages in the Event of Default by the Contractor

- 1) The contractor agrees that where the contractor is in default of payment of fair wages to an employee, the contractor will pay the Minister the amount the contractor is in default.
- 2) The contractor agrees that where the contractor fails to comply with paragraph (1) GC 11.7, the contracting authority will pay to the Receiver General, out of any money otherwise payable to the contractor, the amount for which the contractor is in default.

# **GC11.8 Conditions of Subcontracting**

1) The contractor and the subcontractor agree that in subcontracting any part of the work contemplated by the contract, they will place in the subcontract the conditions respecting fair wages, hours of work and other labour conditions set out in the contract and the requirements set out in Section 4. The contractor further agrees that the contractor will be responsible for carrying out these conditions in the event the subcontractor fails to carry them out.

# GC11.9 Non-discrimination in Hiring and Employment of Labour

- 1) The contractor agrees that in the hiring and employment of workers to perform any work under the contract, the contractor will not refuse to employ and will not discriminate in any manner against any person because
  - a. of that person's race, national or ethnic origin, colour, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, disability, conviction for which a pardon has been granted, or family status;
  - b. of the race, national or ethnic origin, colour, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, disability, conviction for which a pardon has been granted, or family status of any person having a relationship or association with that person, or
  - c. a complaint has been made or information has been given in respect of that person relating to an alleged failure by the contractor to comply with subparagraph (a) or (b).

### GC11.10 Schedule of Fair Wages

- Fair Wage Schedules for Federal Construction Contracts form part of the Contract by Reference and may be accessed from the web site located at: http://info.load-otea.hrdc-drhc.GC.ca/fair\_wages/schedules.shtml.
- 2) Tenderers should note that, in the event of a resultant contract, a copy of the Fair Wage Schedule applicable to the project location and the Fair Wages and Hours of Labour Labour Conditions must be posted at the work site in a convenient, easily accessible location.

### **8 SECTION 8 SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS**

## Appendix "D" Supplementary conditions

## SC1 EMPLOYMENT EQUITY

The Federal Contractors Program for Employment Equity requires that some organizations bidding for federal government contracts make a formal commitment to implement employment equity, as a precondition to the validation of their bids. All contractors must check the applicable box(e)s below.

	Program requirements do not apply for the following reason(s):     () this organization has less than 100 permanent part-time and/or full-time employees;     () this organization is a federally regulated employer;  or, program requirements do apply:     () copy of signed Certificate or Commitment is enclosed; or     () Certificate number is  NOTE: The Certificate of Commitment, criteria and other information about the Federal Contractors Program for Employment Equity, are available in the Standard Acquisition Clauses and Conditions (SACC) Manual, Section 2, and on the MERX Bidding System.		
	Signature	 Date	
SC2	WORK FORCE REDUCTION PROGRAM		
1	Contractors must indicate if the Work Force Reduction Program is applicable to them:		
	NO YES (	if yes, provide details as listed below)	
	As a result of the recent implementation of various programs to reduce the public service, Contractors must provide information regarding their status as former public servants in receipt of either a lump sum payment or a pension, or both, pursuant to the terms of the Early Departure Incentive (EDI) Program the Early Retirement Incentive (ERI) Program, the Forces Reduction Program, the Executive Employment Transition Program and any other current and future similar programs implemented by Treasury Board. Therefore, Contractors must make available the following details:		
	<ul><li>a) date and amount of lump sum payment incentive;</li><li>b) terms and conditions of the lump sum payment incentive (including termination date);</li><li>c) rate of pay on which the lump sum payment was based;</li><li>d) whether or not the \$5,000 exemption has been reached.</li></ul>		
	In the event that a contract is awarded to a former public servant during the period covered by the lump sum payment, the contract fee must be abated (reduced) by an amount corresponding to the number of		

more contracts during the period covered by the lump sum payment.

For the purposes of this contract, former public servants is defined as:

- a) an individual;
- b) an individual who has incorporated;
- c) a partnership made up of former public servants; or
- d) a sole proprietorship or entity where the affected individual has a major interest in the entity.

weeks remaining in the Contractor's lump sum payment period after the beginning of the contract.

This reduction is subject to an exemption of a maximum of \$5,000 (including GST) applicable to one or

#### SC3 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY - CONTRACTOR OWNS IP

#### 1 Definitions and Interpretation

"Subcontract" includes a Contract issued by any subcontractor at any tier for the performance or supply of a part of the Work;

"Background Information" means all Technical Information that is not Foreground Information and that is proprietary to or the confidential information of the Contractor, its Subcontractors or any other supplier of the Contractor;

"Commercial Exploitation in Competition with the Contractor" does not include exploitation by Canada or by any contractor where the good or service produced through such exploitation is for end use by Canada, nor does it include dissemination or distribution by Canada to persons or to other governments at or below cost of any good or service delivered under the Contract or produced through such exploitation;

"Firmware" means any computer program stored in integrated circuits, read-only memory or other similar devices;

"Foreground Information" means any Invention first conceived, developed or reduced to practice as part of the Work under the Contract and all other Technical Information conceived, developed or produced as part of the Work under the Contract:

"Intellectual Property Right" means any intellectual property right recognized by the law, including any intellectual property right protected through legislation (such as that governing patents, copyright, industrial design, integrated circuit topography, or plant breeders' rights) or arising from protection of information as a trade secret or as confidential information;

"Invention" means any new and useful art, process, machine, manufacture or composition of matter, or any new and useful improvement in any art, process, machine, manufacture or composition of matter, whether or not patentable;

"Software" means any computer program whether in source or object code (including Firmware), any computer program documentation recorded in any form or upon any medium, and any computer database, and includes modifications to any of the foregoing;

"Technical Information" means all information of a scientific, technical, or artistic nature relating to the Work, whether oral or recorded in any form or medium and whether or not subject to copyright, including but not limited to any Inventions, designs, methods, processes, techniques, know-how, models, prototypes, patterns, samples, schematics, experimental or test data, reports, drawings, plans, specifications, photographs, collections of information, manuals and any other documents, and Software as well as data-processing printed papers form, notes of design, calculations, files of CADD (computer-assisted programs for design and drawing) and other data, information and documents prepared, calculated, drawn or produced within the framework of the project. Technical Information does not include data concerned with the administration of the Contract by Canada or the Contractor, such as internal financial or management information, unless it is a deliverable under the Contract.

#### 2 Disclosure of Foreground Information

- 2.1. The Contractor shall promptly report and fully disclose to the Minister all Foreground Information that could be Inventions, and shall report and fully disclose to the Minister all other Foreground Information not later than the time of completion of the Work or such earlier time as the Minister or the Contract may require.
- 2.2. The Contractor shall, in each disclosure under this section, indicate the names of all Subcontractors at any tier, if any, in which Intellectual Property Rights to any Foreground Information have vested or will vest.
- 2.3. Before and after final payment to the Contractor, the Minister shall have the right to examine all records and

supporting data of the Contractor which the Minister reasonably deems pertinent to the identification of Foreground Information.

### 3 Contractor to Own Intellectual Property Rights in Foreground Information

- 3.1. Subject to subsection 3 and section 7 (Transfer of Intellectual Property Rights in Foreground Information), and without affecting any Intellectual Property Rights or interests therein that have come into being prior to the Contract or that relate to information or data supplied by Canada for purposes of the Contract, all Intellectual Property Rights in the Foreground Information shall immediately, as soon as they come into existence, vest in and remain the property of the Contractor.
- 3.2. Notwithstanding the Contractor's ownership of the Intellectual Property Rights in Foreground Information that is a prototype, model or custom or customized system or equipment together with associated manuals and other operating and maintenance documents and tools, Canada shall have unrestricted ownership rights in those deliverables, including the right to make them available for public use, whether for a fee or otherwise, and, except in the case of Software that is not necessary for the operation of the prototype, model or system or equipment, the right to sell them.

# 4 License to Intellectual Property Rights in Foreground Information

- 4.1. In consideration of Canada's contribution to the cost of development of the Foreground Information, the Contractor hereby grants to Canada a non-exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, world-wide, fully-paid and royalty-free license to exercise all Intellectual Property Rights in the Foreground Information that vest in the Contractor for any public purpose except Commercial Exploitation in Competition with the Contractor. The Intellectual Property Rights arising from any modification, improvement, development or translation of the Foreground Information that is effected by or for Canada in the exercise of this license shall vest in Canada, or in such person as Canada shall decide.
- 4.2. The Contractor acknowledges that Canada may wish to award contracts for any of the purposes contemplated in subsection 4.1 and that such contract awards may follow a competitive process. The Contractor agrees that Canada's license in relation to the Intellectual Property Rights in the Foreground Information that vest in the Contractor pursuant to section 3 (Contractor to own Intellectual Property), includes the right to disclose the Foreground Information to bidders for such contracts, and to sub-license or otherwise authorize the use of that information by any contractor engaged by Canada solely for the purpose of carrying out such a contract. Canada shall require the bidder or the contractor not to use or disclose any Foreground Information except as may be necessary to bid for or to carry out that contract.
- 4.3. Where the Intellectual Property Rights in any Foreground Information are or will be owned by a Subcontractor at any tier, the Contractor shall either obtain a license from that Subcontractor or arrange for the Subcontractor to convey directly to Canada the same rights by execution of the form provided for that purpose by the Minister, in which case the Contractor shall deliver that form to the Minister, duly completed and executed by the Subcontractor, no later than the time of disclosure to Canada of that Foreground Information.

## 5 License to Intellectual Property Rights in Background Information

- 5.1. Without restricting the scope of any licence to exercise the Intellectual Property Rights in the Background Information that Canada may otherwise hold, the Contractor hereby grants to Canada a non-exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, world-wide, fully-paid and royalty-free license to exercise such of the Intellectual Property Rights in any Background Information incorporated into the Work or necessary for the performance of the Work as may be required for the following purposes:
- (a) for the use, operation, maintenance, repair or overhaul of the Work;
- (b) in the manufacturing of spare parts for maintenance, repair or overhaul of any custom part of the Work by Canada if those parts are not reasonably available to enable timely maintenance, repair or overhaul;
- (c) for disclosure to any contractor engaged by Canada (or bidder for such a contract) to be used solely for a purpose set out in paragraph (a) or (b), but only if the Contractor is unable or unwilling to carry out the maintenance, repair or overhaul or provide the spare parts on reasonable commercial terms and within

reasonable delivery times;

and the Contractor agrees to make any such Background Information (including, in the case of Software, source code) promptly available to Canada for any such purpose.

5.2. The Contractor hereby further grants to Canada a non-exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, world-wide, fully-paid and royalty-free license to exercise Intellectual Property Rights in the Background Information incorporated into the Work or necessary in order for Canada to modify, improve or further develop the Foreground Information. Canada's rights under this subsection 2 shall not include the right to reproduce the whole or part of any deliverable under the Contract that does not incorporate Foreground Information. The Contractor agrees to make any such Background Information (including, in the case of Software, source code) promptly available to Canada for any such purpose.

## 6 Right to License

The Contractor represents and warrants that the Contractor has, or the Contractor undertakes to obtain, the right to grant to Canada the license to exercise the Intellectual Property Rights in the Foreground Information and the Background Information as required by the Contract.

### 7 Transfer of Intellectual Property Rights in Foreground Information

- 7.1. Until the Contractor completes the Work and discloses all of the Foreground Information in accordance with section 2 (Disclosure of Foreground Information), the Contractor shall not, without the prior written permission of the Minister, sell, assign or otherwise transfer title to the Intellectual Property Rights in any Foreground Information, or license or otherwise authorize the use of the Intellectual Property Rights in any of the Foreground Information by any person.
- 7.2. If Canada terminates the Contract in whole or in part for default, or if the Contractor fails to disclose any Foreground Information in accordance with section 2, the Minister may, by notice given not later than 90 days from the date of termination or from the date Canada learns of the failure to disclose, require the Contractor to convey to Canada all of the Intellectual Property Rights in the Foreground Information that have vested or are to vest in a Subcontractor at any tier. In the case of Intellectual Property Rights in Foreground Information which have been sold or assigned to a party other than a Subcontractor at any tier, the Contractor shall not be obligated to convey rights to Canada in accordance with this subsection, but shall pay to Canada on demand an amount equal to the consideration which the Contractor received from the sale or assignment of the Intellectual Property Rights in that Foreground Information.
- 7.3. In the event of the issuance by the Minister of a notice under subsection 2, the Contractor shall, at its own expense and without delay, execute such conveyances or other documents relating to title to the Intellectual Property Rights as the minister for whose department or agency the Work is being carried out may require, and the Contractor shall, at Canada's expense, afford that minister all reasonable assistance in the preparation of applications and in the prosecution of any applications for, or any registration of, any Intellectual Property Right in any jurisdiction, including without limitation the assistance of the inventor in the case of Inventions.

#### 8 Sale, Assignment, Transfer or Licensing of Intellectual Property Rights in the Foreground Information

- 8.1. In any sale, assignment, transfer or license of Intellectual Property Rights in Foreground Information by the Contractor except a sale or license for end use of a product based on Foreground Information, the Contractor shall impose on the other party all of its obligations to Canada in relation to the Intellectual Property Rights in the Foreground Information and any restrictions set out in the Contract on the use or disposition of the Intellectual Property Rights in the Foreground Information (and, if applicable, the Foreground Information), including the obligation to impose the same obligations and restrictions on any subsequent transferee, assignee or licensee.
- 8.2. The Contractor shall promptly notify Canada of the name, address and other pertinent information in regard to any transferee, assignee or licensee referred to in subsection 8.1, and shall ensure that such party is required to do the same with regard to any subsequent transferee, assignee or licensee.

8.3. The Contractor shall not charge or permit any person to charge a royalty or other fee to Canada in respect of the Intellectual Property Rights in any Foreground Information for purposes of a contract or other arrangement with Canada.

### 9 Access to Information; Exception to Contractor Rights

9.1. Subject to the *Access to Information Act*, R.S.C., c. A-1 and to any right of Canada under the Contract, Canada shall not release or disclose outside the Government of Canada any information delivered to Canada under the Contract that is confidential information or a trade secret of the Contractor or a Subcontractor.

### 10 Waiver of Moral Rights

- 10.1. The Contractor shall obtain a written permanent waiver of moral rights (as this term is defined in the *Copyright Act*, R.S.C., c. C-42), in a form acceptable to the Minister, from every author that contributes to any Foreground Information which is subject to copyright protection and which is deliverable to Canada under the terms of the Contract. At the request of the Minister (be it at the completion of the Work or at any other time as the Minister may require), the Contractor shall provide the written waiver(s) of moral rights to the Minister.
- 10.2. If the Contractor is an author of the Foreground Information referred to in subsection 1, the Contractor hereby permanently waives the Contractor's moral rights in that Foreground Information.

### SC4 INTERNATIONAL SANCTIONS

- 1.1 Canada imposes restrictions on trade, financial transactions or other dealings with a foreign country or its nationals. As a result, the Government of Canada cannot accept delivery of goods or services that originate, either directly or indirectly, from the countries subject to economic sanctions. Details on existing sanctions can be found at: http://www.dfait-maeci.gc.ca/trade/sanctions-e.asp

  These sanctions may be implemented by regulation under he United Nations Act (UNA), R.S.C.1985 c. U-2, The Special Economic Measures Act (SEMA), R.S.C. 1992, c. 17, or the Export or Import Permits Act (EIPA), R.S.C. 1985, c. E-19.
- 1.2. The Contractor agrees to comply with any such regulations in effect during the life of the contract, and will inform its subcontractors of the existence of the regulations in force at the time of contract award. In the event that such regulation preventing the Contractor from performing all or part of its obligations, the Contractor shall treat the situation as a force majeure, and forthwith inform Canada of the situation and follow the procedure applicable to force majeure.

The Contractor agrees that Canada relies on the Contractor's undertaking in subsection 1.1, to enter into the Contract, and that any breach of the undertaking shall entitle Canada to terminate the contract under the provisions of the contract relating to default by the Contractor, and therefore to recover damages from the Contractor, including re-procurement costs arising out of such a termination.

# 9 SECTION 9 LIST OF TENDER SPECIFICATIONS, PLANS AND DRAWINGS

# 9 SECTION 9 LIST OF SPECIFICATIONS AND DRAWINGS

Drawing No.	Title	Date of Issue
A1	PARTIAL PLANS	June 10,2013
A2	PARTIAL PLANS	June 10,2013
S1	STRUCTURAL DESIGN	June 07,2013
S2	STRUCTURAL SECTIONS	June 07,2013
M1	MECHANICAL DEMOLITION, NEW	June 10,2013
M2	MECHANICAL NEW	June 10,2013
M3	MECHANICAL NEW	June 10,2013
M4	MECHANICAL SCHEDULES	June 10,2013
M5	MECHANICAL SPECIFCATIONS	June 10,2013
E1	ELECTRICAL NEW	June 10,2013
E2	ELECTRICAL SPECIFCATIONS	June 10,2013
	ADDENDUM # 1	July 25, 2013
	ADDENDUM # 4	August 12, 2013